

Transference of *RXam2* and *Bs2* genes to confer resistance against cassava bacterial blight (CBB)

Paula Alejandra Díaz Tatis

Universidad Nacional de Colombia Facultad de Ciencias Departamento de Biología Bogotá, D.C. Colombia 2016

Transference of *RXam2* and *Bs2* genes to confer resistance against cassava bacterial blight (CBB)

Paula Alejandra Díaz Tatis

Tesis presentada como requisito parcial para optar al título de: Doctor en Ciencias- Biología

> Director: Ph.D. Camilo Ernesto López Carrascal Codirectora: Ph.D. Adriana Jimena Bernal Giraldo

> > Grupo de Investigación: Manihot Biotec

Universidad Nacional de Colombia Facultad de Ciencias Departamento de Biología Bogotá, D.C. Colombia 2016

A ti querido lector

When the Nazis came for the communists, I remained silent; I was not a communist.

When they locked up the social democrats, I remained silent; I was not a social democrat.

When they came for the trade unionists, I did not speak out; I was not a trade unionist.

> When they came for the Jews, I remained silent; I wasn't a Jew.

When they came for me, there was no one left to speak out.

Martin Niemöller

Acknowledgements

A mis **padres y hermanos** por ser el pilar que fundamenta mi vida y por enseñarme los valores que me llevaron a seguir este camino.

Adrián, gracias por tu compañía, sacrificio, comprensión y apoyo durante esta etapa tan compleja de nuestras vidas.

Camilo, eres una persona con muchos valores por destacar así que tengo mucho por agradecer. Te agradezco principalmente por tu amistad, comprensión y paciencia conmigo, por siempre preocuparte por nuestro bienestar personal, por permitirme hacer la maestría y el doctorado en tu grupo y sobretodo por darme libertad y autonomía para crecer.

Paul Chavarriaga, muchas gracias por tu inmensa colaboración y disponibilidad durante el desarrollo de este trabajo, por brindarme un espacio en la plataforma y también por acogerme en Cali, tengo muy buenos recuerdos de esa ciudad.

A todos los miembros actuales y antiguos del grupo de investigación **Manihot Biotec**, gracias por su amistad, por su apoyo y buena disposición. A la primera generación que me enseñó de biología molecular, Andrea, Elízabeth, Juan Camilo, Juliana y Simón. A los que me ayudaron a recuperar mi amor por el cine, la música, el baile y los libros, Alejandra, Álvaro, Andrés, Fabio, Mariana, Laura, Lina, Verónica y Vivian. A los que estuvieron un tiempo corto en el lab, Mariel, Pablo, Sydne y Yuliana. Y por supuesto a la última generación, Edilene, Johana, Paola y Rubén.

A **Adriana Bernal**, miembros y ex-miembros del **LAMFU** por el apoyo y asesoría para el desarrollo de estos proyectos.

A todos los miembros de la **Plataforma de Transformación del CIAT** por su colaboración en el desarrollo de varios experimentos, especialmente a Adriana y Mónica. Alejo muchas gracias por tu amistad, has sido un gran apoyo para mi durante este último año, sobretodo gracias por escucharme.

A Luz Angela por su apoyo con los trámites académicos en el posgrado.

A Camilo Dorado por su colaboración con el desarrollo de los scripts para los análisis estadísticos.

A la Vicerrectoría Académica de la Universidad Nacional de Colombia por otorgarme la Beca de Estudiante Sobresaliente de Posgrado.

A Colciencias, BREAD-National Science Foundation y Banco de la República por la financiación para la ejecución de estos proyectos.

Abstract

Cassava bacterial blight (CBB), caused by Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis (Xam), is a major disease in all regions where cassava is cultivated. To generate broad spectrum and durable CBB resistance it is necessary pyramiding several R genes. We have identified two candidate resistance genes, named RXam1 and RXam2 which colocalize with QTLs associated to resistance against Xam. RXam1 codes for a RLK (Receptor-Like Kinase) protein. We generated several transgenic cassava lines overexpressing RXam1. In vitro plants of three lines showed reduced symptoms and reduced bacterial growth after Xam infection with strain CI0136 compared to empty vector transgenic plants. The second cassava gene, RXam2, codes for a NB-LRR protein. Using RNAi we generated RXam2-silenced transgenic plants, which were more susceptible to several Xam strains than non-transformed plants. On the other hand, plants overexpressing RXam2 showed reduced symptoms to Xam strains. These data collectively suggest that RXam2 is a resistance gene against Xam. In addition, an autoactive version mutated in the MHD motif (NB domain) of RXam2 was generated through site directed mutagenesis and was able to generate a Hypersensitive Response (HR) by transient agroinfiltration in cassava and tobacco leaves. The autoactive version of RXam2 was cloned under a TALE1_{Xam}-inducible promoter and transient expression in tobacco showed a strong HR when co-infiltrated with a plasmid containing the TALE1_{Xam} gene. Several independent transgenic stable lines are being evaluated to assess TALE1Xam inducibility. Finally, several cassava transgenic plants overexpressing Bs2 from pepper were obtained and showed constitutive, typical immune responses.

Keywords:

cassava,

Xanthomonas,

is, bacterial

resistance

genes

blight,

Table of contents

A	bstract	IX
Т	able of contents	X
L	ist of figures	XIII
L	ist of tables	XV
L	ist of supplementary figures	XVI
L	ist of supplementary tables	XVIII
L	ist of abbreviations	XIX
h	ntroduction	1
1	Review of related literature	4
	Cassava and global food security in the context of climate change	
	Cassava, from Amazonia to the world	5
	Reproductive biology	6
	Adaptations to abiotic stress	
	Constraints for food security	9
	Pests and diseases	
	Cassava bacterial blight	
	CBB etiology: Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis	
	CBB integrated disease management	
	An historical background on plant-microbe interactions: the discovery of elicitors and re	ceptors15
	The gene-for-gene hypothesis and the zigzag model	
	Plant PRR complex associations	
	MTI signaling	
	Bacteria ingenious strategies: type 3 effectors and the suppression of plant immunity	21
	Genomic organization and diversification of NLRs	24
	Molecular architecture of NLRs	24
	Pathogen recognition by NLRs	27

	NLR activation and signaling						
	NLR	ls reg	gulation	31			
Enhancing plant resistance to diseases through the knowledge of molecular plant-m							
	inte	ractio	ons	33			
	Oua	ntita	tive resistance on durable and broad-spectrum resistance				
	Rece	ent n	rogress aiming to understand cassava- <i>Xam</i> interactions	37			
•	Ketent progress anning to understand cassava-xum interactions						
2	Int	terfa	mily transfer of Bs2 from pepper to cassava (Manihot esculenta Crantz)	42			
	2.1	Abs	stract	42			
	2.2	Int	roduction	42			
	2.3	Res	sults	46			
	2.	3.1	Generation of transgenic cassava plants overexpressing Bs2 from pepper	46			
	2.	3.2	Molecular characterization of Bs2 cassava transgenic plants.	47			
	2.	3.3	Evaluation of constitutive defense activation: ROS production and PR expression	48			
	2.	3.4	Xam inoculations	50			
	2.4	Dis	cussion	52			
	2.5	Ма	terials and methods	55			
	2.	5.1	Plasmid constructions	55			
	2.	5.2	Cassava FEC transformation	55			
 2.5.3 Molecular characterization of putative transgenic plants 2.5.4 DAB staining 2.5.5 qPCR analysis 2.5.6 Xam inoculation of <i>in vitro</i> plants 		5.3	Molecular characterization of putative transgenic plants	56			
		5.4	DAB staining	57			
		5.5	qPCR analysis	57			
		5.6	Xam inoculation of <i>in vitro</i> plants	58			
	2.6	Sup	oplementary information	58			
3	Th	e o	verexpression of RXam1, a RLK from cassava, confers less susceptibilit	y to			
Ха	nthe	omoi	nas axonopodis pv. manihotis	67			
	3.1	Abs	stract	67			
	3.2	Int	roduction	67			
	33	Reg	sults	70			
	3	3 1	Isolation of an RLK candidate in cassava for resistance against CBB	70			
	3	3.2	RXam1 expression is induced after Xam inoculation	70			
	3	33	STK domain of RXam1 interacts with a protein with finger domains in Y2H assays	72			
	3.	3.4	Production and validation of susceptible cassava plant overexpressing RXam1	74			
	3.	3.5	Phenotypic evaluation of transgenic plants overexpressing <i>RXam1</i> for resistance against CBB	76			
	3.4	Dis	scussion	77			
	35	Ma	terials and methods	80			
	ט.ט ג	5 1	RXam1 identification and isolation	00 80			
	3	5.2	Expression analysis of <i>RXam1</i>				
		-	1 J				

3.5.3 3.5.4 3.5.5		Yeast two hybrid assays				
		4 Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of a susceptible cassava cultivar				
		Recovery of transgenic plants				
	3.5.6	Molecular evaluation of transgenic lines				
3	.6 Su	pplementary information	86			
4	Functi	onal analysis of RXam2, a NLR from cassava (<i>Manihot esculenta</i> Crantz)) involved in			
resi	stance	to Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis				
4	.1 Ab	stract	95			
4	.2 Int	roduction				
4	.3 Re	sults				
	4.3.1	RXam2 (RGC7) codes for a typical NLR protein with CC motifs				
	4.3.2	RXam2 silenced plants display enhanced susceptibility to several Xam strains				
	4.3.3	RXam2 overexpression confers less susceptibility to Xam				
	4.3.4	Developing trap promoters to induce autoactive RXam2				
4	.4 Di	scussion	110			
	4.4.1	RXam2 silencing using RNAi lead to enhanced susceptibility to CBB				
	4.4.2	Does RXam2 overexpression leads to enhanced resistance?	112			
	4.4.3	Using TALs to engineer resistance using autoactive NLRs	114			
4	.5 Ma	aterials and methods	115			
	4.5.1	Plasmids construction and cassava transformation	115			
	4.5.2	Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated transient expression assays	118			
	4.5.3	Molecular evaluation of transgenic lines	118			
	4.5.4	Plant inoculations assays	119			
	4.5.5	DAB staining	120			
4	.6 Su	pplementary information	120			
5	Genera	al conclusions and perspectives	132			
6	Refere	nces	134			
7	Annex	. Publications and presentations	166			
Р	ublicat	ions				
0	ral pre	sentations in scientific events				

List of figures

Figure 2-1: Schematic diagram of the T-DNA region of pCAMBIA1305.2 used for cassava transformation
Figure 2-2: Relative <i>Bs2</i> expression levels in cassava transgenic plants
Figure 2-3: Detection of reactive oxygen species (ROS) on <i>Bs2</i> cassava plants
Figure 2-4: Relative <i>PR5</i> expression level in cassava transgenic lines overexpressing <i>Bs2</i>
Figure 2-5: Bacterial growth of <i>XamClO151</i> on <i>Bs2</i> transgenic cassava plants
Figure 2-6: Reactive oxygen species accumulation on <i>Bs2</i> cassava plants inoculated with <i>Xam.</i>
Figure 3-1: Schematic illustration of <i>RXam1</i> region on both the genetic and physical maps
Figure 3-2: RXam1 expression analysis by RT-PCR in a susceptible and resistant cultivar upon Xam inoculation
Figure 3-3: Graphical representation of the T-DNA region from pCAMBIA1305.2 used for stable transformation of cv. 60444
Figure 3-4: Reverse transcriptase-PCR (RT-PCR) of <i>RXam1</i> on transgenic cassava plants
Figure 3-5: Bacterial growth of <i>XamClO136</i> on transgenic plants overexpressing <i>RXam1</i> is decreased compared with control plants
Figure 4-1: Schematic representation of RXam2 protein sequence

Figure 4-2: Schematic diagram of the T-DNA region of the construct used for RXam2 silencing. 100

Figure 4-7: Transient expression of TALE1 and RXam2 (D495V) on cassava leaves......108

 Figure 4-8: Histochemical GUS staining on transgenic EBE_{TALE1}::GusPlus plants inoculated with

 XamCFBP1851

 109

List of tables

Table	4-1:	Area	under	disease	progression	curve	(AUDPC)	analysis	of	RXam2-silenced	plants
inocula	ated w	vith fiv	e differ	ent Xam	strains						101

List of supplementary figures

Supplementary figure 2-1: Production and characterization of <i>Bs2</i> cassava transgenic plants
Supplementary figure 2-2: PCR analysis of <i>Bs2</i> cassava transgenic plants
Supplementary figure 2-3: Southern-blot analysis of <i>Bs2</i> cassava transgenic plants
Supplementary figure 2-4: RT-PCR analysis of <i>Bs2</i> cassava transgenic plants
Supplementary figure 2-5: Relative <i>Manes.04G067900.1</i> expression levels in cassava transgenic lines overexpressing <i>Bs2</i>
Supplementary figure 2-6: Bacterial growth of <i>Xam668</i> on <i>Bs2</i> transgenic <i>in vitro</i> cassava plants64
Supplementary figure 2-7: Bacterial growth of <i>Xam1344</i> on <i>Bs2</i> transgenic <i>in vitro</i> cassava plants64
Supplementary figure 2-8: Bacterial growth of <i>Xam232</i> on <i>Bs2</i> transgenic <i>in vitro</i> cassava plants65
Supplementary figure 3-1: Basic local alignment between <i>RXam1</i> and <i>Xa21</i> at amino acid level89
Supplementary figure 3-2: Histochemical <i>GUS</i> assay on <i>in vitro</i> leaves from transgenic cassava plants
Supplementary figure 3-3: PCR from genomic DNA isolated on <i>in vitro</i> leaves from transgenic cassava plants
Supplementary figure 3-4: Southern-blot analysis of OX-RXam1 putative transgenic plants

Supplementary figure 3-5: Bacterial growth of three Xam strains on OX-RXam1 in vitro transgenic
plants
Supplementary figure 3-6: Disease symptoms at 15 dpi on OX-RXam1 <i>in vitro</i> transgenic plants93
Supplementary figure 3-7: DAB staining on leaves inoculated with <i>XamClO136</i> at 2 dpi in OX-RXam1
on L.16 and E.V. control plants
Supplementary figure 4-1: PCR of the selection marker Nptll from genomic DNA of putative
transgenic plants
Supplementary figure 4-2: Southern-blot analysis of RXam2-RNAi transgenic cassava plants
Supplementary figure 4-3: Histochemical GUS staining of putative OX-RXam2 transgenic plants124
Supplementary figure 4-4: PCR from genomic DNA of putative OX-RXam2 transgenic plants
Supplementary figure 4-5: Reverse transcriptase (RT)-PCR analysis of OX-RXam2 transgenic cassava
plants
Supplementary figure 4-6: Bacterial growth of <i>XamCFBP1851</i> on OX-RXam2 plants
Supplementary figure 4-7: Transient expression assays of RXam2 (MHV) on Nicotiana benthamiana
and cassava leaves
Supplementary figure 4-8: Transient expression assays on N. benthamiana and N. tabacum to
evaluate the induction of the activator trap promoter EBE TALE1127
Supplementary figure 4-9: Histochemical GUS staining of putative EBE _{TALE1} ::GusPlus transgenic
plants
Supplementary figure 4-10: PCR from genomic DNA of <i>EBE_{TALE1}::GusPlus</i> transgenic plants
Supplementary figure 4-11: Southern-blot analysis of EBE _{TALE1} ::RXam2(D495D) and EBE _{TALE1} ::GusPlus
transgenic plants

List of supplementary tables

Supplementary table 2-1: List of primers used in this study
Supplementary table 2-2: First 20 hits of a BLASTP against the cassava proteome using the Bs2 sequence from pepper as a query
Supplementary table 3-1: List of primers used in this study
Supplementary table 3-2: Genes located near <i>RXam1</i> QTL (XM5) in a region spanning 350 kb87
Supplementary table 4-1: List of primers used in this study
Supplementary table 4-2: List of genes located near <i>RXam2 (Manes.07G048100,</i> 4853478-4857038) in a region that spans ~4,8 Mb
Supplementary table 4-3: Summary of the transformation process and molecular characterization
Supplementary table 4-4: Evaluation of disease resistance in <i>EBE_{TALE1}::RXam2(D495V)</i>

List of abbreviations

Abbreviation Meaning

AAD	Acidic activation domain
ARC	Apaf, resistance proteins, CED-1
BAK1	BRI1-associated receptor kinase-1
BAP	Benzylaminopurine
BIK1	Botrytis induced kinase-1
CBB	Cassava bacterial blight
CC	Coiled-coil
CDS	Coding sequence
CEBiP	Chitin elicitor binding protein
CERK1	Chitin elicitor receptor kinase-1
CFU	Colony forming units
CMD	Cassava mosaic disease
CNL	Coiled-coil NB-LRR
CBSD	Cassava brown-streak disease
EFR	Elongation factor receptor
ETI	Effector-triggered immunity
ETS	Effector-triggered susceptibility
FEC	Friable embryogenic calli
FLS2	Flagellin sensing-2
GA3	Gibberellic acid
GD	Gresshof and Doy basal medium
GUS	β-glucuronidase
HR	Hypersensitive response
IBA	Indole-3-butyric acid
MAMP	Microbe-associated molecular pattern
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase

Abbreviation Meaning

MTI	MAMP-triggered immunity
MS	Murashige and Skoog basal medium
NAA	Naphthalene acetic acid
NIL	Near isogenic line
NLR	NOD-like receptor/ nucleotide-binding leucine-rich repeat
NLS	Nuclear localization signal
NB	Nucleotide-binding
NOD	Nucleotide-binding oligomeric domain
OD	Optical density
OES	Organized embryogenic structures
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular pattern
PR	Pathogenesis-related
PRR	Pattern-recognition receptors
PTI	PAMP-triggered immunity
QTL	Quantitative trait loci
RBOHD	Respiratory burst oxidase homolog D
RIL	Recombinant inbred line
RLK	Receptor-like kinase
RLP	Receptor-like protein
RNAi	Interference RNA
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RVD	Repeat variable diresidue
SERK	Somatic-embryogenesis receptor-like kinase
TALE	Transcription activator-like effector
TIR	Toll interleukin receptor
TNL	TIR NB-LRR
TTSS	Type three secretion system
UN	United Nations
Xam	Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis

Introduction

During decades, staple crops from the first world such as wheat, barley and maize have experienced elaborated breeding programs to solve the constraints imposed by pathogens. However, in countries from the third world other staple crops, such as cassava, sugarcane and banana account for caloric intake. Cassava was initially domesticated near the Amazon basin and now is cultivated in tropical countries across sub-Saharan Africa, South-East Asia and South America. Among tuber crops, cassava is the main source of calories in tropical countries. Colombia is the third largest cassava producer in South America with a forecast 2,5 million tonnes in 2015 (FAO, 2015). Cassava faces diverse limitations in terms of low current yields, nutritional quality, pests and diseases, among others. The most severe diseases are CMD (cassava mosaic disease), CBSD (cassava brown-streak disease) and CBB (cassava bacterial blight). While CMD and CBSD are endemic in sub-Saharan Africa, CBB is present in all three continents. CBB is caused by the Gram-negative bacterium Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis (Xam) and affects mainly the stems and leaves. The most reliable method to control this disease is through the use of varietal resistance. Several studies have focused on the dissection of cassava-Xam interactions in susceptible and resistant cultivars. However, at the present time no functional resistance genes have been fully characterized in cassava. Our group aims to understand molecular determinants involved in disease and resistance responses in cassava to Xam.

The work presented in this thesis covers the last results on the efforts conducted to identify and characterize resistance genes to CBB, mainly through functional studies of two previous CBB candidate resistance genes and to evaluate, as a proof of concept, the strategy based on interfamily transfer of a resistance gene from pepper to cassava. The present document contains four main chapters. The first one is a bibliographical revision on conceptual topics addressed in the present thesis. It starts with the biology and constraints of cassava, with a special highlight on pests and diseases and notably on CBB. In a second part, the historical background and conceptual aspects of plant-microbe interactions are revised, followed by a final description of some strategies for crop improvement based on the knowledge of plant immunity. The remaining three are focused on the employment of distinct research approaches to introduce a resistance

gene from pepper in cassava and validate the function of two candidates genes and their potential use to achieve resistance to CBB. These three chapters are written in a format of research articles.

More in detail, in the second chapter, a transgenic-based approach was employed for the interfamily transfer of the *Bs2* gene from pepper into susceptible cassava plants. Two main aspects are considered, first the conservation of NLR downstream signaling in distant species and second, the distribution of AvrBs2 as a core effector in species of the genus *Xanthomonas*.

In the third chapter, the overexpression of a gene associated with a QTL to CBB, called *RXam1* is reported. Data found indicate *RXam1* overexpression confers a decrease in susceptibility only to *XamCl0136*. In contrast, no contribution to resistance was found to other *Xam* strains tested.

In the fourth chapter, a functional analysis of *RXam2*, a gene associated with a major QTL is presented. Results obtained from *RXam2* silencing and overexpression suggests an important contribution for resistance to several *Xam* strains. In addition, an autoactive mutation of *RXam2* was used to develop an activator trap promoter induced by a TAL (transcription activator-like) effector from *Xam*.

Finally, a last chapter presents a general overview of the main results presented in each previous chapter, connecting them and considering the advantages, limitations and perspectives of this work.

Chapter 1

"Poco a poco, estudiando las infinitas posibilidades del olvido, se dio cuenta de que podía llegar un día en que se reconocieran las cosas por sus inscripciones, pero no se recordara su utilidad"

"Little by little, studying the infinite possibilities of a loss of memory, he realized that the day might come when things would be recognized by their inscriptions but that no one would remember their use."

Gabriel García Márquez

1 Review of related literature

Cassava and global food security in the context of climate change

Considering the exponential growth of human population compared with a linear increase on food production, it is has been estimated that human population will soon reach earth's carrying capacity leading to food shortage. United Nations population projections has predicted the world total population will reach 9,15 billion by 2050 (Alexandratos and Bruinsma, 2012). Although this is a slow rate compared with the 3,3 billion growth seen during the last four decades, a major correlation with decreased population growth is increased wealth and a concomitant higher food demand per capita (FAO, 2009; Godfray et al., 2010). This implies a need to produce from 70% to 100% more food to meet the population demands for 2050 (Tilman et al., 2011; Alexandratos and Bruinsma, 2012). An important challenge is to increase food production in the middle of a changing climate. This requires sustainable intensification to reduce environmental impact while producing more food. A combination of changing agronomic practices, reducing waste production, integrated pest management methods and a sustainable use of land destined for agriculture could help to achieve this goal (Godfray et al., 2010).

Increasing temperatures, CO_2 and ozone levels are generating awareness among scientific community to develop new strategies to manage this situation in terms of food security. Estimations indicate climate change is expected to have a major impact on food insecure regions (Rosenthal and Ort, 2012). Many of these undernourished countries depend on staple crops

different from rice, maize, wheat, and barley for their subsistence. Root and tuber crops consumption in the least developed countries account for most of the caloric intake (http://faostat3.fao.org/). When compared with other cereals, cassava's yield per hectare is significantly higher, and in many countries is the cheapest source of calories available (FAO, 2013b). Furthermore, since cassava can be efficiently produced in marginal areas at small scale, is grown almost exclusively by smallholder and low-income farmers with no need of mechanization. In addition, since it is clonally propagated by 15-30cm stem cuttings (stakes), the planting material is easily available and low-cost (FAO, 2013b). Unlike other staple crops, cassava inherent adaptability to diverse environments (limited water supply, acid soils, low soil fertility, difficult terrain) (El-Sharkawy, 2004; FAO, 2013b) suggests this crop is potentially highly resilient to future climate change (Jarvis et al., 2012). In addition, model-based predictions suggest cassava production is not severely affected by high CO₂ levels, moreover field trials have shown increased yield compared to other C3 plants (Rosenthal and Ort, 2012; Rosenthal et al., 2012). This has allowed cassava, the "food of the poor", to become a priority crop for food security in developing countries.

Cassava, from Amazonia to the world

The genus *Manihot* (Euphorbiaceae) is distributed through the Neotropic and is composed of 98 species (Rogers and Appan, 1973). This angiosperm family comprises several species with economic importance including *Jatropha curcas, Ricinus communis* and *Hevea brasiliensis*. One of the most representative species of this genus is cassava (*Manihot esculenta* Crantz). Cassava (known as yuca, manioc, tapioca, mandioca) is the principal source of calories among tuber crops (Cock 1982) (http://faostat3.fao.org/) and is native from South America (Allem, 1994, 1999; Bredeson et al., 2016). Cassava domestication began 5000-7000 years B.C. near the southern border of Amazon River. The Caribe and Arawak Indians were probably the first to cultivate cassava in the Caribbean and Northern South America, and some of their cultivation practices remain almost intact along the Amazon basin (Henry and Hershey, 2002). European colonialist and slave traders introduced it to Africa 500 years ago where it spread relatively slow (Gibbons, 1990; Allem, 1994, 1999; Olsen and Schaal, 1999). More recently, cassava was introduced to Asia

(India, Java and the Philippines) between the late 18th and early 19th century. Today cassava is intensive-cultivated in tropical and subtropical regions of Central and South America, Sub-Saharan Africa and South-East Asia (FAO, 2013b).

The accepted hypothesis for cassava botanical origin postulates *M. esculenta* ssp. *flabellifolia*, a woody perennial shrub from the Amazon basin, as the wild progenitor of cultivated cassava (Allem, 1994, 1999; Olsen and Schaal, 1999; Nassar and Ortiz, 2008). In terms of its domestication origin, recent analysis on genome genetic diversity of *Manihot* species have confirmed previous results from Olsen and Schaal (1999), who found cassava was domesticated once in the South-Western part of Amazon region from *M. esculenta* ssp. *flabellifolia* (Bredeson et al., 2016).

Cassava is a perennial vegetative-propagated shrub with a highly heterozygous genome. Despite it was frequently considered a polyploid species, studies based on general meiosis, indicate cassava is a diploid with 18 chromosomes (2n= 36) (Magoon et al., 1969; Hahn et al., 1990). However, since certain regions of the genome harbor duplications, it has been postulated a segmental allotetraploid origin of cultivated cassava (Magoon et al., 1969). Recent studies based on the conserved synteny between chromosomal pairs of the genus *Manihot* have shown the impact of paleotetraploidy on cassava genome (Bredeson et al., 2016). Furthermore, comparative genomic studies with *Jatropha curcas* (2n=22), *Ricinus communis* (2n=20) and *Hevea brasiliensis* (2n=36) reveal paleotetraploidy is shared with *H. brasiliensis* which is estimated to diverged from cassava ~35 million years ago (Bredeson et al., 2016).

Reproductive biology

Cassava is diclinous and monoecious, meaning that both female and male flowers are produced on the same branch, female in the basal portion and male in the apex (Ceballos et al., 2015). The plant produces indeterminate inflorescences called racemes. Inflorescence develops in the apex of the steam with female flowers opening 10-14 days before the male flowers (Jennings and Iglesias, 2002; Ceballos et al., 2015). If female and male flowers from different branches or from different plants of the same genotype open simultaneously, it can lead to self-pollination (Jennings and Iglesias, 2002). Flowering and the production of self and cross-pollinated seeds depends on the genotype and environmental conditions (pollinating species presence and planting design) (Jennings and Iglesias, 2002; Ceballos et al., 2010).

Since branching always takes place when an inflorescence is developed, the availability of flowers is influenced by plant growth. Cassava plants display apical dominance and indeterminate growth. Once apical dominance ceases and sympodial branches are formed (forking), the flowering occurs, although some non-terminal inflorescences have been observed (El-Sharkawy, 2004; Ceballos et al., 2015). Therefore, late branching types display less flowering compared with early-branching and low-growing ones. Although some genotypes display frequent flowering during a growing cycle, some others show little flowering or do not flower at all. Farmers usually prefer late-branching, tall and erect plant architectures due to the facilities in terms production, transport and storage. However this trait is not desirable for planned crosses when synchronization of flowering is needed since some genotypes could flower 4 months after planting while for some others it may take more than 10 months (Jennings and Iglesias, 2002; Ceballos et al., 2010, 2015).

Due to the difficulties related with flowering synchronization and the time required for a seed to mature, it takes usually more than a year to obtain seeds from a controlled cross (Ceballos et al., 2010). The fertility of the clones is variable and can be very low, between one and two seeds are usually obtained per pollination from the trilocular ovary (Jennings and Iglesias, 2002; Ceballos et al., 2010). Fresh harvested seeds are dormant and require a storage period of 3-6 months before germination. Due to the absence of known self-incompatibility effects, it is technically possible to obtain viable seeds from self-pollinations. However, the production of homozygous lines from repeated self-pollinations would require around 12-15 years (Ceballos et al., 2015). Since virtually all known improved varieties or landraces are derived from crosses between heterozygous parents, cassava plants grow today are clonally propagated hybrids (Ceballos et al., 2015).

Considering all the characteristic of this crop, it is difficult to establish controlled crosses, RILs (recombinant inbred lines), NILs (near isogenic lines) and introgression of genes for plant breeding as it is done in other crop species.

Adaptations to abiotic stress

Cassava has features that make it highly appealing in marginal areas with poor soils and unpredicted rainfall seasons where farmers usually lack resources for agrochemical input. As mentioned above, cassava is considered a crop with a great adaptability to adverse environmental conditions. A distinctive fact of this crop is that this plant do not have a critical period of adequate soil moisture essential for flowering and seed production (FAO, 2013b). On the contrary, cassava relies on several adaptations based on water-use efficiency to deal with drought stress. Actually, cassava leaves are well adapted to periods with limited water supply. One of its responses to increase water-use efficiency is a rapid reduction in the evaporative surface and partially closing stomata (El-Sharkawy, 2004). Another physiological important trait of cassava is the long leaf retention under water stress and the partial recovery when water becomes again available (El-Sharkawy, 2004). Also, its roots are known to prolong to great depths to gain access to subsoil water reserves. In consequence, cassava plants once established, can resist relative prolonged periods of drought, but it must be planted during periods of adequate water in the soil (Henry and Hershey, 2002; El-Sharkawy, 2004; FAO, 2013b). Cassava photosynthetic behavior is complex, it was previously reason to behave like both a C3 and C4-like plant and now is considered a C3-C4 intermediate (El Sharkawy, 1984; Edwards et al., 1990; El-Sharkawy, 2004, 2006). Cassava photosynthetic responses suggest an adaptation to tropical environmental conditions, requiring high solar radiation and high temperatures to express its full photosynthetic potential (Angelov et al., 1993; Alves, 2002). At morphological level, cassava leaves display novel adaptions such as papillae in the epidermal cells of the lower mesophyll surface that is proposed to maintain leaf water status under drought conditions (Angelov et al., 1993). In addition, cassava grows well in 25-29^oC, although it can tolerate temperatures up to 38° C. When grown on temperatures above the optimum (between $30-40^{\circ}$ C) an increase in photosynthetic rates have been reported, moreover decreases in root yield are very little even when the optimal temperature range is exceed by 5-10°C

Cassava does not only possess and exceptional tolerance to prolonged periods of droughts but also can grow and produce reasonable yields on acid, infertile soils and also on land with minimal preparation (FAO, 2013b). Some of the adaptations that allow this crop to grow on poor and degraded soils is the tolerance of low phosphorus (P) concentrations on the soil, low pH and high levels of exchangeable aluminium (Al) (Howeler, 2002). Since cassava roots form beneficial symbiotic associations with vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizae (VAM) naturally occurring in the soil, it can generally grow with no application of P-fertilizers (Howeler, 2002; FAO, 2013a). Beside performing better than other crops on infertile soil, cassava also responds efficiently to fertilizers application (Howeler, 2002).

Constraints for food security

Despite its advantages as a cheap caloric source and high yields, cassava relevance as a food security crop faces diverse challenges in terms of nutritional limitations, loss of genetic variability, diseases management, low number of vegetative seed per plant, among others. Although under the marginal conditions in which cassava is grown it produces more energy per area than most other crops, it has the lowest protein/carbohydrate ratio among world's 10 major crops (Sayre et al., 2011). Cassava roots contain on average 1%-2% protein by dry weight, even though some hybrids may contain near 5% protein (Nassar and Ortiz, 2008; Sayre et al., 2011). A typical cassava meal (500 g) provides enough calories for an adult but is an insufficient source of iron, zinc, vitamin A and protein, leading to micronutrient malnourishment (Sayre et al., 2011). Interestingly, tender cassava leaves contain 25% of protein (dry weight basis) and a valuable source of calcium, iron and vitamins A and C (FAO, 2013b). For this reason, in some countries of Central Africa, notably Democratic Republic of the Congo, Liberia, Cameroon and the United Republic of Tanzania, young tender leaves are harvested and consumed as a rich protein source (FAO, 2013b). Distinct approaches based on conventional breeding and genetic modification has been developed to address high carotenoids content in cassava. Since carotenoid content is a trait with high heritability in cassava, researches have been able to produce roots with the double carotenoid content trough breeding (Ceballos et al., 2012). On the other hand, the expression of enzymes involved in the synthesis of vitamin A precursors (carotenoids), through transgenic technologies have allowed to increase extensively total carotenoids content up to 30 times compared with WT white roots (Welsch et al., 2010; Failla et al., 2012). Even though the transformation system has produced several cv. 60444 plants as a proof-of-concept to address questions regarding nutritional improvement; this transformation model is not a genetic background preferred by farmers (Sayre et al., 2011). This denotes a need to develop transformation technologies in elite cultivars.

Due to the long crop cycle, asynchronous flowering and long breeding cycles, cassava improvement through conventional breeding is a demanding and time-consuming task. Since many landraces and cultivars display late or poor flowering, there is a recurrent use of the same genotypes as parents for breeding efforts, leading to a reduction of genetic diversity in cassava. Recent studies based on genomic data from wild and cultivated cassava revealed relationship among cultivated varieties that will aid for developing diverse germplasm for breeding efforts through genomic selection (Bredeson et al., 2016). Breeding decisions based on this knowledge will aim to restore lost variation on cultivated cassava.

Different studies have address the importance to clarify the position of cassava along the genus not only to resolve the phylogeny of Euphorbiaceae but also to study the genetic variability of cultivars aiming to identify possible genes loosed or gained during domestication of cassava (Allem, 1994, 1999; Olsen and Schaal, 1999; El-Sharkawy, 2004; Bredeson et al., 2016). Comparative analysis of genome variation between domesticated and cultivated cassava have revealed not only that starch accumulation has been positively selected during domestication, but also that genes associated with tolerance to extreme environments were lost (Wang et al., 2014). This implies biotic and abiotic stress can be weaker in cultivated conditions than natural environments.

Although during the period of 1980-2011 the global annual production has doubled from 124 million to 252 million tonnes of fresh root, current average yields are still lower than cassava's potential (FAO, 2013b). A study from the International Center of Tropical Agriculture (CIAT) estimates cassava could produce 22,3 tonnes per Ha, which accounts for more than 450 million tonnes a year considering the current harvested area (FAO, 2013b). In 2014, global production reached 288 million tonnes, (FAO, 2015), indicating we are still far from reaching cassava production full potential. All these data highlight the need to make an efficient use of soil and water, and to use varieties with high yields, tolerant to drought, resistant to pest and diseases in order to reach cassava production potential.

Pests and diseases

As many other crops, cassava is vulnerable to many pests and diseases that can produce severe yield losses, especially in Africa. Reliance on vegetative propagation makes this crop particularly prone to pest and diseases. Yield losses may change depending on the region where is cultivated and how intensively cassava is cultivated. Since cassava has a long crop cycle, is exposed to pathogens during prolonged periods, thus pesticides are not very effective and above all expensive (FAO, 2013b). A measure that can help farmers to avoid losses by diseases and also protects the agro-ecosystem is the use of tolerant or resistant cultivars. In addition, the use of planting material taken from healthy plants is also an efficiently control method. The main threats for cassava are arthropod pests, viral and bacterial diseases and root rot.

More than 200 arthropod species has been reported to affect cassava (Bellotti et al., 2012b). Some of these are specific for this crop, and some other attacks other crops as well. Since cassava botanical and domestication origin is the Neotropics, arthropods in this region have co-evolved for hundreds of years with this crop, therefore diversity of cassava pest is higher on Latin America compared to Africa and Asia (Bellotti et al., 2012b). In America the major arthropods that attack cassava are whiteflies, mite, mealybugs and hornworms (Bellotti et al., 2012a). In Africa, *Bemisia tabaci* is considered the major pest since it is the vector of Cassava Mosaic Disease (CMD) and Cassava Brown Streak Disease (CBSD), the most relevant diseases in Africa (Alvarez et al., 2012; Bellotti et al., 2012b).

The most devastating diseases in cassava are CMD, CBSD and Cassava Bacterial Blight (CBB). CMD is caused by a begomovirus complex, was first reported in Tanzania in 1894 and is endemic in Sub-Saharan Africa (Calvert and Thresh, 2002; FAO, 2013b). Symptoms usually include chlorosis mixed with normal green tissue, mosaic, mottling, twisted leaves and plant stunting (Calvert and Thresh, 2002). CMD is also the most relevant cassava disease in India and Sri Lanka. Host plant resistance derived from an interspecific cross between cassava and a wild relative, *M. glaziovii*, was identified in IITA (International Institute for Tropical Agriculture is the main method of control for CMD) and has been deployed in the field for many years (Fregene and Puonti-Kaerlas, 2002; Ceballos et al., 2012). Several studies have aimed to address genetic determinants of resistance to CMD and two genetic regions have been identified, called CMD1 and CMD2 (Fregene and Puounti-Kaerlas, 2002). CMD1 is thought to confer recessive and polygenic resistance while CMD2 is a dominant and monogenic resistance (Akano et al., 2002; Fregene and Puonti-Kaerlas, 2002). On the other hand, CBSD is caused by a Ipovirus and was first recognized

as a new disease different from CMD in 1930s (Calvert and Thresh, 2002; Alvarez et al., 2012). It has a diversity of symptoms affecting leaves, stem and tuberous roots. The most distinctive symptom is a corky necrosis on roots that render them unsuitable for consumption (FAO, 2013b). The integrated disease management for both CMD and CBSD include the use of non-infected (asymptomatic mother plants) material for propagation. However, since the disease is transmitted by *B. tabaci* whiteflies the use of clean planting material does not guarantee posterior infection. A more efficient control practice is the use of resistant or tolerant cultivars (Alvarez et al., 2012; FAO, 2013b). To date, no *R* genes have been cloned to confer resistance to CBSD.

Other minor diseases of cassava includes stem and root rots caused by several oomycetes, fungal and bacterial pathogens, anthracnose (Colletotrichum spp.), leaf spots (*Cercosporidium henningsii, Cercospora vicosae*), frogskin diasease (Phytoplasmas) and super-elongation disease (*Sphaceloma manihoticola*), among others (Alvarez et al., 2012). Reported cassava bacterial diseases includes bacterial blight (*Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. manihotis), bacterial stem rot (*Erwinia carotovora* pv. carotovora) and bacterial stem gall (*Agrobacterium tumefaciens*) (Alvarez et al., 2012).

Cassava bacterial blight

CBB is the most devastating bacterial disease in America, Africa and recently in Asia. It was first reported in Brazil in 1912 and later in Colombia and Venezuela (Lozano, 1986). It has produced starvation in Democratic Republic of the Congo in 1970s where cassava is extensively cultivated. Losses produced by CBB can range between 50-75% when susceptible cultivars are used and depending on environmental conditions (Wydra and Verdier, 2002). CBB affects mainly leaves and stems. Due to the systemic nature of the disease, the primary symptoms, such as wilting of emerging shoots, appear when infected tools or plant material is used for cultivation. This leads to infection from plant to plant and also between crop cycles. When contaminated material is planted, primary symptoms include wilting of the newly emerged sprouts followed by die-back (Lozano, 1986). CBB manifestations appear after the dry season and when the first rains take place. In this case, previously infected plants can spread the bacteria to healthy plants. Splash caused by windy rain is the main method for bacterial mobilization, distribution and penetration of the inoculum to healthy plants (Lozano, 1975). High relative humidity coupled with windy rain

promotes the development of secondary symptoms including angular leaf spots, leaf blight, defoliation, wilting of the shoot and dieback, showing the typical "candle stick" appearance (Maraite and Meyer, 1975; Hillocks and Wydra, 2002). Leaf spots first appear as clearly distinguishable watersoaked angular areas on the abaxial surface. These lesions become brown and dark brown and could appear surrounded by a yellow halo, depending on the susceptibility of the plant (Lozano, 1986). Afterwards, angular leaf spots are enlarged and have a tendency to coalesce along the veins or on the edges of the leaf producing large blighted areas (Maraite and Meyer, 1975; Lozano, 1986). Leaf spots often exudates a sticky, yellow gum near the veins. Blighted areas spread over the entire leaf and the leaf withers and dries, afterwards the petiole collapses, but the dried leaf can remain attached to the stem for some time before it falls (Lozano, 1986). A yellowish gum is also observed in young stems and petioles. When infected shoots are observed under the microscope they show tyloses and mucilaginous substances, this is accompanied by the disintegration of the tissue and the formation of lysis pockets filled by latex, cell debris and bacteria (Maraite and Meyer, 1975). Rooting is faster in young green stems than mature ones and old stem tissue usually remain apparently healthy, this result in the typical dieback symptom of the immature portion of the steam (Lozano, 1975). With the exception of young susceptible infected cultivars that show necrotic vascular strands, roots from infected plants usually remain healthy (Lozano and Sequeira, 1974).

CBB etiology: Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis

The causal agent of CBB, *Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. manihotis (*Xam*), is a Gram-negative, nonencapsulated rod, motile, with a single polar flagellum bacteria. *Xam* is aerobic and grows in medium containing sucrose producing slimy and unpigmented bacteria (Lozano and Sequeira, 1974). Aside from the lack of pigmentation, other physiological and biochemical characteristics are typical from other *Xanthomonas*. *Xam* is a systemic and epiphytic pathogen, it survives poorly in the soil however this can be a source of inoculum if contaminated with infected plant material (Lozano, 1975; Boher and Verdier, 1994). *Xam* produces disease symptom in cassava and also in other related *Manihot* species and can survive epiphytically on weeds for up to one month (Hillocks and Wydra, 2002). The infection process in cassava begins with the epiphytic multiplication of *Xam* in the leaf forming microcolonies protected by mucus (Boher and Verdier, 1994). This increases bacterial population on the leaf surface where it contributes to build the inoculum. Its entry occurs through stomatal openings and epidermal wounds on the leaf produced by high winds. The preliminary phase occurs in the intercellular spaces on leaf spongy mesophyll where it multiplies rapidly by cell division, destroying the tissue and producing large amount of exopolysaccharides (Lozano, 1986; Boher and Verdier, 1994). This rapid multiplication of *Xam* coupled with the lysis of the host lamella in the leaf tissue produces a rapid colonization of the lamina and leads to the formation of angular leaf spots (Boher and Verdier, 1994). Subsequently *Xam* enters through the internal vessels on the leaf, enabling its movement to the petiole and afterwards to the stem. This allows bacteria to advance systemically through the vascular tissue including xylem and phloem vessels and pith cells (Lozano, 1986). Wilting is produced when bacteria and its matrix block the vessels impeding the movement of substances along the xylem vessels. Lysis pockets in phloem

CBB integrated disease management

The losses caused by CBB can be drastically reduced with a combination of varietal resistance, cultural practices and sanitation measures (Lozano, 1986). Cultural farming practices including the use of clean cuttings, planting close to the end of the rainy season and crop rotation have proved to be efficient to control pathogen populations on the field (Lozano, 1986; Boher and Verdier, 1994; FAO, 2013b). The emergence and spread of the disease in a crop is mainly due to the use of tools infected with *Xam*, which are used as contaminated tools for the following production cycles. As a result, the pathogen can easily diffuse from cuttings taken from healthy asymptomatic stems (Lozano, 1986; Boher and Verdier, 1994; Wydra and Verdier, 2002). If the woody stems are infected, the bacteria are kept in vascular tissues where it can survive for up to 30 months, for this reason chemical methods are not very effective for controlling this disease. Other sanitation measures consist of soaking stakes in hot water at 50°C during 50 minutes and sterilize tools used on contaminated fields on hot water or with disinfectant solutions (Alvarez et al., 2012; FAO, 2013a). To reduce plant-to-plant contamination by rain splash, intercropping is

recommended with fast growing species such as maize (FAO, 2013b).

The most effective and economic method to control CBB is to use resistant varieties (Boher and Verdier, 1994; Alvarez et al., 2012; FAO, 2013a). Some resistant varieties have been described (Restrepo et al., 2000a; Alvarez et al., 2012), however the disease is prevalent in areas where these varieties are not well-adapted or do not possess desirable agroculinary qualities (López and Bernal, 2012). This implies a need to transfer resistance to varieties adapted to specific agroecological zones where this crop is cultivated (Verdier et al., 2004). However, since the crop cycle of cassava is long, the process to obtain new resistant varieties through conventional breeding is time-consuming. The knowledge on molecular mechanisms of resistance combined with non-conventional strategies for gene transfer or modification may lead to the development of plants with improved resistance.

An historical background on plant-microbe interactions: the discovery of elicitors and receptors

In 1970s scientists discovered plants could recognize pathogen- derived molecules and induce the production of antimicrobial compounds named phytoalexins (Anderson-Prouty and Albersheim, 1975; Keen, 1975). Later it was discovered that similar defense responses were elicited by endogenous plants cell wall polysaccharides during the infection process (Hahn et al., 1981). Altogether, these pathogen-derived or endogenous molecules were called elicitors (Schwessinger and Ronald, 2012). A decade later many elicitors were identified and a new challenge started to look for their corresponding receptors.

By the time mentioned, it was known that plants relied on their organs as passive defense barriers to resist to a wide range of pathogens. Since plants lack specialized cells for immunity, each cell is capable of mounting a robust defense response (Spoel and Dong, 2012). This information lead to suggest receptors must be present in all plant cells to recognize elicitors from the pathogen. In the late 1980s biochemical approaches demonstrated high-affinity binding sites for elicitors in the plasma membrane (Cosio et al., 1988; Shibuya et al., 1993), however they were unable to further purify this plasma membrane receptors. Studies on vertebrate immunity helped plant pathologist to understand the nature of these receptors. By the same time immunologists reasoned and discovered that microbes must possess pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) that are recognized by pattern-recognition receptors (PRR) from the host (Janeway, 1989). Afterwards, several conserved molecules including LPS were identified as PAMPs in animals (Medzhitov and Janeway, 1997). The existence of these conserved molecules in animal pathogens and the parallels with previously described elicitors led plants pathologists to adopt the terms PAMPs and PRRs to explain plant-microbe interactions (Nürnberger and Brunner, 2002). However, this recognition of widely conserved pathogen molecules was likely to be broad-spectrum resistance and did not reconcile with Flor's hypothesis.

The gene-for-gene hypothesis and the zigzag model

In the early 1940s, H. Flor proposed the gene-for-gene hypothesis based on genetic analysis of flax (Linum usitatissimum) and the flax rust fungus (Melampsora lini) populations. This hypothesis determines that plants and pathogens gene products interact in specific combinations explaining disease resistance specificity. He was the first to employ the terms avirulence (avr) and resistance (*R*) genes, to designate those genetic determinants from the pathogen and the host, respectively. Flor found that single Mendelian dominant *R* genes from flax could confer resistance to specific rust strains carrying the corresponding *avr* gene (Flor, 1971). These findings let him to reason that interactions of matching Avr-R pairs, lead to the recognition of the pathogen and the activation of defense responses. Gene-for-gene hypothesis suggested R genes product functions as surveillance sensors of microbial molecules. However, many R genes did not confer broadspectrum resistance, instead resistance was limited to some races of the pathogen. This started debates among the plant biologist community about the concept of Avr and elicitors, along with the fact that elicitor molecules could not explain gene-for-gene resistance (Albersheim and Valent, 1978). It appeared that elicitors were responsible for broad-spectrum resistance triggered and had little to do with gene-for-gene resistance. For this reason R genes are thought to govern a type of response referred to as "race-specific resistance", "major gene resistance" and "gene-forgene resistance". Afterwards in the early 1990s the first plant R genes were isolated and the architecture of R gene product was elucidated (Martin et al., 1993; Whitham et al., 1994;
Lawrence et al., 1995). All the discoveries of distinct classes of R proteins combined with previous debates about apparently unrelated concepts were somehow unified in the zigzag model.

As mentioned above, similarities in the nature and structure of elicitors and receptors between plants and animals led to the adoption of the terms PAMPs and PRRs to explain plant-microbe interactions (Dangl and Jones, 2001; Nürnberger and Brunner, 2002; Ausubel, 2005). To reconcile these terms with the gene-for-gene hypothesis proposed by Flor, a two-layered plant immunity system was proposed. The first layer called PAMP-triggered immunity (PTI) is induced by the recognition of highly conserved molecules named PAMPs by transmembrane PRRs (Chisholm et al., 2006; Jones and Dangl, 2006). Since these conserved molecules are also present in non-pathogenic microorganisms these terms were later changed to MAMPs (microbe-associated molecular patterns) and MTI (MAMP-triggered immunity). A second layer called effector-triggered immunity (ETI) is activated once nucleotide-binding leucine-rich repeats (NLRs) proteins encoded by *R* genes recognize specific effector proteins from the pathogen, following the gene-for-gene hypothesis.

In the zigzag model the plant immune system is represented in four phases (Jones and Dangl, 2006). In the first phase the recognition of MAMPs by PRR triggers the activation of MTI leading to a signaling cascade that is effective against non-adapted pathogens. In a second phase, pathogenic bacteria inject effector proteins to the host cell using the type-3 secretion system (T3SS). Effector proteins interfere with MTI resulting in effector-triggered susceptibility (ETS). In a third phase, plant evolves NLRs proteins to recognize pathogen particular effectors activating a stronger resistance response called ETI. This response is rapid and specific, and is usually associated with the development of a hypersensitive response (HR). In a fourth phase, diversification of effectors is selected to avoid recognition by NLRs. Similarly, the generation of new *R* genes variants is favored to recognize newly evolved effectors and trigger ETI once again (Jones and Dangl, 2006; Chisholm et al., 2006). Under this model the plant immunity is observed as a classical "arms-race" scenario between evolutionary forces from the pathogen and the host.

Plant PRR complex associations

According to the zigzag model, the first layer of defense against pathogens is the recognition of MAMPs by PRRs. Plant PRRs known so far are surface localized receptors from two classes: receptor-like kinases (RLKs) and receptor-like proteins (RLPs). PRR extracellular domain (ECD) may contain a leucine-rich repeat (LRR), lectin motifs, lysine-motifs (LysM) or epidermal growth factor (EGF)-like domains (Macho and Zipfel, 2014). First characterized PRRs were FLS2, EFR and CEBiP-CERK1, known to recognize flagellin (Flg), elongation factor-tu (EF-tu) and chitin, respectively (Gómez-Gómez and Boller, 2000; Kaku et al., 2006; Zipfel et al., 2006; Miya et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2012b).

Flg, a component of the bacterial flagellum, is the archetypal elicitor known to activate MTI. A 22aa epitope in the N- terminal of Flg (flg22) is recognized by FLS2 and triggers a defense response in *Arabidopsis* (Felix et al., 1999; Gómez-Gómez and Boller, 2000). FLS2 is a RLK with an ECD composed of 28 LRRs involved in ligand binding, a single-pass transmembrane (TM) domain and an intracellular kinase domain. It has been shown that once FLS2 perceives flg22, it quickly forms a complex with a regulatory RLK named BAK1 (BRI1-associated receptor kinase 1) (Chinchilla et al., 2006, 2007). The role of BAK1 or other RLKs from the somatic-embryogenesis receptor-like kinase (SERK) family as coreceptors for MAMP perception is not exclusive to the flagellin perception by FLS2. Moreover, a growing number of PRRs are shown to associate with BAK1 or related SERK proteins for signaling activation (Roux et al., 2011; Liebrand et al., 2013). Although differences in the Flg epitope exists between different species, FLS2 is conserved across plant linages (Boller and Felix, 2009; Mueller et al., 2012).

Chitin, a component of fungal cell wall, is known to act as an elicitor of MTI in both monocots and dicots (Newman et al., 2013). In *Arabidopsis* chitin perception requires homodimerization of the LysM RLK, AtCERK1 (Miya et al., 2007; Wan et al., 2008). AtCERK1 harbors three LysM in the ECD that interact with chitin (Petutschnig et al., 2010; Miya et al., 2007). The intracellular kinase domain probably initiates homodimerization of CERK1 induced by chitin, resulting in downstream signaling (Petutschnig et al., 2010). In contrast to FLS2, BAK1 association is not required for chitin perception by CERK1 (Albrecht et al., 2012). On the other hand, in rice, the chitin elicitor binding protein (CEBiP) is the major LysM RLK involved in chitin perception (Kaku et al., 2006). OsCEBiP is a GPI-anchor protein that harbors three LysM and a C-terminal domain (Kaku et al., 2006). Since OsCEBiP lacks an intracellular kinase or another signaling domain, it requires the formation of a hetero-oligomeric complex with OsCERK1 for chitin-induced signaling

(Kaku et al., 2006; Shimizu et al., 2010). Interestingly, OsCERK1 harbors a single LysM and an intracellular kinase domain but does not bind chitin (Shimizu et al., 2010). Even though FLS2 heterodimerization with BAK1 is important for signal transduction upon Flg perception, for chitin perception the associations with different kinases are required for signaling.

In recent years, several MAMPs and their corresponding PRRs have been identified. Interestingly, from the set of *R* genes isolated in the 1990s, one named *Xa21* encodes a receptor protein with an extracellular LRR domain, a transmembrane domain and an intracellular non-RD kinase domain (Song et al., 1995). Non-RD kinases lack the two conserved residues arginine and aspartate, a motif typical of most kinases that is associated with immune receptor including FLS2 and EFR (Dardick et al., 2012). Usually RD-kinases appear to regulate responses different from immunity or serve as coreceptors of PRRs (Chinchilla et al., 2006; Roux et al., 2011; Schwessinger et al., 2011), with the notable exception of the RD kinase CERK1 in Arabidopsis (Liu et al., 2012a). Unlike AtFLS2 and EFR, XA21 does not bind to the RD-kinase BAK1/SERK3 family but is known to associate with rice SERK proteins in the plasma membrane (OsSERK2). XA21 forms a complex with XB3 and XB25 for stability (Wang et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2010c). Recent studies suggest that after ligand binding, a series of conformational changes are induced in the XA21-OsSERK2 complex that induce XA21 transphosphorylation by OsSERK2 (Chen et al., 2014). Although XA21 ligand has not been identified yet, studies have identified several *Xoo* genes that are required for activation of XA21 (rax genes) (da Silva et al., 2004; Pruitt et al., 2015). These genes encode for components of a putative type I secretion system (T1SS): RaxA, RaxB and RaxC along with a tyrosine sulfotransferase, RaxST (da Silva et al., 2004). A recent study found RaxX as a gene located upstream *RaxST* which encodes for a small peptide that is subjected to tyrosine sulfation by RaxST to activate XA21-mediated immunity (Pruitt et al., 2015).

MTI signaling

Once PRR complexes and receptor-like cytoplasmic kinases (RLCKs) are activated they lead to a rapid production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) during the respiratory burst, activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), activation of Ca⁺⁺-dependent protein kinases (CDPK), callose deposition, SA/ET/phytoalexin production and the expression of defense-related genes

(Godfrey and Rathjen, 2012; Wu et al., 2014; Li et al., 2016). Earlier responses include an increase in cytosolic Ca⁺⁺ concentrations that can be different in amplitude and duration depending on the MAMP perceived, leading ultimately to ROS production and the activation of CDPKs and MAPK cascades (Tena et al., 2011).

Although in higher plants there are no canonical Ca⁺⁺ selective voltage-gated ion channels, some others ionic channels might allow Ca⁺⁺ entry to the cytosol (Tsuda and Somssich, 2015). Ca⁺⁺ sensor proteins (calmodulin, calcineurin B-like and Ca⁺⁺-dependent protein kinases) detect Ca⁺⁺ signatures in the cytosol implicated in the generation of ROS, nitric oxide (NO) and transcriptional reprogramming (Tsuda and Somssich, 2015). The burst of ROS produced during immune signaling activation is controlled by plant oxidases called respiratory burst oxidase homolog (RBOHD) (Canton and Grinstein, 2014). Recent findings indicate that two signaling pathways, a Ca⁺⁺ -dependent and Ca⁺⁺ -independent pathway, control the activity of RBOHD (Canton and Grinstein, 2014; Kadota et al., 2014; Li et al., 2014). Interestingly, both pathways of RBOHD activation are mediated by BIK1, a RLCK associated to the PRR complex (Li et al., 2014). Upon MAMPs perception BIK1 directly binds and phosphorylates RBOHD (Ca⁺⁺-independent) and also positively regulates the increase in cytosolic Ca^{++} concentration (Ca^{++} -dependent) leading to the MAMP-induced ROS production (Kadota et al., 2014; Li et al., 2014). The direct RBOHD phosphorylation by BIK1 occurs in two serine residues (Ser39 and Ser343) while the Ca++dependent pathway is caused through the activation of CPK5 which possibly phosphorylates RBOHD in different residues (Kadota et al., 2014; Li et al., 2014).

In regard to other MTI signaling components, MAPK cascades play essential roles in signal amplification and for transducing the signal from PRR complexes to downstream components (Tena et al., 2011; Meng and Zhang, 2013). Both genetic and biochemical studies have identified two different MAPK cascades activated upon flg22 perception. The first consist of MEKK1 (a MAPKKK), MKK4/MKK5 (two MAPKKs), and MPK3/MPK6; and the second cascade is constituted by MEKK1, MKK1/MKK2 (two MAPKKs), and MPK4 (Meng and Zhang, 2013). In the first cascade, MPK3/MPK6 directly phosphorylate cyclin-dependent kinase Cs (CDKCs), which in turn phosphorylate the C-terminal domain (CTD) of RNAPII leading to a simultaneous transcriptional activation of a different subset of genes (Li et al., 2016). However, MAPK can also phosphorylate individual TFs such as WRKY33, ERF6/ERF104, BES1 and ASR3, which are involved in the activation of primary MTI responses (Li et al., 2016). One of the best studied substrates of MAPKs is the family of WRKY plant-specific transcription factors which play both positive and negative

roles during the plant defense response (Buscaill and Rivas, 2014). The *WRKY* gene family harbors >100 members in rice and >70 members in *Arabidopsis* (Tsuda and Somssich, 2015). Members of this family are induced under pathogen attack and abiotic stress, suggesting a wide role in stress responses (Tsuda and Somssich, 2015; Li et al., 2016). For example WRKY members are known to control the expression of genes encoding for *RBOHs* responsible for the respiratory burst. Some particular examples includes *WRKY22* and *WRKY29* that are induced upon flg22 treatment in *Arabidopsis*, while *WRKY33* is induced by necrotrophic fungus to modulate genes involved in the production of phytoalexins (Li et al., 2016). Another MTI response is the formation of callose deposits for the reinforcement of the cell wall. The regulation of genes involved in the biosynthesis and modification of precursors for callose production depend on the MYB51 transcription factor (Li et al., 2016).

Bacteria ingenious strategies: type 3 effectors and the suppression of plant immunity

MTI responses are sufficient to restrict most microbes, while plant pathogens are those able to suppress or evade this first layer of immunity in order to cause disease. One successful adaptation employed by pathogens is the deployment of diverse effectors to suppress the first plant surveillance system at distinct levels (Jones and Dangl, 2006; Lee et al., 2013). As mentioned above, bacterial type 3 effectors (T3Es) are injected through the T3SS into the cytoplasm of the plant cell. Bacterial pathogens can code for around 20-30 effectors proteins while oomycetes or fungi genomes can code hundreds of them (Kamoun, 2006; Lindeberg et al., 2012). The pangenome, full collection of genes, of *P. syringae* code for 57 families of effectors designated as Hop (Hrp outer protein) (Lindeberg et al., 2012). Most of the knowledge of T3E targets inside the host came from the study of Hop proteins. Once inside the cytoplasm they are able to move to distinct organelles to interfere with plant cell immune responses. Among the signaling pathways known to be suppressed by T3Es are PRR complex activation, MAPK signaling, callose deposition, vesicle trafficking, microtubule networks, SA and ROS responses in the chloroplast, NLR signaling activation and RNA metabolism (Block and Alfano, 2011; Deslandes and Rivas, 2012; Lindeberg et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2013; Bigeard et al., 2015). However, despite targeting several host immune processes, effectors seem to target host highly connected proteins (hubs) to subvert plant immune responses. Recent studies of protein-protein interaction networks from effectors and *Arabidopsis* proteins, revealed effectors from three evolutionary diverse pathogen converged on a limited set of highly interacting host proteins (Mukhtar et al., 2011; Webling et al., 2014). Interestingly, this data implies effector target convergence evolved independently in the three kingdoms, suggesting convergence is an important feature in host-pathogen interactions (Webling et al., 2014).

Nevertheless, not all T3Es virulence target are proteins that reside in the cytoplasm, some of them travel to the plant nucleus where a direct interaction with promoters of particular genes explains its virulence function. Members of this particular family of T3Es act as bona fide transcription factors in the plant nucleus, conferring them the name of transcription-activator like (TAL) effectors (Boch et al., 2014). Once in the plant nucleus, TAL effectors bind to promoter regions of *susceptibility* (*S*) genes and thereby promote disease development (Schornack et al., 2013; Boch et al., 2014). In contrast, the plant strategy for the recognition of TAL effectors is considerably different from the recognition strategies for other T3Es and involves the expression of executor *R* (*E*) genes in a TAL effector-dependent fashion (Schornack et al., 2013; Boch et al., 2014). Notably, *E* genes identified to date code for proteins with diverse structure, these proteins have been conceptually classified in two groups (Zhang et al., 2015). The first one includes proteins with a possible function in plat development and physiology, such as Bs3 which is a flavin mono-oxygenase (Römer et al., 2007). The second group consist of small proteins with multiple hydrophobic domains and includes the rest of the identified E proteins (Zhang et al., 2015).

TAL effectors are modular proteins that consist of N-terminal type three secretion signal followed by a unique central variable repeat region and a C-terminal region harboring an acidic activation domain (AAD) and nuclear localization signal (NLS) (Schornack et al., 2013). Both the N-terminal and the C-terminal regions are highly conserved among TALs, while the central repeat region is highly variable and determines the DNA binding and specificity (Mak et al., 2013). Collectively the repeats mediate the direct base-specific interaction with the plant promoters in the so-called effector binding elements (EBEs). Central DNA-binding repeats are usually 33-35 amino acids long with a conserved sequence except in the position 12 and 13 where a high variation in the identity of residues have been found, for this reason these two positions are termed repeat variable diresidues or RVD (Boch et al., 2014). Interestingly, crystal structure studies showed that the base-specific contact with the plant DNA is mediated only by the residue 13 (Deng et al., 2012; Mak et al., 2012). As a result, this residue has also been called the base-specifying residue (BSR) (de Lange et al., 2014).

Although the functional activity of TAL effectors in plant transcription modulation has been well documented during the last years, its role in bacterial virulence has only been recently elucidated. Despite the fact that TAL effectors are non-core T3Es in Xanthomonas, in some cases TAL effector mutants are severely compromised in virulence, and are therefore named "major TALs" (Yang and White, 2004). Interestingly, to date only gene activation, not repression has been proved to be generated through TAL effector binding. To date, plant S genes induced by TAL effectors are transcription factors, sugar transporters, sulfate transporters and genes involved in miRNA stability (Boch et al., 2014; Hutin et al., 2015a). The first reported and most studied host S genes are members of the MtN3/saliva/SWEET family, which encode for membrane proteins with diverse cellular functions (Yang et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2011). It has been showed that at least four different TAL effectors from X. oryzae pv. oryzae (Xoo) induce OsSWEET14 at overlapping or entirely different binding sites (Boch et al., 2014; Hutin et al., 2015a). Since OsSWEET14 codes for a hexose transporter in the plasma membrane that transports sugars to the intercellular space, it has been proposed that it might re-mobilize carbon source to the nutrient poor intercellular spaces for Xanthomonas growth (Chen et al., 2010a; Chen, 2014). Interestingly, TAL effectors from X. citri ssp. citri and Xam also target other members of the SWEET family in citrus and cassava, respectively (Cohn et al., 2014; Hu et al., 2014). Thus, functional convergence of TAL effectors targeting *SWEET* genes reinforces its role as crucial *S* genes in the *Xanthomonas* genus.

Curiously TAL effectors have only been widely identified in species of the genus *Xanthomonas*. Also, TAL effector-like proteins have been identified in *Ralstonia solanacearum* called Ralstonia injected proteins similar to TAL effectors (RipTALs) (de Lange et al., 2013, 2014). RipTAL are known to contain functional NLS and AAD and their base specificity is also defined by the amino acid residue 13 (de Lange et al., 2013). However, compared with *Xanthomonas* TAL effectors, non-RVD residues are also polymorphic with an effect on DNA binding (de Lange et al., 2013). TAL effector-like proteins with variable non-RVDs have also been identified in the fungal endosymbiont *Burkholderia rhizoxinica* (Juillerat et al., 2014). Nevertheless, despite repeat divergence the use of RVDs in both *Xanthomonas* and *B. rhizoxinica* is very similar (Schornack et al., 2013; Juillerat et al., 2014). Functional studies of these TAL effector-like proteins will aid to further understand the relevance of non-RVDs in TAL effector DNA binding and specificity.

Genomic organization and diversification of NLRs

As mentioned above, one of the main strategies pathogens employ to proliferate within host tissues is by sending virulence factors trough the T3SS, called T3Es. In return, plants developed R proteins to halt pathogen proliferation resulting in disease resistance. This "endless arms race" between the pathogen and the host implies a high diversification of both effectors and R proteins. Plant genomes harbor from dozens of R genes coding for NLRs (e.g. 54 in Carica papaya) to almost a thousand of them (e.g. 962 in Malus x domestica) (Porter et al., 2009; Velasco et al., 2010). Genomic analyses indicate both pathogen effectors and plant R genes are located in regions with exceptionally high mutation rates resulting in a rapid generation of diversity (Karasov et al., 2014). Comparative genomic studies have revealed NLR genes are among the most rapidly evolving genes and that new specificities arise as a response to pathogen pressure (Meyers et al., 2005; Guo et al., 2011; Karasov et al., 2014). One possible explanation for the high polymorphic variation in NLR sequences is their genomic location. R loci in the genome are present as either single genes or clusters (Meyers et al., 2005). Single R genes may consist of a unique resistant allele (e.g. *RPM1* in *Arabidopsis*) or multiple alleles (e.g. *L* locus in flax). In Arabidopsis, it has been shown that approximately two-thirds of NLR coding genes are located in 43 clusters (Meyers et al., 2003). Interestingly these clusters of NLRs are associated with high levels of polymorphisms (Clark et al., 2007). Similarly, Medicago truncatula and japonica rice harbor an 80% and 76% of their NLR within clusters, respectively (Zhou et al., 2004; Ameline-Torregrosa et al., 2007). Some of the molecular processes that contributes to NLR diversification include segmental duplications, non-homologous recombination, unequal crossing over, gene conversion and slippage of DNA polymerase (Zhou et al., 2004; Ameline-Torregrosa et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2010b; Guo et al., 2011). Nevertheless, the complete NLR sequence is not subjected to high variation, the C-terminal domain is the most variable region of NLRs and the central region the most conserved (Zhou et al., 2004).

Molecular architecture of NLRs

NLRs are modular proteins with three different evolving building blocks: a variable N-terminal region followed by a conserved central NB domain and a C-terminal LRR domain with variable

repeat number (Takken and Goverse, 2012). According to the domains present in their Nterminal region, NLRs fall in two major groups. NLRs with a Toll-interleukin 1 receptor (TIR) domain are called TNLs, and those with a Coiled-coil (CC) are called CNLs (Griebel et al., 2014; Takken and Goverse, 2012). LRR is the most variable domain and is mainly involved in effector recognition (Griebel et al., 2014; Michelmore et al., 2013). Although the LRR motif is present in proteins with diverse biological functions, structural studies of this motif suggest it provides a suitable framework for protein-protein interactions (Kobe, 2001; Bella et al., 2008). The domain is composed of repetitive LRR motifs from of 20-29 residues in length with interspaced hydrophobic residues (Bella et al., 2008). The number of repeats can vary dramatically. In Arabidopsis NLRs range from 8 to 25 repeats (Mevers et al., 2003; Tamura and Tachida, 2011). To date, there is a lack of crystal structure for plant NLRs, nevertheless structural studies from receptors harboring LRR in other species have been used for homology-based modeling (Sela et al., 2012). Canonical LRRs display a banana-shape with β sheets on the concave surfaces and α helices on their convex surfaces harboring solvent exposed residues for ligand interactions and hydrophobic residues conferring structure stability (Bella et al., 2008). The high sequence similarity and repetitions predisposes the LRR domain to diversification via duplications, deletions and fusion events. In particular, the uncommon phenomenon of illegitimate recombination have been proposed to drive initial duplication events in the LRR domain (Wicker et al., 2007).

In contrast, the central and N-terminal domains are more conserved regions involved in NLR activation and signal transduction (Takken and Goverse, 2012; Jacob et al., 2013). Plant NLRs belong to the AP-ATPase family of STAND (signal transduction ATPases with numerous domains) proteins (Lukasik and Takken, 2009; Bonardi et al., 2012). The ATPase activity of NLR is encoded in the NB domain which possess several conserved motifs important for its ADP/ATP binding function (van Ooijen et al., 2008a). Since the NB domain of R proteins is shared with the human apoptotic protease-activating factor 1 (Apaf-1) and its *Caenorhabditis elegans* homolog CED-4, this domain is also referred as the NB-ARC domain (<u>n</u>ucleotide <u>b</u>inding domain shared between <u>A</u>paf-1, <u>r</u>esistance proteins and <u>CED4</u>) (van der Biezen and Jones, 1998). No crystal structure is available for a plant NB-ARC domain, but the structure of animal NLRs including APAF-1 and recently NLRC4 have provided insights into the NB-ARC structure and dynamics (Stefan et al., 2005; Hu et al., 2013). These structural studies indicate NB-ARC domain is subdivided in four subdomains NB, ARC1, ARC2 and ARC3. However, plant NLRs lack the ARC3 subdomain which is important for animal NLRs oligomerization (Griebel et al., 2014). The NB subdomain has five

conserved motifs: hhGRExE, Walker-A/P-loop, RNBS-A, Walker-B/kinase 2 and RNBS-B/hhhhToR (Meyers et al., 2003; Leipe et al., 2004). Among this five, Walker-A and Walker-B are highly conserved motifs for P-loop NTPases (Takken et al., 2006). Near the N- terminus of the Walker-A motif, one conserved motif called hhGRExE is present. This motif has a predicted helical structure and may represent a linker region between the N-terminal domain and the NB subdomain (Leipe et al., 2004). Walker-A motif has the GVGKTT consensus sequence for both TNLs and CNLs (Lukasik and Takken, 2009). The lysine residue in this sequence might be responsible for binding to α -phosphate moiety of the bound nucleotide, while the next two threonine residues possibly interact with Mg⁺⁺ ion (Walker et al., 1982; Takken et al., 2006). On the other hand, the first aspartate in the Walker-B motif is required for nucleotide binding and ATPase activity and also coordinates the Mg⁺⁺ ion (van Ooijen et al., 2008b; Bonardi et al., 2012).

In the ARC subdomains ARC1 forms a four-helix bundle and ARC2 adopts a winged-helix fold (van Ooijen et al., 2008b; Griebel et al., 2014). In contrast to the NB and ARC2 subdomains, no mutations to produce a gain or loss of function have been reported in the ARC1 subdomain (van Ooijen et al., 2008b). A single motif with the consensus sequence GLPLA is found in the ARC1 and two in ARC2 named RNBS-D and MHD (Lukasik and Takken, 2009). The majority of mutations that produce HR in the absence of the pathogen or a cognate Avr proteins, called autoactivating mutations, map to the MHD motif in the ARC2 subdomain (van Ooijen et al., 2008b). An aspartate (D) to valine (V) substitution in the third residue of this motif in the potato NLR Rx induced an HR when transiently expressed in *N. benthamiana* leaves (Bendahmane et al., 2002). The D to V substitution has shown to induce autoactivity in other NLRs such as L6, I-2, M, MLA10, RPM1, ADR-L2, Rp1-D21 and PM3F (De La Fuente Van Bentem et al., 2005; Howles et al., 2005; Rairdan and Moffett, 2006; Gao et al., 2011; Williams et al., 2011; Bai et al., 2012; Roberts et al., 2013; Stirnweis et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2015c).

The N-terminal region is highly variable for both TNLs and CNLs (Takken and Goverse, 2012; Griebel et al., 2014). Interestingly CNLs are present in both monocots and dicots, whereas TNLs are restricted to dicots (Yue et al., 2012; Jacob et al., 2013). Crystal structure from the N-terminal region of CNL of barley MLA10 and L6 a TNL from flax are now available. In MLA10, two CC protomers forms a rod-shape homodimer with an extensive interactive surface (Maekawa et al., 2011a). Homology-based remote modeling suggest RPM1 and Lr10 CC domain produce similar structures (Sela et al., 2012). Similarly, structural analysis of the TIR domain from L6 indicates it forms an asymmetrical globular shape unit with two monomers (Bernoux et al., 2011b). This

structure is similar to other proteins consisting only on a TIR domain (Chan et al., 2010). These molecular and structural studies suggest that regardless of the N-terminal domain, both TNLs and CNLs adopt dimer conformation important for downstream immune signaling.

Pathogen recognition by NLRs

Once Flor's hypothesis settles the genetic basis of plant-pathogen interactions, the next step was to decipher how plant R proteins detect pathogen effectors. One molecular explanation for this hypothesis implies a direct interaction between the NLR and the effector proteins (Cui et al., 2015). Several *in vitro* interaction assays and yeast two-hybrid have demonstrated direct NLR-effector interactions in genes from flax (AvrM-M; AvrL567-L5/L6), *Arabidopsis* (RRS1-PopC2) and rice (AvrPita-Pi-ta; AvrPik-Pik) (Jia et al., 2000; Deslandes et al., 2003; Dodds et al., 2006; Catanzariti et al., 2010; Kanzaki et al., 2012; Ravensdale et al., 2012). Nevertheless, not all studied NLRs have shown to directly interact with its cognate effector and sometimes there is a lack of one to one correlation between NLR/Avr interactions.

Recent studies suggest an emerging panorama whereas one NLR or NLRs pair can recognize more than one effector protein. A second explanation for Avr recognition is an indirect detection of pathogen effectors by sensing its action on a set of host proteins (Khan et al., 2016). Three models for indirect recognition have been proposed, the guard model, the decoy model and the integrated decoy model. In the guard model, a NLR is bound and monitoring (guarding) a host factor involved in immunity that is modified by the effector (Jones and Dangl, 2006). Molecular evidence for this model comes from studies of two plasma membrane CNL receptors: RPM1 (resistance to *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. maculicola 1) and RPS2 (resistance to *Pseudomonas syringae* 2). Both RPM1 and RPS2 are constitutively guarding RIN4 (RPM1-interacting protein 4), which is targeted by three different *P. syringae* effectors: AvrB, AvrRpt2 and AvrRpm1 (Axtell and Staskawicz, 2003; Mackey et al., 2003; Kim et al., 2005). In the absence of AvrB, AvrRpt2 or AvrRpm1, RIN4 is a regulator of MAMP defense signaling (Kim et al., 2005; Liu et al., 2009). Once *P. syringae* deliver AvrB, AvrRpt2 or AvrRpm1 they target RIN4 and associated proteins to disrupt MTI signaling. This perturbation in RIN4 is sensed by RPM1 and RPS2 eliciting a resistance response. However, the guard model does not explain well the fact that pathogen effectors target some monitored host factors that are not involved in immunity. In this scenario, the decoy model states these host factors, that are similar in structure to defense factors, serve as baits to trap effectors and trigger ETI (van der Hoorn and Kamoun, 2008). The biological function of AvrAC/XopAC, a T3E from *X. campestris* pv. campestris (*Xcc*), represents an interesting example with molecular support of this model. AvrAC virulence function relies on the uridylylation of receptor-like cytoplasmic kinases, including BIK1, in order to inhibit its kinase activity and consequently to block the downstream immune signaling in *Arabidopsis* (Feng et al., 2012). Similarly, a paralog of BIK1, PBL2 is also a substrate of AvrAC. Once AvrAC uridylylates PBL2, it is recognized by a pseudokinase-NLR complex (RKS1-ZAR1) to trigger ETI (Wang et al., 2015b). Thus, *Arabidopsis* has evolved decoy substrates with any other apparent function, such as PBL2, solely to recognize effector activity and trigger immunity.

Lately an integrated decoy model has been proposed as a third mechanism to explain effector recognition by NLRs pairs (Cesari et al., 2014). At least eight physically linked NLRs pairs have been identified in several genomes from both monocots and dicots, but perhaps the most studied are the CNL pair RGA4/RGA5 (resistance gene analog 4 and 5) from rice and the TNL pair RPS4 (resistance to *Pseudomomas syringae4*)/RRS1 (resistance to *Ralstonia solanacearum1*) from *Arabidopsis* (Cesari et al., 2014; Griebel et al., 2014). In this model two NLRs forming a heterodimeric complex are necessary for the recognition of effector proteins. One NLR acts as a receptor for Avr recognition (RRS1 and RGA5) and the other for downstream signaling (RPS4 and RGA4) (Cesari et al., 2014). In the case of RGA5 the bait is integrated in the C-terminal region (RATX1 domain) working as a decoy for effector recognition while in the case of RRS1 there is WRKY domain.

NLR activation and signaling

Several structural and biochemical studies indicate in the absence of pathogens NLRs are in a resting auto-inhibited state. As a consequence of pathogen perception by LRR domain, a signal is transduced to the rest of the protein to lift the steady-state intramolecular inhibition conferred by

the N-terminal region of the LRR domain (Takken and Goverse, 2012). A role of the LRR domain in auto-inhibition of NLRs was demonstrated with domain swap studies in RPS5 where the LRR domain was shown to suppress the activity of RPS5 in the absence of PBS1 cleavage (Qi et al., 2012). As mentioned earlier, mutations in several motifs on NB-ARC domain usually result in autoactivity, suggesting that in the absence of a pathogen, this domain exert a negative regulatory activity (Howles et al., 2005; Rairdan and Moffett, 2006; Gao et al., 2011; Williams et al., 2011; Roberts et al., 2013; Stirnweis et al., 2014). Studies on I-2 and Mi-1 from tomato, L and M from flax, and MLA27 from barley have shown these proteins function as molecular "switch" where the resting "off" state is bound to ADP, while the active "on" conformation is bound to ATP (Tameling et al., 2002; Maekawa et al., 2011a; Williams et al., 2011). Upon pathogen recognition, the LRR domain releases the intramolecular inhibition and a distinct configuration is adopted facilitating ADP exchange to ATP leading to NLR activation. Evidence of this model has been observed in I-2 from tomato and the M from flax were ATP bound states results in activation (Tameling et al., 2006; Williams et al., 2011). In addition, the open state conformation seem to expose certain areas that might be involved in the interaction with other proteins (Takken and Goverse, 2012). Supporting this idea, yeast-two hybrid assays indicate ADP, ATP and empty states display distinct interaction patterns confirming the intermolecular interactions in activation model (Lukasik-Shreepaathy et al., 2012).

Despite the variability of the C-terminal region of NLRs, its role in NLR function seems to be restricted to effector recognition and intramolecular molecular inhibition of the NB-ARC and N-terminal domains in the absence of the pathogen (Takken and Goverse, 2012). Structural studies suggest the N- and C-terminal regions of the LRR domain forms two subdomains that might be involved in two different functions (Sela et al., 2012). The LRR domain from Lr10 from wheat, Rx from potato, MLA10 from barley and L from flax possess solvent exposed highly variable regions under positive selection which is in concordance with a role in pathogen recognition and ligand binding (Dodds et al., 2006; Farnham and Baulcombe, 2006; Seeholzer et al., 2010; Sela et al., 2012). Perhaps one of the most studied interactions is the direct recognition of AvrL567 by L5 and L6. The presence of polymorphisms in the N- and C-terminal in the LRR domain of *L* alleles and its requirement for pathogen specificity of AvrL567 variants, suggest AvrL567 interact with both ends of the banana-shaped structure of the LRR domain of L5/L6 (Ravensdale et al., 2012). Also, single, double and triple mutants in AvrL567 showed additive and cumulative contribution to recognition specificity. Furthermore, polymorphisms in the NB- ARC and TIR domains affects effector binding, suggesting AvrL567 competes for binding with intramolecular interactions that

maintain the NLR in an inactive signaling state (Ravensdale et al., 2012). This is in accordance with the current model of NLR activation (Takken and Goverse, 2012; Cui et al., 2015).

Crystal structure studies of the CC and TIR domains from MLA10 and L6, respectively, indicate both proteins forms homodimers that result in induction of a cell-death response (Maekawa et al., 2011a; Bernoux et al., 2011b). However, it seems that MLA CC forms a constitutive dimer, while TIR dimers from L6 and N are formed after pathogen perception, demonstrating important differences in the activation of TNL receptors compared with CNL receptors (Mestre, 2006; Maekawa et al., 2011a; Bernoux et al., 2011b). An HR was also evidenced when the CC and TIR domains alone were transiently expressed in the absence of the pathogen, indicating oligomeric complexes are required for both CNL and TNL signaling (Bernoux et al., 2011b; Maekawa et al., 2011a). These results also suggest the N-terminal domain harbor self-sufficient signaling activities. Similarly, the NB-ARC domain of the CNL receptor from Rx in potato, which confer resistance to Potato virus X (PVX) has also showed to be sufficient to induce a cell-death response (Rairdan et al., 2008). Nevertheless, the elicitation of a hypersensitive cell-death response as a truly indicative of resistance via NLR signaling activation is still not clear. Several studies indicate a restriction in pathogen growth is uncoupled from the elicitation of host cell death in the infection site, suggesting plant immunity does not require cell death per se (Bendahmane et al., 1999; Gassmann, 2005; Coll et al., 2010; Heidrich et al., 2011; Bai et al., 2012). Interestingly, it appears that nucleocytoplasmic traffic is required for MLA10 from barley, N from tobacco and RPS4 and SNC1 from *Arabidopsis* to induce a resistance response (Shen and Schulze-Lefert, 2007; Bernoux et al., 2011a; Heidrich et al., 2011; Bai et al., 2012). Even though nuclear localization signals (NLS) have not been identified in many of these receptors, their nuclear localization is required for resistance (Burch-Smith et al., 2007; Meier and Somers, 2011; Bai et al., 2012). For example, after pathogen detection MLA10 is known to localize in the nucleus where is recruited by WRKY transcription factors leading to immune transcriptional reprogramming (Shen et al., 2007). In the absence of the pathogen, these WRKY transcription factors act as negative regulators of PTI. Posterior work showed that cell death signaling activity of MLA10 is suppressed in the nucleus but enhanced in the cytoplasm (Bai et al., 2012). Interestingly, nuclear MLA10 is capable of conferring disease resistance despite cell death signaling was found to be suppressed in this compartment (Bai et al., 2012). These findings provide a model where cell death signaling uncouples from disease resistance in a compartment- dependent manner. The opposite seems to occur with potato Rx where the cytoplasmic Rx is required for signaling activation, however both nuclear and cytoplasmic Rx pools are necessary for the correct regulation of defense signaling (Slootweg et al., 2010). In this scenario, a unique model of NLR activation and resistance signaling cannot be established, instead different models of subcellular localization and NLR signaling activation have been proposed (Bernoux et al., 2011a), suggesting

multiple downstream signaling pathways once NLRs are activated.

NLRs regulation

Since the activation of NLRs is related with the induction of an HR they are under strict molecular regulation with critical and low NLRs expression levels. One of the early regulatory nodes in NLR activation is their transcriptional control. Recent studies of natural epigenomic variation in Arabidopsis indicate the NLRs gene family display the higher frequency of differentially methylated regions, suggesting a high transcriptional regulation (Schmitz et al., 2013). An example that supports this idea is the transcriptional regulation of RPP4 and SNC1, two TNLs from Arabidopsis. Both SNC1 and RPP4 require the nuclear protein MOS9 to regulate its expression levels through the histone methyltransferase ATXR7 (Xia et al., 2013). Global analysis of Arabidopsis NLRs show general low expression levels with tissue-specific expression patterns (Tan et al., 2007). Similar results were recently obtained from genome-wide analysis of NLRs in sorghum were they showed low basal expression levels (Wang et al., 2016). This is consistent with the notion that NLRs are low expressed to constitutively respond to pathogen attack and subsequently induce a rapid signaling response (Michelmore et al., 2013). Recent transcriptomic analysis suggests some NLRs expression is induced after pathogen perception in Malus x domestica while in Eucalyptus some NLRs are differentially expressed in resistant compared with susceptible cultivars (Arya et al., 2014; Christie et al., 2016). An induced expression after pathogen treatment has been demonstrated for the RPP family through WRKY transcription factors (Mohr et al., 2010). A pathogen-induced expression has also been demonstrated for CNLs in rice such as Xa1, Xa3, Xa27 and Pib; the barley Mla6 and Mla13; and in Solanaceus N and RB TNL genes (Yoshimura et al., 1998; Halterman, 2003; Levy et al., 2004; Cao et al., 2007; Kramer et al., 2009). This data indicate NLRs display a low basal expression in unchallenged plants and that several stimuli during compatible or incompatible interactions might lead to their upregulation. However this was not the case in a global expression analysis in Arabidopsis where most of NLRs

studied did not significantly change their expression levels when treated with SA or JA (Tan et al., 2007). This conflictive data also suggest NLRs expression could be regulated by several molecular mechanisms.

Furthermore some NLR RNAs are known to exhibit co-transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulation. RNA regulation in NLRs includes alternative splicing, RNA silencing via microRNAs and siRNAs (small interfering RNAs) and nonsense-mRNA decay (Staiger et al., 2013). Genome wide analysis indicate at least 30 genes Arabidopsis are known to suffer alternative splicing (Wang and Brendel, 2006; Tan et al., 2007). In wheat some alleles of Lr19 show alternative splicing sites in the LRR domain that results in a difference of five LRR motifs. However, the shorter alternative variant still produces an arc-shaped LRR suggesting it might be involved in the recognition of other pathogen races (Sela et al., 2012). Several families of microRNAs have been identified to target mRNA of TNLs and CNLs from Solanaceus plants and legumes (Zhai et al., 2011; Li et al., 2012a; Shivaprasad et al., 2012). In particular, the superfamily that includes miR482 and miR2118 target the coding sequence of the P-loop motif in NLRs mRNA from tomato (Shivaprasad et al., 2012). In *M. truncatula* microRNAs regulate more than 60% of NLRs through phased trans-acting siRNAs, a regulation network important for their symbiosis with Rhizobia that is apparently absent in Arabidopsis (Zhai et al., 2011). Recently, nonsense-mediated mRNA decay (NMD) was shown to control the turnover of several TNLs from Arabidopsis (Gloggnitzer et al., 2014). Thus, NMD function at the post-transcriptional level controlling the threshold for activation of TNLs. In addition to co- and post-transcriptional regulation of mRNA, the protein degradation machinery further regulates NLR protein levels. Some of the proteins required for proper folding of NLRs are HSP90, an ATP-operated molecular chaperone, co-chaperones RAR1, PP5 and SGT1, and ATP-independent small HSP (Cheng and Li, 2012; Takken and Goverse, 2012). As an example, silencing of RSI2, a small HSP, compromised the development of an HR and the accumulation of I-2R, suggesting its importance for the stability and function of I-2R (Van Ooijen et al., 2010). However, not all chaperones are positive regulators for NLR stability, SGT1 appears to be a negative regulator of NLR accumulation (Takken and Goverse, 2012). SGT1 is known to interact with the ubiquitin E3 ligase SCF (Skp1-Cullin-F-box) complex that target proteins for proteasome degradation (Cheng and Li, 2012; Takken and Goverse, 2012).

Enhancing plant resistance to diseases through the knowledge of molecular plant-microbe interactions

One of the main goals for crop improvement is to obtain durable and broad-spectrum resistance (DBSR). Durable resistance (DR) is a concept used to refer the efficiency in large land extensions during a prolonged period of time, suitable for the development of the disease (Kou and Wang, 2010). On the other hand, broad-spectrum resistance (BSR) is defined to as the resistance for two or more variants of a pathogen species or to most of the races of the same species (Kou and Wang, 2010). To accomplish DBSR in crop plants distinct approaches have been successfully employed. Notably, the study of the genetics and molecular determinants of qualitative and quantitative resistance combined with pathogen virulence have proven to be valuable and robust strategies to achieve DBSR (Boyd et al., 2013; Dangl et al., 2013; Michelmore et al., 2013).

Understanding the role of plant immune receptors in disease resistance have allowed to develop several strategies which have proven to be successful to improve resistance to diseases (Boyd et al., 2013). One strategy is based on the use of PRRs to recognize conserved MAMPs to species that lack them. The first example was the use of EFR. EFR is restricted to the Brassicaceae family and was transferred to tobacco and tomato (Solanaceae) where it showed enhanced resistance to different bacterial pathogens (Lacombe et al., 2010). Recently, transgenic introduction of XA21 from rice to tomato, banana and sweet orange was shown to confer interfamily resistance to diseases caused by *Xanthomonas* and *Pseudomonas* (Mendes et al., 2010; Afroz et al., 2011; Tripathi et al., 2014). Also, the PRR called *Verticillium 1 (Ve1)* from tomato was transferred to *Arabidopsis* conferring resistance to *Verticillium* isolates (Fradin et al., 2011). These results suggest a relatively high degree of conservation of the PTI transduction pathways and the ability of PRRs from different plant species to activate an effective immune response.

A second strategy for crop improvement has been the cross-species introduction of NLRs (Mukhtar, 2013). The knowledge of effector distribution across distinct pathogens led to an effector-based approach for NLR cross-species transference (Dangl et al., 2013). The first notable example of this rationality was the transference of *Bs2* from pepper to tomato (Tai et al., 1999). This approach has been extensively used among related Solanaceae species and also within Poaceae species (Wulff et al., 2011). However, when NLRs are stably transferred to distant related species they have failed to show the expected improved resistance (Tai et al., 1999; Wulff et al., 2011). As mentioned earlier, our understanding of NLR implies a co-evolution between the host and adapted pathogens, leading to the so-called gene-for-gene or race-specific resistance. This

denotes a taxonomical restriction on NLR function, by which NLRs functional range is limited to the same species or close-related species within the same family, a phenomenon called restricted taxonomic functionality (Tai et al., 1999; Wulff et al., 2011; Mukhtar, 2013). Nevertheless, three studies have shown enhanced resistance conferred by stable transgenic expression of NLRs from distant families (Xiao et al., 2003; Maekawa et al., 2012; Narusaka et al., 2013). The first was achieved using two atypical R genes from the RPW8 (resistance to powdery mildew8) locus called *RPW8.1* and *RPW8.2* that confer BSR to powdery mildew fungi in *Arabidopsis* (Xiao et al., 2001). RPW8 belong to a distinct class of R genes coding for receptors harboring an N-terminal transmembrane domain and a rare CC domain, however are known to recruit proteins required for NLR activation (Xiao et al., 2001, 2005). Remarkably, transgenic plants of N. benthamiana and N. tabacum expressing RPW8.1 and RPW8.2 from Arabidopsis showed enhanced resistance to powdery mildew pathogens Erysiphe orontii and Oidium lycopersici (Xiao et al., 2003). Besides this report, two recent studies showed further support of NLRs downstream signaling conservation across distant plant lineages (Maekawa et al., 2012; Narusaka et al., 2013). As mentioned above, RPS4 and RRS1 are two genetically linked TNLs from Arabidopsis that function together to confer resistance against *Colletotrichum higginsianum* and *Pst DC3000* carrying the effector AvrRps4 and *R. solanacearum* strains, which express the PopP2 effector (Deslandes et al., 2003; Narusaka et al., 2009). Importantly, the transference of RPS4 and RRS1 to other species from the Brassicaceae family (Brassica rapa and Brassica napus), but also to other species from the Solanaceae family (S. lycopersicum and N. benthamiana) and to cucumber (Cucubirtaceae) conferred resistance to bacterial and fungal pathogens (Narusaka et al., 2013). A remarkable example was the functional transference of a CNL receptor from monocots to dicots, lineages that diverged nearly 200 million years ago (Maekawa et al., 2012). The receptor MLA1 from barley was expressed in partially immunocompromised *Arabidopsis* plants where it showed to be fully functional and conferred isolate specific resistance to the barley pathogen *Blumeria graminis* f. sp. hordei (Maekawa et al., 2012). All together these studies have shown the possibility of R gene transfer between related and distant species.

A third strategy to engineer disease resistance has been achieved through the knowledge of TAL effector biology. As mentioned earlier, TAL effectors work as transcription factors to induce the expression of genes via binding to EBEs in the promoter region of host genes. TAL effectors dependent *R* genes have been classified as recessive, dominant non-transcriptional and dominant transcriptionally induced by TAL effectors (Zhang et al., 2015). The first group, recessive *R* genes, emerge from loss-of-function of susceptibility *(S)* alleles (Schornack et al., 2013; Hutin et al.,

2015a). In rice, two recessive resistance alleles, xa13 and xa25, arise from EBE variants in the promoter region of OsSWEET11 and OsSWEET13 that avoid TAL effector binding leading to loss of susceptibility (Chu et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2015). Recently, a study of natural diversity on the promoter region of OsSWEET14 reveals an allele named xa41 with deletion in a region with overlapping effector-binding sites (Hutin et al., 2015b). The knowledge of loss-offunction of S alleles in plant defense have been successfully employed to engineer resistant rice plants by genome editing of EBE regions on S alleles promoter (Li et al., 2012b). The second group, dominant non-transcriptional R genes, is represented by traditional R genes encoding for NLR proteins that are also able to recognize TAL effectors to trigger defense responses (Zhang et al., 2015). Intriguingly only one NLR, the TNL from tomato Bs4, have been reported to recognize TAL effectors to activate defense responses (Schornack et al., 2004; Kay et al., 2005). The third and perhaps the most studied group of TAL effectors dependent R genes are dominant and transcriptionally induced by TAL effectors, also called executor R(E) genes (Schornack et al., 2013; Boch et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2015). To date, five E genes along with their cognate TAL effector gene have been cloned: Xa27-avrXa27, Xa10-avrXa10, and Xa23-avrXa23 from rice and Bs3-avrBs3 from pepper and Bs4C-avrBs4 from tomato (Gu et al., 2005; Römer et al., 2007; Strauss et al., 2012; Tian et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2015a). Interestingly, E genes code for proteins with diverse structure and no homology to traditional NLR resistance proteins (Zhang et al., 2015). On the contrary, its specificity relies in their direct transcriptional activation by cognate TAL effectors which is known to induce an HR response and the restriction of pathogen growth in the infection site (Schornack et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2015). For this reason, E genes are considered as modular systems, with a promoter that works as a TAL effector sensing domain and a downstream coding sequence involved in defense execution (Boch et al., 2014). This modularity of E genes have been exploited to engineer TAL inducible promoter for downstream E genes known as activator promoter traps (Schornack et al., 2013; Boch et al., 2014). Two studies have successfully employed promoter traps with customized EBEs from different pathogens to induce the expression of Xa27 with broaden functional specificity to distinct pathogens (Römer et al., 2009; Hummel et al., 2012a). Recently a similar strategy was employed in rice where BSR to Xoo was obtained by engineering a modification of the Xa10 promoter using five tandemly arranged EBEs leading the expression of *Xa10* (Zeng et al., 2015).

Taken together, these different strategies show the importance on how the comprehension of molecular plant-microbe interactions might lead to achieve broad-spectrum disease resistance. Although, BSR has been achieved primarily through individual PRR, NLR and *E* genes, it will be

interesting to conceive as a long term goal to stack PRR, NLR and *E* genes in a single loci to confer DBSR.

Quantitative resistance on durable and broad-spectrum resistance

Plant resistance can be determined by monogenic *R* genes conferring full or complete resistance. This type of resistance, given its genetic determinism, has been largely studied. However, very often plants show different levels of resistance. In this case, phenotypes range from partial to full resistant. Partial or incomplete resistant phenotypes are governed by several loci, each with a minor contribution to resistance. Quantitative disease resistance (QDR), also called partial or polygenic resistance, is referred to as the resistance determined by several genes with small additive effects (St.Clair, 2010; Niks et al., 2015). In contrast to qualitative disease resistance, QDR confers a reduction rather than a lack of disease (St.Clair, 2010). Since QDR is governed by several loci, is difficult to exploit it in breading programs compared with qualitative resistance. Nevertheless, given its polygenic nature, QDR is more robust and durable through years and less likely to be overcome by evolving pathogens populations (St.Clair, 2010; Boyd et al., 2013). Loci governing QDR have obtained attention recently since it can represent valuable sources for the deployment of DBSR through gene pyramiding (Singh et al., 2011).

To understand the molecular mechanisms involved in QDR several quantitative trait loci (QTL) have been recently identified. Although durable resistance has no particular molecular basis, to date durable genes isolated from QTLs are structurally diverse (Poland et al., 2009; St.Clair, 2010; Niks et al., 2015; French et al., 2016). Based on the structure and putative function of these genes, as well as on the nature of the quantitative resistance, several hypotheses have been proposed to explain its underlying molecular mechanism (Poland et al., 2009). Some hypothesis suggest that QDR might be related with a quantitative variation of MTI or ETI components, and others hypothesis imply completely different mechanisms for QDR loci such as defense transduction or developmental and morphological characters involved in non-host resistance (Poland et al., 2009). To date, at least eleven genes have been isolated to contribute to QDR (French et al., 2016). The lists of QDR genes cloned include at least five distinct types of kinases, two transporters and four NLRs. In wheat, *Yr36* was the first QDR gene coding for kinase that conferred a BS and

temperature-dependent resistance to wheat stripe rust (Fu et al., 2009). In maize, two non-RD wall-associated receptor-like kinases (WAK) have been identified as QDR genes. The first, ZmWAK was identified from a major QTL locus, qHSR1, and it is located in the plasma membrane and acts as a receptor to perceive and transduce extracellular signals (Zuo et al., 2015). The second, the maize *R* gene *htn1* was identified as a wall-associated receptor-like kinase (WAK-RLK) responsible for broad-spectrum QDR in maize (Hurni et al., 2015). Interestingly, an atypical kinase, RKS1, associated with BSR in *Arabidopsis* is involved in the recognition of AvrAC and triggers an ETI-dependent response (Huard-Chauveau et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2015b).

In contrast, four reports have shown NLRs underlying QDR. First, two studies reported *RGC1* and *RLM1* as genes conferring QDR to anthracnose stalk rot in maize and blackleg disease in *Arabidopsis*, respectively (Staal et al., 2006; Broglie et al., 2009). Recently, two genes coding for NLRs, *Pi35* and the NLR pair *RPS4/RRS1* have been identified as QDR genes from rice and *Arabidopsis*, respectively (Fukuoka et al., 2014; Debieu et al., 2016). *Pi35* is a durable race-specific QTL used in rice breading programs since 1961 (Nguyen et al., 2006). Interestingly, functional polymorphisms in *Pi35* were found to contributive in a cumulative fashion to enhance resistance (Fukuoka et al., 2014). In addition to *Pi35* in rice, the well-known *Arabidopsis* RPS4/RRS1 pair of NLRs was recently found to be involved in QDR race-specific resistance to *X. campestris* (Debieu et al., 2016).

In summary, during the last decade different studies have provided new information regarding QDR underlying molecular mechanism. Notably, recent studies showed how the knowledge of genes underlying QDR to rice blast has been nicely employed in the development of durable resistance trough gene pyramiding (Fukuoka et al., 2015; Yasuda et al., 2015). This reinforces the substantial value of the study of quantitative resistance for crop breading.

Recent progress aiming to understand cassava-Xam interactions

The knowledge of plant immunity have mainly derived from studies on the model plant species *Arabidopsis thaliana* and few crop species of economic interest such as rice and tomato. However, food security of most of the tropical countries rely on non-well studied plant species (orphan

crops), including tuber crops as cassava, as a main caloric source. Several studies have shown the limitation to extrapolate the knowledge and information of model plants to economical important crops. This highlights the necessity to perform research to gain information on the molecular basis of resistance for each particular crop to incorporate this data in the breeding programs.

As early mentioned, cassava clonal multiplication render this crop highly prone to different pest and diseases. A source of cassava resistance to both CMD and CBB are known to be present in the wild relative, *M. glaziovii*, for this reason cassava breeding efforts have exploited this resistance source into the development of elite cultivars (Hahn et al., 1979, 1980; Ceballos et al., 2012). Regarding bacterial disease, cassava resistance to CBB has been proposed to be quantitative, polygenic and additively inherited. In fact, several QTLs have been identified to different *Xam* strains (Hahn et al., 1979, 1980; Jorge et al., 2000). This notion of CBB quantitative resistance is supported by the fact that CBB phenotypes in cassava cultivars range from very susceptible to moderately resistant to different *Xam* strains (Jorge et al., 2000; Wydra et al., 2004; López and Bernal, 2012). Interestingly, cytochemical studies on inoculated cassava tissues suggest there is a variation in colonization and penetration rates into the vascular tissue that explains the difference between resistant and susceptible cultivars (Kpemoua et al., 1996).

Studies on *Xam* population structure have provided information about its geographic distribution and diversity, important factors for the selection of host resistance in breading programs. During the 1980s and the 1990s *Xam* populations were characterized in South America, Africa and Asia, and it was found that South American populations were the most diverse (Verdier et al., 1993, 1994; Restrepo and Verdier, 1997; Verdier et al., 1998; Restrepo et al., 2000b). Among *Xam* populations from South America, Brazilian populations were found to be the most diverse, compared with Colombia and Venezuela, which is in accordance with the origin center of cassava. In Colombia, the geographical regions that harbor higher diversity were the Caribbean coast and the Eastern plains (Restrepo and Verdier, 1997). More recently, during 2008-2010, the current status of *Xam* populations was assessed in the Caribbean coast and the Eastern plains (Trujillo et al., 2014b, 2014a). A comparison of *Xam* populations in both ecozones indicates that pathogen populations are more diverse in the Caribbean coast (Trujillo et al., 2014a). A pathotype analysis was also conducted in different cassava cultivars, but a lack of correlation was observed when compared with AFLPs haplotypes (Trujillo et al., 2014b). Regarding *Xam* pathogenicity factors, analysis derived from *XamCl0151* genome sequence reveals the presence of genes coding for proteins involved in the six types of secretion systems described so far in Gram-negative bacteria (Arrieta-Ortiz et al., 2013). In terms of the T3Es, twenty-eight genes were identified in *Xam*, nine of these seemed to be conserved in all strains evaluated from three continents (Bart et al., 2012; Arrieta-Ortiz et al., 2013). Recent results derived from mutagenesis of T3Es have revealed that XopZ, XopX, XopAO1, XopN, XopQ and AvrBs2 constitute important virulence factors (Medina et al., in press). In the last years, information about *Xam* TAL effectors biology has become available. The first TAL effector described in *Xam* is TALE1 (previously named pthB) and is a major virulence factor in the *Xam* strain CFBP1851 (Castiblanco et al., 2013). Transcriptomic analyses of cassava plants have identified a heat shock transcription factor as a gene induced in response to TALE1 (Muñoz-Bodnar et al., 2014). In addition, *S* genes targeted by TAL effectors from *Xam668* and *XamCl0151* have also been identified (Cohn et al., 2014, 2016). Interestingly, a member of the *SWEET* family in cassava, *MeSWEET10a*, was reported to be induced by TAL20 from *Xam668* (Cohn et al., 2014).

In relation to molecular determinants of resistance to CBB, studies based on conserved domains among NLRs proteins has led to the identification and mapping of resistance genes candidates (RGCs) in cassava (López et al., 2003). Additional mapping strategies led to the identification of one RGC associated with a QTL in the linkage group U, that explained 62% of resistance to *XamCl0151* and was called *RXam2* (Resistance to <u>Xam 2</u>) (López et al., 2007). The availability of the cassava genome sequence allowed the identification of this RGC as a CNL protein. On the other hand, but also based on QTL analysis to a different *Xam* strain, a gene similar to *Xa21* was identified to co-localize with a QTL explaining 13% of resistance to *XamCl0136* (Jorge et al., 2000). This gene was called *RXam1* (Resistance to <u>Xam 1</u>). More recently, two studies have identified and mapped immunity related-genes in the cassava genome (Lozano et al., 2015; Soto et al., 2015). Still, to date no *R* genes have been cloned and functionally validated in cassava.

For the reasons mentioned above, this work aims to contribute to the functional characterization of two resistance gene candidates, *RXam1* and *RXam2*, and also to evaluate the feasibility of interfamily transfer of *Bs2* to cassava in order to confer resistance to CBB. To achieve these goals, in a first time, *Bs2* was overexpressed in stable transgenic cassava plants and the ability to produce defense response to *Xam* strains was evaluated. Second, the *RXam1* gene coding for a RLK, was overexpressed in susceptible plants and showed to restrict *XamCl0136* growth on *in vitro* plants. Third, both silencing and overexpression of *RXam2*, an NLR resistance candidate, was

conducted in a susceptible cultivar to evaluate the contribution of *RXam2* to CBB resistance. In addition, *RXam2* was employed in an activator trap promoter containing an EBE induced by TALE1 as an alternative strategy to induce an active NLR in the presence of a TAL effector from *Xam.*

Chapter 2

"Si no conoces a tu enemigo ni a ti mismo, correrás peligro en cada batalla"

"If you know neither the enemy nor yourself, you will succumb in every battle"

Sun Tzu

2 Interfamily transfer of *Bs2* from pepper to cassava (*Manihot esculenta* Crantz)

Paula Díaz Tatis, Juan Camilo Ochoa, Lina García, Adriana Bernal, Paul Chavarriaga and Camilo López

2.1 Abstract

Cassava bacterial blight (CBB) caused by *Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. manihotis (*Xam*) is the most prevalent bacterial disease in cassava. Genome analysis of *Xam* strains showed the presence of an effector similar to *avrBs2* from *Xanthomonas euvesicatoria* among the core set effectors. Mutagenesis analysis suggests this effector is important for *Xam* virulence. According to *avrBs2* wide distribution and contribution to *Xam* virulence, we proposed a useful strategy to control *Xam* based on the overexpression of Bs2, the AvrBs2 cognate resistance protein. To accomplish it, Friable Embryogenic Calli (FEC) from the susceptible cultivar cv.60444 was transformed with *Bs2* gene from pepper under a 35S promoter. Unchallenged *Bs2* over-expressing cassava *in vitro* plants showed constitutive, typical immune responses. However, the overexpression of *Bs2* did not confer wide-spectrum resistance to *Xam* strains harboring *avrBs2*.

2.2 Introduction

Cassava (*Manihot esculenta* Crantz) belongs to the Euphorbiaceae family (Malpighiales) and is native from South America (Allem, 1994, 1999; Bredeson et al., 2016). Among root and tuber crops, cassava ranks first as a source of calories in the tropics (Cock 1982) (http://faostat3.fao.org/). Cassava was initially domesticated near the southeast rim of Amazon River but at the present time is cultivated in tropical and subtropical regions of South America,

Sub-Saharan Africa and South-East Asia (Allem, 1994, 1999; Olsen and Schaal, 1999). Cassava production is severely affected by different viral and bacterial diseases. The most important bacterial disease is cassava bacterial blight (CBB) caused by Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis (Xam) (López and Bernal, 2012). CBB resistance is considered to be quantitative and cultivars fluctuate from very susceptible to moderately resistant to different *Xam* strains (Jorge et al., 2000; Wydra et al., 2004; López and Bernal, 2012). Histological studies on inoculated cassava plants have shown the difference between resistant and susceptible cultivars is expressed as a variation in colonization rates and penetration into the vascular tissue. In addition, both resistant and susceptible plants have shown similar defense responses in vascular tissues, nevertheless these responses were more intense and faster developed in the resistant cultivar (Kpemoua et al., 1996; Sandino et al., 2015). This data support the idea that cassava resistance to CBB is considered to be quantitative and polygenic (Kpemoua et al., 1996; Jorge et al., 2000). One of the best control strategies employed to manage CBB has been the use of resistant cultivars and cultural practices. The most reliable approach for controlling CBB is the deployment of *Resistance* (R) genes into elite cassava cultivars. Although different strategies to identify candidate R genes are now been undertaken based on the availability of cassava genome and the presence of conserved domains (Lozano et al., 2015; Soto et al., 2015), to date, no R gene has been characterized and cloned in cassava.

Among optimal strategies to achieve resistance is to exploit the natural mechanisms plants have employed to defend against pathogens attack. In contrast to the innate and adaptive immune system present in animals, plants rely solely on their innate immune system in each individual cell for the recognition of non-self molecules (Spoel and Dong, 2012). Two types of plant immune receptors, surface-localized or intracellular receptors, typically detect invading pathogens.

Well-defined plant pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) are surface-localized receptors belonging either to receptor-like kinases (RLK) or receptor-like proteins (RLP) (Wu and Zhou, 2013; Zipfel, 2014). PRRs usually detect well-conserved signatures of the pathogen, such as flagellin, chitin or elongation factor-Tu, collectively known as pathogen or microbe-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs/MAMPs) (Schwessinger and Ronald, 2012; Newman et al., 2013). On the other hand, typical *R* genes encode for intracellular receptor structurally similar to nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs) that detect pathogen proteins delivered by the type-III secretion system (TTSS). This pathogen-derived effector proteins (commonly referred to as an avirulence protein or Avr) can be sensed by plants NLRs in

a direct fashion or indirect by their biochemical activity in plant targets (Maekawa et al., 2011b; Qi and Innes, 2013). This recognition activates an immune response known as effector-triggered immunity (ETI) (Jones and Dangl, 2006; Cui et al., 2015).

Although barely defined, the molecular conformation of NLRs is known to switch between a resting, transition and active state (Takken and Tameling, 2009; Bernoux et al., 2011a; Bonardi et al., 2012). Biochemical analysis of flax M and L6, barley MLA27, tomato Mi-1 and I-1 reveal that a resting or auto-inhibited "off" state has ADP bound on the NB-ARC domain (Tameling et al., 2006; Maekawa et al., 2011a; Williams et al., 2011). After pathogen recognition, ADP is exchanged for ATP rendering the protein in an active "ON" state and the initiation of ETI signaling (Takken and Tameling, 2009; Bernoux et al., 2011a; Cui et al., 2015). Further ATP hydrolysis will result in a subsequent inactive "OFF" state of NLR (Takken and Tameling, 2009). The role of oligomerization or heterodimerization between NLRs molecules to activate ETI is poorly understood. For some NLRs oligomerization of the N-terminal domain has been reported to initiate disease resistance signaling (Bernoux et al., 2011b; Maekawa et al., 2011a; Chang et al., 2013).

Activation of NLRs usually leads to a particular programmed-cell death called hypersensitive response (HR) that will ultimate serve for prevention against pathogen dispersal, although in some cases resistance is not associated with the presence of HR (Heath, 2000; Coll et al., 2011). Some of the molecular responses associated with the activation of plant defense are depolarization of the plasma membrane, activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) and Calcium-dependent protein kinases (CDPK) cascades, induction of WRKY transcription factors and induction of gene expression coding for pathogenesis-related proteins, oxidative burst and modulation of hormone signaling pathways (Elmore et al., 2011; Meng and Zhang, 2013; Buscaill and Rivas, 2014). The majority of these defense responses are induced by the activation of both RLKs and NLRs, although these mechanisms are utilized distinctly in PTI and ETI (Tsuda and Katagiri, 2010).

The knowledge of the role of plant immune receptors has lead to the development of novel strategies to account for broad-spectrum resistance (Mukhtar, 2013; Dangl et al., 2013). One of such promising strategies has been the interfamily transfer of PRRs recognizing well-conserved ligands. One successful example of this strategy was performed with EF-TU RECEPTOR (EFR). This PRR was first identified in *Arabidopsis* to confer immunity against bacteria harboring the Elongation Factor Tu (Zipfel et al., 2006). EFR is taxonomically restricted to the family

Brassicaceae, however it was transferred to tobacco and tomato (Solanaceae) where it conferred bacterial broad-spectrum resistance (Lacombe et al., 2010). EFR interfamily transfer has also been shown in wheat against bacterial pathogens (Schoonbeek et al., 2015). Similarly, Xa21, a RLK from rice has not only been overexpressed in monocots, e.g. banana to confer resistance to banana *Xanthomonas* wilt (BXW) (Tripathi et al., 2014), but also in dicots such as sweet orange and tomato against *Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. citri (*Xac*) and *Ralstonia solanacearum*, respectively (Mendes et al., 2010; Afroz et al., 2011). These results suggest signaling activation downstream of PRRs recognition is functionally conserved in both monocot and dicots linages. New evidence supporting this idea is the recent demonstration that EFR-XA21 quimera receptors are able to associate with EFR complex in a ligand-dependent manner (Holton et al., 2015).

A second strategy has been the cross-species introduction of NLRs for broad-spectrum and durable resistance. *Rxo1*, an *R* gene from maize that confers a non-host resistance to *X. oryzae* pv. oryzae (*Xoo*) was transferred to rice. Notably this gene is involved in resistance to distinct pathogens, *Xoo* and *Burkholderia andropogonis* (Zhao et al., 2005). Alternatively, in dicots the NLR transfer has been carried out widely among Solanaceae species. In the case of potato, one of the most used strategies has been the introduction of *R* genes from wild species (Bradeen et al., 2009; Foster et al., 2009). The *Pto* gene from tomato has also been expressed in tobacco where enhances resistance to *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. tabaci (Thilmony et al., 1995). Another example of *R* gene transferred to a close related Solanaceae species has been the case of *Mi1-2* from tomato into eggplant, rendering this plant species resistant to the nematode *Meloidogyne javanica* but not to aphids (Goggin et al., 2006).

A notable example of cross-species introduction of an NLR is the case of *Bs2* transgenic tomato plants. *Bs2* is a bacterial spot resistance gene from pepper that activate immune response through the recognition of the AvrBs2 protein from *Xanthomonas euvesicatoria (Xeu)* strains (Tai et al., 1999). Although *Bs2* occurs commonly on pepper plants, this *R* gene does not naturally occur on tomatoes, despite been a close related species. Accordingly, *Bs2* was transferred to tomato and shown to enhance resistance to *Xeu* in both laboratory and field tests (Tai et al., 1999; Horvath et al., 2012). The cognate Avr recognized by Bs2, AvrBs2, is considered a core type-III effector involved in virulence in *Xanthomonas* spp. (Roux et al., 2015; Hajri et al., 2009; Kearney and Staskawicz, 1990). Recently, mutational analysis of *avrBs2* on *X. oryzae* pv. oryzicola (*Xoc*) and its heterologous expression in rice has shown this effector suppress rice immunity and contributes to the development of disease (Li et al., 2015). This knowledge about *avrBs2* wide distribution

across the genera has lead to new approaches based on transient expression of *Bs2* in *Citrus lemon* (Rutaceae) to improve resistance against citrus canker disease caused by *Xanthomonas axonopodis* subsp. citri (Sendín et al., 2012).

Genome sequence data from *Xam* strains revealed a proteome that comprises around 28 type-III effector proteins (Arrieta-Ortiz et al., 2013; Bart et al., 2012). Comparative analysis among *Xam* strains showed only one strain out of 65 strains surveyed showed a premature stop codon on *avrBs2* coding sequence, for this reason it is not considered a core type-III effector in *Xam* (Bart et al., 2012). However, all *Xam* strains evaluated shared >99% nucleotide identity in the *avrBs2* sequence between them and 58% identity with the gene from *Xeu*. The N-terminal of AvrBs2 is a highly conserved region between *Xam* and *Xeu* and the more relevant differences are found in the C-terminal (Medina et al. *in press*). Since *avrBs2* is highly conserved across *Xam* strains and apparently *Bs2* transient expression results in immunity activation in citrus, we decided to evaluate the feasibility of interfamily transfer and stable expression of *Bs2* in cassava susceptible plants.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Generation of transgenic cassava plants overexpressing *Bs2* from pepper.

Previous studies have shown *avrBs2* is present in almost all *Xam* strains sequenced to date (Bart et al., 2012; Arrieta-Ortiz et al., 2013). In contrast, Bs2 appears to be restricted to pepper. In order to identify a putative orthologue of *Bs2* on cassava based on sequence similarity, we carried out a search on the cassava proteome v6.1 (41381 sequences) using the Bs2 protein sequence reported on the GenBank (accession number AAF09256.1). BLAST results from the first 20 hits are shown in Supplementary table 2-2. The hit with the higher score is annotated as an NLR that showed only 32% identity with Bs2 (250/765). This result indicates cassava proteome does not contain NLRs that share high homology with Bs2 from pepper, confirming a restricted presence of this gene in pepper. Accordingly, we hypothesized *Bs2* transferred to cassava could confer resistance to *Xam* strains harboring *avrBs2*.

To accomplish this, a complete cassette containing *Bs2* under 35S promoter and its native terminator was cloned in pCAMBIA1305.2 (Figure 2-1). Friable embryogenic calli (FEC) from the susceptible cassava cultivar cv.60444 was isolated, multiplied and transformed with the

aggressive *Agrobacterium* strain AGL1 containing the cassette with *Bs2*. Growing FECs clusters were subcultured on regeneration medium containing hygromycin for the selection of transgenic events. Approximately 50 embryos were obtained; although some of them showed abnormal phenotypes and some others did not developed apices. Healthy apices were selected for elongation and finally selected for antibiotic resistance. Fresh leaves from putative transgenic plants were then selected for GUS histochemical assay. In total, 12 plants gave positive results for this test. All shoots of *GUS* positive plants were clonally multiplied on cassava propagation medium for subsequent assays (Supplementary Fig 2-1).

Figure 2-1: Schematic diagram of the T-DNA region of pCAMBIA1305.2 used for cassava transformation.

Boxes shows promoter or terminator regions and arrows indicate ORFs. Thin vertical arrows indicate restriction sites used for *Bs2* cloning (SacI and BamHI). EcoRI digestion was used for Southern-blot analysis.



2.3.2 Molecular characterization of *Bs2* cassava transgenic plants.

In order to confirm the presence of the transgene on cassava plants, genomic DNA was isolated from *in vitro* plants and a PCR was performed using specific primers for *Bs2*. The *PP2A* gene was used as an internal control. All the tested plants showed a fragment of 120pb corresponding to the *Bs2* gene (Suppl Fig 2-2). These plants were subsequently analyzed to identify independent transgenic events by Southern-blot using an *hpt11* amplification PCR product as a probe (Suppl Fig 3). Genomic DNA was digested with EcoRI, in consequence each insertion event is represented by a single band in the Southern-blot. Most of the plants appeared to have inserted two copies of the T-DNA and it seems to be at least three distinct transgenic events. Plants showing similar insertion pattern were considered as derived of the same transgenic event as follows: Plant 1 (P1) (Event 1, 2 copies); P2, P3 and P4 (Event 2, 2 copies); P5 and P8 (Event 3, 2-3 copies), P6 and P7 (Event 4, 2 copies); and P9, P10 and P11 (Event 5, 2 copies).

In order to evaluate *Bs2* expression levels on transgenic plants, fresh leaves from 1 month-old *in vitro* plants were used for Reverse Transcription-PCR (RT-PCR) analysis. *Bs2* expression levels

were detected using specific primers for *Bs2*. All transgenic plants tested displayed high *Bs2* expression levels when compared to the constitutive endogenous control *tubulin* (Suppl Figure 2-4). Additionally, to quantify *Bs2* expression levels in the different plants obtained, a quantitative RT-PCR (qRT-PCR) was performed. qRT-PCR results showed *Bs2* expression levels varying among the different cassava transgenic plants evaluated (Figure 2-2). Since transcription levels of *Bs2* are not detected on E.V. or WT control plants, transgene expression of each plant is shown relative to the plant with less *Bs2* expression (P5). Fold change of *Bs2* expression levels between plants range from 2 (P3) to 4 times (P7). These results indicate *Bs2* is been efficiently expressed in all transgenic plants recovered.

Figure 2-2: Relative Bs2 expression levels in cassava transgenic plants.

Total RNA was isolated from fresh leaves of unchallenged *in vitro* transgenic plants. *Bs2* expression was calculated by qRT-PCR and normalized to *tubulin* reference gene. Data shown is measured relative to P5 expression level. Mean of three replicates + SE is indicated.



2.3.3 Evaluation of constitutive defense activation: ROS production and PR expression.

To assess whether cassava plants overexpressing *Bs2* could enhance the production of defense responses, leaves from unchallenged *in vitro* plants were detached and stained for reactive oxygen species (ROS) production using 3'-3 Diaminobenzidine (DAB). In contrast to WT and E.V.

control, *Bs2* transgenic leaves P5, P7 and P10 showed ROS production, evidenced as dark-brown colored dots (Figure 2-3).

Figure 2-3: Detection of reactive oxygen species (ROS) on Bs2 cassava plants.

Leaves from challenged *in vitro* plant were detached and stained for reactive oxygen species (ROS) production using 3'-3 Diaminobenzidine (DAB). Stained leaves treated with ethanol to remove chlorophyll and photographed. Brown deposits pointed by black arrows indicate the presence of H₂O₂.



To further explore other defense responses that could be constitutively activated in these plants, the expression of three pathogenesis-related (*PR*) genes homologues in cassava was evaluated. For this, based on PR homologues in *Arabidopsis thaliana* and *Nicotiana benthamiana*, a set of PR candidates for cassava were selected and evaluated by qRT-PCR on unchallenged *in vitro* plants. A *PR5* cassava homologue (thaumatin-like protein, *Manes.01G064200.1*) exhibited high expression levels on *Bs2* transgenic plants compared with E.V. control (Figure 2-4). In contrast, a chitinase class one (*Manes.04G067900.1*, *PR3* homologue) is repressed on *Bs2* transgenic plants (Supplementary figure 2-6). These results suggest that some putative cassava *PR* homologues might be induced in transgenic plants over-expressing *Bs2*. Similarly, a *PR1* homologue, annotated as a cysteine-rich secretory protein (*Manes.07G050700.1*) showed very low expression levels in *Bs2* transgenic plants and no detectable levels on E.V. control plants (data not shown). Taken

together, these results indicate over-expression of *Bs2* in cassava induces an activation of defense responses as evidenced by basal ROS production and a putative *PRs* transcriptional activation.

Figure 2-4: Relative PR5 expression level in cassava transgenic lines overexpressing Bs2.

Total RNA was isolated from fresh leaves. Expression levels were calculated by qRT-PCR and normalized to *tubulin* reference gene. Data shown was measured relative to WT expression level. Mean of three replicates + SE are shown.



2.3.4 Xam inoculations

To address whether over expression of *Bs2* on cassava could confer resistance to *Xam* strains, *in vitro* leaves were inoculated and bacterial growth was assessed after 3 and 7 days post inoculation (dpi). For this, leaves were dipped-inoculated with a 10⁷ bacterial suspension of four *Xam* strains (CI0151, 668, 1344 and 232). The growth of the strain *XamCI0151* is reduced at 7 dpi on *Bs2* cassava plants, mainly in P2 and P3 (Figure 2-4). However, this decreased bacterial titer at 7 dpi was not observed for other *Xam* strains evaluated (Supp Fig 7, 8 and 9). To further evaluate defense responses during *Xam* inoculation, inoculated leaves were stained with DAB to detect ROS at 2dpi. There is an increase in ROS accumulation for *Bs2* cassava lines inoculated with *XamCI0151*, compared with non-inoculated control plants near the inoculation point (black arrows) (Figure 5). Again, ROS accumulation is observed as small brown deposits along the leave on *Bs2* cassava plants (white arrows), suggesting constitutive defense responses. This is not observed in E.V. control plants. Taken together, these results suggest despite these plants appear to produce defense responses, is not enough to restrict *Xam* growth on *Bs2 in vitro* cassava plants.

Figure 2-5: Bacterial growth of *XamCIO151* on *Bs2* transgenic cassava plants.

One month-old cassava *in vitro* plants were inoculated by piercing and dipped on both abaxial and adaxial side of the leave with a 10^7 CFU/mL suspension of *XamClO151*. The number of bacteria was quantified at 0, 3 and 7 dpi, data represent a mean Log₁₀ CFU/cm² from three biological samples ± SE. Statistical significance was assessed at 7 dpi at *P* < 0.05 using a Tukey–Kramer HSD test for post-ANOVA analysis. Control E.V. plants (red squares) and three *Bs2* lines: L11 (golden circles), L17 (dark-green triangles) and L19 (blue diamonds). No significance is designated as "n.s.". Three independent experiments gave similar results.



Figure 2-6: Reactive oxygen species accumulation on Bs2 cassava plants inoculated with Xam.

Leaves inoculated with a 10⁷ inoculum of *XamClO151* were stained with DAB after 2 dpi. Asterisks indicate ROS accumulation near the inoculation point (black) and in other regions (white).



2.4 Discussion

The aim of this study was to evaluate the feasibility of interfamily transfer of *Bs2* from pepper, a species from the Solanaceae, to cassava, which belongs to the Euphorbiaceae, to generate resistance to *Xam* strains. Our results show that transgenic cassava plants obtained functionally express *Bs2* and that this overexpression is related to the accumulation of ROS in the leaves and activation of putative *PR* genes (Figure 2-2, Figure 2-3). Nevertheless, no significant differences in bacterial growth were observed in *Bs2* transgenic plants when inoculated with four different *Xam* strains.

The *Bs2* transgenic plants showed a strong constitutive *Bs2* expression. Aberrant activation of resistance signaling has been implicated in cases of hybrid necrosis as a way to avoid gene-flow between plant species or inbreed (Bomblies et al., 2007; Bomblies and Weigel, 2007). Although *Bs2* cassava plants showed a slight lack of vigor compared with control transformed plants, regenerated cassava transgenic lines showing *Bs2* constitutive overexpression did not produced autoimmunity deleterious phenotypes, associated with spontaneous cell-death. Nevertheless, some morphological changes were observed in *Bs2* cassava plants, such as decreased stem diameter and reduced leaf area. These effects could be associated with the continuous *in vitro* sub-culturing steps in auxin-rich media as is frequently observed (Chavarriaga, personal communication).

An increase in ROS production and expression of a *PR5* cassava homologue was observed in unchallenged cassava *Bs2*-transgenic plants. We found a slight and irregular ROS accumulation in
some leaf areas on non-inoculated Bs2 cassava plants (Figure 2-6) and Xam-inoculated leaves showed an enhanced accumulation of ROS near the inoculation point. This result suggests the overexpression of Bs2 is activating ROS signaling in the absence of biotic or abiotic stress. However, HR was not observed as a consequence of a possible activation in ROS signaling. No PRs have been described or functionally studied in cassava, although some candidates have been reported in previous studies (Lopez et al., 2005; Román et al., 2014). Based on this data and on a new bioinformatics search using PRs from Arabidopsis and N. benthamiana as queries in the cassava genome new PRs candidates were identified. The expression of some of them was studied on the Bs2-transgenic plants as molecular markers for the induction of plant immunity. We found that a *PR5* homologue that codes for a thaumatin-osmotin like protein in cassava is induced in *Bs2* cassava plants. The thaumatin-like PR5 proteins belong to a large family of proteins with diverse function, including permeabilization of fungal cell walls, inhibition of mammalian trypsin and α amylase from insects (Loon et al., 2006). In *Arabidopsis* and grape wine, the induction of PR1, PR2 and PR5 (thaumatin) has been related with resistance against biotrophs (Develey-Rivière and Galiana, 2007; Spoel and Dong, 2012). Also, the leaf spurge non-host resistance to Xam appears to be associated with PRs induction, including chitinases and thaumatin-like proteins (Horvath et al., 2013). The induction of a PR homologue suggests an activation of an immune response as a consequence of the activation of *Bs2* signaling responses in cassava. This implies cassava defense responses could also depend on PR gene induction as it has been reported in other species (Seo et al., 2008). Thus, even though the constitutive overexpression of Bs2 did not produce an implicit cell death leading to a lethal phenotype, some immune responses, including ROS and *PR*s can be activated in the absence of the pathogen.

As mentioned before, the constitutive *Bs2* expression did not result in a plant cell death. Previous studies have shown HR is triggered only when *avrBs2* and *Bs2* are simultaneously co-expressed, and not when *Bs2* is overexpressed alone (Tai et al., 1999). Similarly, when the CNL RPM1 is overexpressed in *N. benthamiana* it does not produce an ectopic spontaneous HR (Chung et al., 2011). However, other studies have reported an effector-independent HR when NLRs are overexpressed (Mukhtar, 2013). Interestingly, effector-independent HR have been frequently observed in CNL proteins, including Lr10 (Feuillet et al., 2003), Pi54 (Gupta et al., 2012), RPP13 (Rentel et al., 2008), RPS2 (Tao et al., 2000), RPS5 (Ade et al., 2007), although there is the case of an TNL, RPS4, where this phenomenon was also observed (Zhang et al., 2004).

In this study, the stable overexpression of Bs2 in a highly susceptible cassava cultivar did not conferred resistance to *Xam* strains harboring *avrBs2*. Nevertheless, the stable overexpression of *Bs2* in the highly susceptible tomato cultivar VF36 did showed reduced disease to very low levels when inoculated with X. euvesicatoria strains harboring avrBs2 (Horvath et al. 2012; Tai et al. 1999). These results might indicate the signaling responses after the activation of Bs2 might be conserved only in species of the Solanaceae family. Indeed, the coexpression of avrBs2 and Bs2 triggers HR in solanaceus plants (tobacco, tomato, potato, eggplant), however HR is not observed when *avrBs2* and *Bs2* are coinfiltrated in non-solanaceus species, including *Arabidopsis*, broccoli, cucumber and turnip (Tai et al., 1999). The Bs2 gene seems to be restricted to pepper and homologous genes have not been reported even in other Solanaceae plant species (Tai et al., 1999). Accordingly and considering the large evolutionary divergence between cassava (Malpighiales) and pepper (Solanales) no *Bs2*-homologue gene was found in the cassava genome. This phenomenon called restricted taxonomic functionality (RTF) has also been observed for the RPS2 gene from Arabidopsis where it was shown to be nonfunctional on transgenic tomato plants (Tai et al., 1999). Although it has been observed that NLR function is not confined to specific hostpathogen interaction, since a single NLR can confer resistance to non-related pathogens (Narusaka et al., 2014; Zhao et al., 2005, 2015), NLRs transfer between non-related species has not been extensively studied. A notable example is the barley (monocot) NLR MLA1 transfer to the dicot Arabidopsis (Maekawa et al., 2012). This supports the hypothesis that NLR do not always display RTF.

The lack of a resistance response to *Xam* despite the overexpression of *Bs2* and the apparent constitutive immunity (ROS production and induction of *PR5* gene expression) can be explained from the fact that Bs2 from pepper is not able to recognize AvrBs2 from *Xam*. Although AvrBs2 is considered as a well-conserved effector in *Xam*, its sequence appears to diverge from *avrBs2* of *X. euvesicatoria* and its nearly identical to *avrBs2* from *X. translucens* and *X. axonopodis* pv. glycines (Medina et al. *in press*). Preliminary results showed AvrBs2 homologue of *Xam* does not trigger an HR in pepper plants harboring *Bs2*, indicating Bs2 is not able to recognize avrBs2 from *Xam* to induce HR (Bart, personal communication). Recent results have shown although the catalytic site for the glycerophosphoryl diester phosphodiesterase domain (GDE) is conserved among *avrBs2* homologs, in *Xam* two residues involved in activation are not fully conserved in *Xam* homologs (Medina et al. *in press*). In order to confirm if our results are caused by the divergence of *Xam avrBs2* homologs and thus by the incapacity of Bs2 to recognize and trigger a defense response in cassava plants, *X. euvesicatoria* mutated in *avrBs2* and *WT* should be inoculated on *Bs2* cassava

plants. An additional strategy is to transform *Xam* WT strain and $\Delta avrBs2$ with avrBs2 from *Xeu* and evaluate the appearance of an HR and the development of a resistance response in cassava *Bs2* plants. It remains to be determined whether AvrBs2 from *Xeu* is indeed recognized in cassava *Bs2* transgenic plants. Results obtained raised the question if it is possible that interfamily overexpression of a NLR may cause resistance without recognizing its cognate avirulence protein.

2.5 Materials and methods

2.5.1 Plasmid constructions

Bs2 cloned in pMDC32 (35S::*Bs2*-Bs2term) was kindly provided by Brian Staskawicz, University of California (UC), Berkeley. To overexpress Bs2 in cassava plants, the complete cassette containing 35S::*Bs2*-Bs2term was cloned in the Multiple Cloning Site (MCS) of pCAMBIA1305.2 (CAMBIA, Canberra, Australia). For this, pMDC32 was double digested with *BamHI* and *SacI* and ligated in the Multiple Cloning Site (MCS) of pCAMBIA1305.2. The ligation product was transformed in *E. coli DH10B* and positives colonies were confirmed using primers flanking the *Bs2* genes. The clones were further confirmed by sequencing of the complete T-DNA region. *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* aggressive strain AGL1 was transformed with pCAMBIA1305.2-*35S::Bs2*-Bs2term by electroporation. AGL1 cells were grown on Luria-bertani (LB) containing 50 mg L⁻¹ kanamycin and 100 mg L⁻¹ carbenicillin. PCAMBIA1305.2 vector contains *GUSPlus* gene as a reporter gene and *hygromycin phosphotransferase II (htpII)* as a selection marker. This vector has been previously used in cassava transformation.

2.5.2 Cassava FEC transformation

Cassava Friable Embryogenic Callus (FEC) production

FEC from the genotype cv. 60444 (NGA11 in the CIAT germplasm collection) was obtained as previously described (Taylor et al., 2012, 1996). *In vitro* cassava plants were grown and maintained in Murashige and Skoog (MS) basal medium supplemented with 1 ppm tiamine, 100 ppm myo-inositol, 2 μ M CuSO₄, 0.002 ppm NAA, 0.05 ppm GA3, 0.04 ppm BAP and 20 g L⁻¹ sucrose. For primary embryogenesis, axillar buds from 4-weeks old plant were excised and grown in MS supplemented with 2 μ M CuSO₄, 50 mg L ⁻¹ casein, 20 g L⁻¹ sucrose and 12 mg L⁻¹ picloram. Somatic embryos were grown during 30 days in dark conditions. For FEC induction, organized embryogenic structures (OES) were injured using a small blade and transferred to Gresshof and Doy medium with vitamins (GD) supplemented with 20 g L⁻¹ sucrose and 12 mg L⁻¹ picloram. FEC clusters were transferred to new medium every 20 days and maintained at 28°C and 12h light during 3 months until transformation.

FEC transformation and transgenic recovery

Cassava transformation of FEC was performed based on protocols previously described (Taylor et al., 2012; Li et al., 1996; Bull et al., 2009). Briefly, AGL1 strain carrying pCAMBIA1305.2-35S::Bs2 was grown on LB broth supplemented with 50 mg L⁻¹ kanamycin and 100 mg L⁻¹ carbenicillin until the cell suspension reached an optical density at 600nm (OD₆₀₀)= 0.5. Cells were resuspended in GD supplemented with 12 mg L-1 picloram and 100 µM acetosyringone and grown until an OD₆₀₀= 0.8. Clusters of FEC with a diameter around 10mm were soaked with 20ul of the cell suspension and cocultured for 4 days at 24°C in dark conditions. FEC clusters were washed with liquid GD medium containing 500 mg L⁻¹ cefotaxime to control *A. tumefaciens* overgrowth. After five days of subsequent washing steps, FECs were plated on GD medium supplemented with 20 g L⁻¹ sucrose, 500 mg L⁻¹ cefotaxime, 12 mg L⁻¹ picloram and hygromycin 2 mg L⁻¹. Growing FEC clusters were transferred every four weeks to fresh medium with increasing hygromycin concentrations (4, 7, 10 and 15 mg L⁻¹). For the development of transgenic somatic embryos, clusters were transferred to MS medium supplemented with 20 g L⁻¹ sucrose, 1 g L⁻¹ BAP, 0.5 g L⁻¹ IBA, 2µM CuSO₄, 500 mg L⁻¹ cefotaxime and 15 mg L⁻¹ hygromycin. Obtained embryos were grown on the same media without hygromycin selection and after that to MS medium containing 0.5 %activated charcoal to promote elongation of apices. Recovered putative transgenic plants were subsequently multiplied on MS medium with vitamins containing 20 g L⁻¹ sucrose and 2µM CuS04.

2.5.3 Molecular characterization of putative transgenic plants

GUS staining

Leaf tissue from *in vitro* plants was immersed in a microcentrifuge tube with 1.5 mL of X-GLUC buffer (0.02 M NaH₂PO₄, 0.03 M Na₂HPO₄, 0.25 mM K₃FeCN₆, 0.25 mM K₄FeCN₆, 0.5 % triton X-100, 10 % DMSO and 1 mg mL⁻¹ X-Gluc (5-bromo-4-cloro-3-indolyl β -D-glucuronide) (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA). Leafs were incubated at 37°C during 16 h, destained with 96% ethanol and photographed.

Genomic DNA extraction and PCR

For characterization of transgenic plants, leaf tissue was collected from regenerated *in vitro* plants and total plant genomic DNA was extracted with CTAB. PCR was performed using gene-specific primers for *b-tubulin* (tubex F and tubex R) and *Bs2* (Bs2qPCR F and Bs2 QPCR R). DNA from non-transgenic plants was used as negative control and plasmid DNA as a positive control. PCR was carried out in a Bio-Rad thermal cycler programmed for an initial denaturation of 3 min at 95°C, followed by 35 cycles of 30 s at 95°C, 30 s at 56°C and 30 s at 72°C, and final extension of 10 min at 72°C. PCR reactions were performed in a 10ml final volume (0.2 mM of dNTPs, 0.1 mM of each primer, 1X DreamTaq buffer, 1 U of DreamTaq DNA Polymerase (ThermoScientific, Waltham, MA, USA) and 100 ng of genomic DNA).

Southern blot analysis

10ug of genomic DNA were digested with the restriction enzyme *BamHI*, enzyme that cuts once the T-DNA at the start of 35S promoter in the MCS (multiple cloning site). A 490pb *hptII* probe was synthetized by PCR (hptII probe F and hptII R) using plasmid DNA as a template and following recommendation by the DIG-labelling PCR DIG probe synthesis kit (Roche Applied Science, Indianapolis, IN, USA). Correct DIG-labelling was confirmed by running the labeled probe and unlabeled probe in a gel electrophoresis. The blots were hybridized at 42°C and detection was carried out according to manufacturer's instructions using anti-DIG antibody and CDP-star (Roche Applied Science, Indianapolis, IN, USA).

2.5.4 DAB staining

To detect ROS in *Bs2* transgenic lines, leaves from *in vitro* unchallenged with *Xam* plants were excised, submerged in 3, 3'-Diaminobenzidine (DAB) buffer as previously reported (Thordal-Christensen et al., 1997) and incubated for 6 hours in the dark at rt (room temperature). Leaves were destained from chlorophyll through at least three washing steps with 96% ethanol. Accumulation of H_2O_2 was detected in a stereoscope and leaves were photographed.

2.5.5 qPCR analysis

For quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR) total RNA was extracted from *in vitro* leaves of unchallenged plants using Invitrap ® Spin plant RNA minikit (STRATEC, Berlín, GER). To degrade

DNA molecules from RNA sample, 1 ug of total RNA was treated with DNaseI, RNAse-free (ThermoScientific, Waltham, MA, USA). cDNA synthesis was carried out using the First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (ThermoScientific, Waltham, MA, USA).

For qPCR the 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR Systems (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) and the Bio-Rad SsoFast EvaGreen supermix were used. PCR reactions were carried out as follows: initial denaturation at 95°C for 3 min, 40 cycles of 95°C for 10 s, 58°C for 10 s, 72°C for 10 s. PCR reactions were performed in a 10ml final volume using 0.2 mM of dNTPs and 0.1 mM of each primer. Primers used are listed in Supplementary Table 1. The expression levels of target genes were normalized to the *tubulin* gene expression level using 2^{-AC} ^{Ct} method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001) as follows:

 ΔC_t (target gene) = C_t (target gene) - C_t (tubulin)

 $\Delta\Delta C_t$ (*target gene*) = ΔC_t (transgenic line) - ΔC_t (EV control)

2.5.6 *Xam* inoculation of *in vitro* plants

To measure bacterial growth in planta, two months-old *in vitro* plants were inoculated using a leaf-dipping method. Briefly, a Q-tip was submerged in a *Xam* cell suspension with an OD_{600nm} (optical density at 600mn)= 0,02,~10^7 colony forming units (CFU ml⁻¹). Young leaves were pierced with an insulin syringe and then wiped with a Q-tip previously immersed in the bacterial suspension. Both sides of the leaves were carefully dipped until a thin layer of the cell suspension was observed in the surface. Bacterial growth was monitored at 0, 3 and 8 days post-inoculation (dpi). For this, leaves from three technical replicates were detached and grounded independently in 10mM MgCl₂. The average bacterial titer was reported +/- standard error.

2.6 Supplementary information

Supplementary table 2-1: List of primers used in this study.

primer name Se	quence (5' to 3')

	l
tubex F	GGAAAGATGAGCACCAAGGA
tubex R	ACCAGTATACCAGTGCAAGAAG
Bs2 qPCR F	CCTTGAGCGCCTCATGATTA
Bs2 qPCR R	TCCGAGGTCTTCTTGTTCTTTC
hptII probe F	GCGTCTGCTGCTCCATACAAG
hptII probe R	AGCGAGAGCCTGACCTATTGC

Supplementary table 2-2: First 20 hits of a BLASTP against the cassava proteome using the Bs2 sequence from pepper as a query.

Subject ID	% identity	alignment	micmatchac	gap	a start	a and	e etert	c and	E value	bit
Mapos 19C10E900	Identity	length	mismatches	opens	q.start	q.ena	s.start	s.enu	E-value	score
1 (M-2)										
DTHD22155.5E402										
DISEASE										
DDOTFIN DDD12										
RELATED	32.68	765	434	21	148	862	165	808	2 00F-88	304
Manes 09C034700	32.00	703	-13-1	21	140	002	105	070	2,001-00	304
1 (M-0)										
PTHR23155//PTH										
R23155-SE634 -										
LEUCINE-RICH										
REDEAT-										
CONTAINING										
PROTEIN	33.16	748	398	22	177	878	190	881	2 00F-87	301
Mapos 10C023200	55.10	740	370	22	1//	070	170	001	2,001-07	501
1 (M-9)										
PTHR23155//PTH										
R23155·SF634 -										
LEUCINE-RICH										
REPEAT.										
CONTAINING										
PROTFIN	29.05	809	454	22	131	863	154	918	6.00F-83	289
Manes 076121100	29.05	007	151		151	005	151	,10	0,001 05	207
1 (M-9)										
PTHR23155//PTH										
R23155·SF634 -										
LEUCINE-RICH										
REPEAT-										
CONTAINING										
PROTEIN	28.70	770	414	17	175	847	188	919	2.00E-78	276
Manes 106025400	20.70	,,,,		17	1/5	017	100	,1,	2,001 / 0	270
1 (M=9)										
PTHR23155//PTH										
R23155·SF634 -										
LEUCINE-RICH										
REPEAT-										
CONTAINING										
PROTEIN	31.24	765	402	25	175	862	185	902	3.00E-77	273
Manes.07G121300										
.1 (M=9)										
PTHR23155//PTH										
R23155:SF634 -										
LEUCINE-RICH										
REPEAT-										
CONTAINING	28.95	791	435	21	175	864	183	947	5,00E-75	267

PROTEIN										
Manes.10G022500										
.1 (M=9)										
PTHR23155//PTH										
R23155:SF634 -										
LEUCINE-KICH										
CONTAINING										
PROTFIN	29.44	754	387	22	175	814	184	906	4 00F-71	254
Manes 18G117800	29.11	751	307		175	011	101	700	1,001 / 1	251
.1 (M=7)										
PTHR23155//PTH										
R23155:SF592 -										
LEUCINE-RICH										
REPEAT-										
CONTAINING										
PROTEIN	30.47	791	456	32	116	858	129	873	8,00E-66	238
Manes.07G121200										
.1 (M=9)										
PIHK23155//PIH										
LEUCINE-RICH										
REPEAT-										
CONTAINING										
PROTEIN	29.79	678	382	20	232	857	329	964	9,00E-66	239
Manes.07G121200										
.1 (M=9)										
PTHR23155//PTH										
R23155:SF634 -										
LEUCINE-RICH										
REPEAT-										
CONTAINING	27.71	166	70	2	00	252	1/1	265	2 00F 10	65 F
Manes 10G102500	27.71	100	19	5	00	233	141	205	2,001-10	05.5
.1 (M=4)										
PTHR23155//PTH										
R23155:SF633 -										
LEUCINE-RICH										
REPEAT-										
CONTAINING										
PROTEIN	27.86	829	490	25	96	868	104	880	1,00E-65	238
Manes.13G061300 1 $(M=7)$										
.1 (M=/) DTHD22155//DTH										
R23155·SF592 -										
LEUCINE-RICH										
REPEAT-										
CONTAINING										
PROTEIN	28.54	841	487	28	96	863	83	882	5,00E-65	236
Manes.10G023100	27.20	027	456	25	166	076	40	0.4.1	0.005.65	225
.2 Manos 100023100	27.39	836	456	25	155	876	43	841	9,00E-65	235
1 (M=9)										
PTHR23155//PTH										
R23155:SF634 -										
LEUCINE-RICH										
REPEAT-										
CONTAINING										
PROTEIN	27.39	836	456	25	155	876	43	841	9,00E-65	235
Manes.18G102800										
.1 (M=4)										
PTHK23155//PTH										
1 FUCINE. DICH										
REPEAT-										
CONTAINING	27.12	848	513	30	96	886	106	905	8,00E-64	233

PROTEIN										
Manes.18G102700										
.1 (M=4)										
PTHR23155//PTH										
R23155:SF633 -										
LEUCINE-RICH										
REPEAT-										
CONTAINING										
PROTEIN	27.23	797	484	25	122	868	135	885	2,00E-63	231
Manes.10G023200										
.1 (M=9)										
PTHR23155//PTH										
R23155:SF634 -										
LEUCINE-RICH										
REPEAT-										
CONTAINING										
PROTEIN	36.10	349	178	6	175	479	184	531	5,00E-63	224
Manes.18G117800										
.2	30.60	621	372	21	116	714	129	712	1,00E-59	218
Manes.18G117600										
.1 (M=7)										
PTHR23155//PTH										
R23155:SF592 -										
LEUCINE-RICH										
REPEAT-										
CONTAINING										
PROTEIN	26.76	811	505	29	98	861	105	873	2,00E-59	219

Supplementary figure 2-1: Production and characterization of *Bs2* cassava transgenic plants.

(A) Friable embryogenic calli from cv.60444 transformed with AGL1 strain, arrows point at growing embryonenic units. (B) FECs units from remaining clusters strongly express *GUS*. (C) Apices from regenerated embryos. (D) Regenerated *in vitro* plants. (E) Histochemical *GUS* assay on leaves from regenerated plants. (F) Shoots growing from stakes in the greenhouse.



Supplementary figure 2-2: PCR analysis of *Bs2* cassava transgenic plants.

Genomic DNA was isolated from fresh leaves and a PCR was performed using specific primers for *Bs2*. *PP2A* was used as an endogenous control. P.1-P.10, genomic DNA from the different transgenic plants obtained; -, negative control.



Supplementary figure 2-3: Southern-blot analysis of Bs2 cassava transgenic plants.

Genomic DNA was isolated from fresh leaves and a southern Blot was performed using *hptII* as a probe. P.1-P.11, genomic DNA from the different transgenic plants obtained; WT, genomic DNA from wild- type plants used as a negative control.



Supplementary figure 2-4: RT-PCR analysis of Bs2 cassava transgenic plants.

Total RNA was isolated from fresh leaves and a RT-PCR was performed using specific primers for *Bs2*. *Tubulin* was used as an endogenous control. P.1-P.10, different *Bs2* transgenic plants obtained; WT, wild type non-transformed plants; EV, empty vector transgenic plants; -, negative control.



Supplementary figure 2-5: Relative *Manes.04G067900.1* expression levels in cassava transgenic lines overexpressing *Bs2.*

Total RNA was isolated from fresh leaves. Expression levels were calculated by qRT-PCR and normalized to *tubulin* reference gene. Data shown is measured relative to WT expression level. Mean of three replicates + SE are shown.



Supplementary figure 2-6: Bacterial growth of Xam668 on Bs2 transgenic in vitro cassava plants.

One month-old cassava plants were inoculated by piercing and dipping on the leaf with a 10^7 inoculum of *Xam668*. The number of bacteria was quantified at 0, 3 and 7 dpi, data represent a mean of three biological samples ± SE.



Supplementary figure 2-7: Bacterial growth of Xam1344 on Bs2 transgenic in vitro cassava plants.

1 month-old cassava plants were inoculated by piercing and dipping on the leaf with a 10^7 inoculum of *Xam1344*. The number of bacteria was quantified at 0, 3 and 7 dpi, data represent a mean of three biological samples ± SE.



Supplementary figure 2-8: Bacterial growth of Xam232 on Bs2 transgenic in vitro cassava plants.

One month-old cassava plants were inoculated by piercing and dipping on the leaf with a 10^7 inoculum of *Xam232*. The number of bacteria was quantified at 0, 3 and 7 dpi, data represent a mean of three biological samples ± SE.



Chapter 3

"Fortitudine vincimus"

"Venceremos por resistencia"

"By endurance we conquer"

Ernest Schackleton

3 The overexpression of RXam1, a RLK from cassava, confers less susceptibility to *Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. manihotis

Paula Díaz Tatis, Mariana Herrera, Juan Camilo Ochoa, Juliana Gil, Mónica Prías, Adriana Medina, Valerie Verdier, Paul Chavarriaga and Camilo López

3.1 Abstract

Cassava bacterial blight (CBB) is a prevalent disease in all regions where cassava is cultivated. CBB is caused by the Gram-negative bacterium *Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. manihotis (*Xam*). Previous studies found different QTLs explaining resistance to several *Xam* strains. Interestingly one QTL called XM5 explaining 13% of resistance to *XamClO136* was associated with a fragment similar to the rice *Xa21* resistance gene (PCR250). In this study we aimed to identify and characterize this fragment and it role in resistance to CBB. Screening and hybridization of a BAC library using the molecular marker PCR250 as a probe let to the identification of a receptor-like kinase similar to *Xa21* and was called *RXam1* (*Resistance to Xam1*). Here we report the functional characterization of susceptible cassava plants overexpressing *RXam1*. Our results indicate the overexpression of *RXam1* leads to a reduction in bacterial growth of *XamCl0136*. This suggests *RXam1* might be implicated in strain-specific resistance to *XamCl0136*.

3.2 Introduction

The activation of plant immune responses depends on the recognition of pathogen molecules or pathogen derived-molecules by plant receptors. The first group of plant receptors carries an extracellular LRR (Leucine-Rich Repeat) and an intracellular kinase domain referred to as Receptor-Like Kinases (RLKs) (Wu and Zhou, 2013). Examples of these proteins are FLS2 and EFR, which recognize flagellin and the Elongation Factor Tu (EF-Tu) respectively, two of the best studied MAMPs (Microbial Associated Molecular Patterns). Another example of this group of proteins is Xa21 from rice which confers resistance to strains of *Xanthomonas oryzae* pv. oryzae containing the corresponding AvrXa21 gene (Song et al., 1995). In other cases the extracellular domain consist of a LysM domain, which is involved in the perception of sugar-derived molecules as chitin or LPS (Lipopolysaccharides), among the best known are the CERK1, LPY4 and LPY6 proteins from Arabidopsis (Liu et al., 2012a; Miya et al., 2007). Recently, an Arabidopsis B-type lectin SD-RLK was identified as a receptor for LPS from Xanthomonas and Pseudomonas (Ranf et al., 2015). Another group of receptors contains only the LRR domain and are named Receptor Like Protein (RLP), with members playing a function in other process different from plant immunity such as plant development (Zipfel, 2014). In the group of plant cytoplasmic receptors are the proteins containing a NB (Nucleotide-Binding) and a LRR domain and are referred as to Resistance (R) proteins (Meyers et al., 1999). This large group of proteins can be classed according to the presence of a Coiled-Coil (CC) or a Toll Interleukin Related (TIR) domain in their N-terminus. NB-LRR proteins have evolved to recognize pathogen-derived effector proteins in a specific manner and trigger the so called Effector Triggered Immunity (ETI) (Chisholm et al., 2006), which corresponds to the classical gene-for-gene model proposed by Flor (Flor, 1971). In the absence of R proteins, effectors are able to suppress plant immunity by a large diversity of mechanisms (Lee et al., 2013; Jones and Dangl, 2006). Once pathogen-derived molecules are recognized by extracellular or cytoplasmatic receptors, a plant immunity program is activated which include ion fluxes, Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) production, activation of Mitogen Activated Protein (MAP) Kinases, activation of transcription factors which leads to a complex reprogramming of gene expression, including the activation of transcription of Pathogenesis Related (PR) genes (Kawano and Shimamoto, 2013; Macho and Zipfel, 2014; Elmore et al., 2011). In most of the cases a hypersensitive response (HR) occurs, which is a type of programmed cell death, having as purpose to avoid the expansion of the pathogen to uninfected cells.

Quantitative disease resistance (QDR) depends on the concerted action of several genes, each contributing in a different extent to the total phenotypic response (St.Clair, 2010; Roux et al., 2014). Although less intense, given its polygenic nature, QDR is considered durable and broad-spectrum (Kou and Wang, 2010). In recent years important efforts have culminated with the cloning of some genes belonging to Quantitative Trait Loci (QTL) associated to pathogen

resistance in wheat, rice, maize, soybean and *Arabidopsis* (French et al., 2016). Interestingly, most of these genes code for proteins with diverse biochemical function whose molecular mechanism in plant resistance has not been well established, given in part to its complex nature (Roux et al., 2014; Poland et al., 2009). However, based on the structure and putative function of these genes, as well as on the nature of the quantitative resistance, several hypotheses have been proposed to explain QDR molecular basis (Poland et al., 2009). One hypothesis, for example, considers *R* genes as weak alleles. Other postulation is that QDR is a consequence of the intensity in the expression level of genes involved in plant defense transduction signal (Poland et al., 2009).

Cassava (Manihot esculenta Crantz) is considered as a staple crop representing one of the main sources of carbohydrates for more than one billion people, notably in tropical region (http://faostat3.fao.org/). Cassava is produced by small farmers who depend on this crop not only for local consumption but also as a main income source. Cassava starch has multiple applications in different industries including textile, oil, paints, and recently in bioethanol production (FAO, 2013a). Cassava Bacterial Blight (CBB) is the most important bacterial disease affecting this crop (López and Bernal, 2012) and it was recently included in the top 10 plant bacterial diseases (Mansfield et al., 2012). CBB is caused by the Gram-negative bacteria Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis (Xam). CBB is present in all regions where cassava is cultivated and a higher incidence has been recently reported in some African and Asian countries (López and Bernal, 2012). There is no chemical control to CBB and the best approach for disease management is to employ resistant cultivars. Although there are some resistant cultivars most of them are not well adapted to the different agroecological regions where cassava is cultivated (Verdier et al., 2004). In addition, in most of the cases the resistant cultivars have shown low agronomical qualities, as low production. CBB resistance has been considered quantitative (Hahn et al., 1980, 1979) and some QTLs have been reported (Jorge et al., 2000; Wydra et al., 2004). No functional resistance genes to CBB or other cassava diseases have been cloned, although candidate genes and QTLs with major effects to CBB (Lopez et al., 2003; López et al., 2007) and CMD (Cassava Mosaic Disease) resistance have been reported (Gedil et al., 2012; Rabbi et al., 2012).

Previously, employing primers from the *Xa21* gene it was possible to amplify a fragment from cassava DNA. This fragment was mapped and shown to colocalize with a QTL explaining 13% of the cassava resistance to the *Xam* strain CI0136 (Jorge et al., 2000). Here we report the isolation

of *RXam1* and the characterization of cassava plants overexpressing *RXam1* demonstrating a role in defense against this particular *Xam* strain.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Isolation of an RLK candidate in cassava for resistance against CBB

In a previous work, using primers from the rice Xa21 R gene an amplification product from cassava DNA was obtained and named PCR250. This fragment showed close similarity with the Xa21 rice gene and it was mapped on linkage group X, where it showed a significant association with a QTL that explained 13% of cassava resistance to *Xam* strain CI0136 (Jorge et al. 2000). To identify the complete cassava gene, we screened a cassava BAC library from the cultivar TMS30001, using PCR250 as a probe. Four positive BAC clones were obtained and based on fingerprinting analysis we selected BAC 2 (containing one copy of the gene) to identify the putative full-length gene. Sequencing of this BAC, using partial shotgun sequencing and primer walking, resulted in the assembly of one contig of 4.6 kb, corresponding to the complete gene. BLASTx analysis of this contig showed close similarity to LRR-STK-like proteins and to the Xa21 resistance gene. However, no ORF corresponding to a full-length, RLK was detected in this contig. Potential coding regions were interrupted by several stop codons. The cultivar used for the BAC construction was TMS30001, which is susceptible to Xam strain CI0136 (data not shown). To obtain the sequence of the possible functional gene, we used DNA from the cultivar MBRA685 that is resistant to *Xam* strain CI0136 with primers from the start and end of the predicted gene. In this case a PCR product of the expected size (3.1 kb) was generated and sequenced. The comparison between the sequences obtained from both MBRA685 and TMS30001 cultivars showed a high percentage of identity between both genes (94%). These genes showed about 34% identity with the rice Xa21 gene (Supplementary figure 3-2). The 5' and 3' ends of the gene were obtained by rapid amplification of cDNA ends (RACE) from cDNA obtained from MBRA685 plants challenged with Xam strain CI0136. Sequences from the partial cDNA clones and the RACE products were assembled to produce a deduced transcribed sequence of 3,153 bp, containing an ORF of 1019 amino acids with 5' and 3' UTRs of 72 and 24 bp, respectively. This putative gene was called *RXam1* (*<u>Resistance to Xam1</u>*). A comparison of the *RXam1* genomic sequence with the cDNA sequence revealed the presence of one intron of 95 bp in the coding region (2,749 to 2,844 nt).

Figure 3-1: Schematic illustration of *RXam1* region on both the genetic and physical maps.

(A) Genetic map of linkage group X showing XM5 QTL based on Jorge et al., 2000 and BAC2 representation showing a region (pcr250) that colocalizes with XM5. **(B)** A region of chromosome 10 near rxam1. **(C)** Graphical representation of RXam1 domains.



The predicted 1019 amino acids (aa) protein contains an LRR domain located within the Nterminal sequence between 75 and 584 aa (Figure 3-1). The LRR consists of 20 imperfect repeats ranging in size from 23 to 26 aa. The putative STK domain is located between residues 703 and 975. A putative transmembrane domain was identified between the STK and LRR domains (Figure 3-1).

Although the *RXam1* gene product has more similarity to a putative LRR transmembrane protein kinase from *Arabidopsis thaliana* (46% identity at the aa level, GenBank accession NP_190295 with E-value of 0.0), it presents a high similarity to the *Xa21* gene product from rice (40% identity at the aa level). The most divergent regions are located at the 5' end of the proteins. In Xa21, the residues Ser686, Thr688 and Ser689 are involved in autophosphorylation (Xu et al., 2006b). From the alignment between Xa21 and RXam1 it was possible to identify the corresponding residues Ser-686 and Ser-689 in the positions 681 and 684, respectively. Residue Thr-688 in RXam1 is an Asn. Biochemical studies of RXam1 would further clarify whether these changes are involved or compromise the putative autophosphorylation activity.

RXam1 is annotated in cassava genome V6.1 as *Manes.10G014300* and is located in chromosome 10 between the positions 1122770-1126278. The markers SSRY20 and GY222 flank XM5, the QTL region containing RXam1 (Figure 3-1). Based on the available sequence for SSRY20 it was

possible to localize *RXam1* on chromosome 10 on the cassava genome V6.1 (https://phytozome.jgi.doe.gov/) at positions 1071905-1072047, 50,7kb from the ATG start codon of *RXam1*. A region of 20 kb around SSRY20 and *RXam1* was analyzed to identify other candidate genes. No typical genes coding for proteins containing NB-ARC domain were found (Supplementary table 3-2). However, there are several genes coding for proteins with LRR and kinase domains, which are typically present in proteins involved in plant immunity (Supplementary table 3-2).

3.3.2 RXam1 expression is induced after Xam inoculation

In order to evaluate if *RXam1* is induced after *Xam* inoculation, the expression was assessed by semi-quantitative reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR). Primers were designed in regions flanking the intron, which helped distinguish amplified products from mRNA and contaminating genomic DNA. Cultivars TMS30001 and MBRA685 were inoculated with *XamCl0136* and leaves collected at different times post inoculation. *RXam1* expression was induced by pathogen inoculation in the resistant but not in the susceptible cultivar. Indeed, no expression of *RXam1* was detected at any point of evaluation in the susceptible cultivar (Figure 3-2). *RXam1* mRNA was detected in the MBRA685 at 72 h post inoculation with a maximum at 5 days post inoculation (dpi) to decreased at 7 dpi (Figure 3-2).

Figure 3-2: *RXam1* expression analysis by RT-PCR in a susceptible and resistant cultivar upon *Xam* inoculation.

(A) Resistant cultivar MBRA685 was inoculated with *XamClO136* and leaves were collected at 0, 6, 12, 24, 48 and 72 h, and 5 and 7 days post inoculation. **(B)** The same experiment carried out on the susceptible cultivar TMS30001.



3.3.3 STK domain of RXam1 interacts with a protein with finger domains in Y2H assays

As an initial approach to identify putative RXam1 interactors, the STK domain was used as bait against a cassava cDNA library made from the resistant cultivar SG107-35 inoculated with *XamCl0151*. A screen of 3x10⁸ clones was carried out founding one hundred fifty positive colonies. To verify these putative interactions, plasmid DNA was extracted and used to transform *E. coli*. To re-test the interaction, new plasmid DNA was extracted from this bacteria and used to retransform yeast, obtaining only five positive colonies. The sequence of these plasmids allowed to determinate that all five corresponded to the same gene (*Manes.03G064600*). This gene codes for a small protein of 358 aa containing a central CHY zinc finger domain followed by a C-terminal Ring finger domain and a Zinc-ribbon.

3.3.4 Production and validation of susceptible cassava plant overexpressing RXam1

In a first attempt we sought to validate the function of *RXam1* in cassava resistance to CBB following a silencing-based approach. For this, a fragment of 400pb corresponding to the STK region was amplified from the MBRA685 cultivar and cloned in a sense/antisense orientation into the pHellsgate12 binary vector. This construction was employed to transform CEF from cv. 60444. However after several assays and protocol modifications no transgenic plants were recovered.

As an additional strategy to validate the biological role of *RXam1* in resistance against CBB, we decided to overexpress RXam1 in a susceptible cultivar. After several attempts to clone the fulllength sequence of RXam1 from MBRA685 cDNA, we decided to used RXam1 from another resistant cultivar, MBRA902, which share high identity levels with the sequence of MBRA685 (data not shown). For this, we amplify the complete gene from MBRA902 using genomic DNA and cloned the complete CDS in the binary vector pCAMBIA1305.2 under a 35S promoter (Figure 3-3). FEC from the susceptible cassava cultivar cv. 60444 was transformed with A. tumefaciens strain LBA4404 containing pCAMBIA1305.2-35S::RXam1-NosT (designated OX-RXam1). As a transformation control, pCAMBIA1305.2 Empty Vector (E.V.) was also transformed. More than 100 embryos were regenerated and a total of 21 transgenic lines were recovered for RXam1 and 39 for E.V. Since pCAMBIA1305.2 carries *GusPlus* as a reporter gene, these plants were initially characterized by GUS staining of young leaves (Supplementary figure 3-3). Nineteen out of twenty-one OX-RXam1 plants and thirty-two out of thirty-nine plants containing the E.V. were positive for the GUS histochemical test. Further, GUS positive plants were characterized by PCR using *G3PDH* as an endogenous control and *htpl1* for transgenic plants detection (Supplementary figure 3-4). From these, in total eighteen plants were positive for htpll amplification (Supplementary figure 3-4). To identify independent transgenic lines and low copy number of insertions, Southern-blot analysis was conducted. At least three transgenic plants showed a single insertion event (one band) and ten transgenic plants showed double transgenic insertion events (two bands). From this, three single copy lines, L15, L16 and L18, were selected for subsequent functional assays (Supplementary figure 3-5).

Figure 3-3: Graphical representation of the T-DNA region from pCAMBIA1305.2 used for stable transformation of cv. 60444.

Boxes indicate promoter and terminator regions, arrows indicate open reading frames (ORFs). Enzymes used for molecular cloning on pCAMBIA1305.2 are showed as vertical lines.



To evaluate *RXam1* transcript levels in OX-RXam1 *in vitro* transgenic plants, a reverse transcriptase-PCR (RT-PCR) was performed using *RXam1*-specific primers. In this case PP2A primers were used to amplify a constitutive gene confirming the quality of cDNA (Moreno et al., 2011). The E.V. control plants and the no transgenic plants did not show expression of the *RXam1* gene, indicating very low expression levels of this gene in cassava unchallenged *in vitro* plants (Figure 1-3). On the other hand, in the three transgenic lines tested (L15, L16, L18), a band corresponding to *RXam1* expression with a size of 177pb was observed. This result indicates that OX-RXam1 transgenic lines (L15, L16, L18) displayed a constitutive and strong transgenic expression of *RXam1*.

Figure 3-4: Reverse transcriptase-PCR (RT-PCR) of RXam1 on transgenic cassava plants.

Total RNA was isolated from fresh *in vitro* leaves on three OX-RXam1 cassava transgenic lines (L15, L16, L18). cDNA was synthetized and *RXam1* and *PP2A* (reference control) expression levels were detected by PCR. NT, Non-transgenic cv. 60444 plants. G, genomic DNA of cv. 60444 plants. -, negative PCR control.



3.3.5 Phenotypic evaluation of transgenic plants overexpressing *RXam1* for resistance against CBB.

In order to assess the response of OX-RXam1 plants to *Xam*, leaves from *in vitro* plants were pierced in the mesophyll and dipped with a 10⁷ CFU ml⁻¹ bacterial suspension. *Xam* growth was assessed at 0, 3 and 7 days post inoculation (dpi). As control, plants transformed with E.V. were employed and the three transgenic OX-RXam1 lines were evaluated. Figure 3-5 shows *XamClO136* growth on *in vitro* cassava leaves after 3 and 7 dpi. Interestingly, all OX-RXam1 exhibited reduced bacterial titers at 3 and 7 dpi (Figure 3-5). This indicates overexpression of *RXam1* causes less susceptibility in a highly susceptible genetic background. To test if *RXam1* could confer resistance to other *Xam* strains, other set of the same group of plants was inoculated with *Xam226, Xam668* and *XamClO151*. However, *Xam* growth was similar in both control and OX-RXam1 lines (Supplementary figure 3-6). These results suggest the reduction in growth seems to be specific to *XamClO136* (Figure 3-5).

Figure 3-5: Bacterial growth of *XamClO136* on transgenic plants overexpressing *RXam1* is decreased compared with control plants.

Growth of *XamCl0136* on transgenic *in vitro* cassava plants carrying E.V. (purple squares) and three lines OX-RXam1: L15 (green circles), L16 (gray triangles) and L18 (blue diamonds). Leaves were inoculated with a 10^7 CFU/mL suspension of bacteria. The number of bacteria was quantified at 0, 3 and 7 dpi. Data points represent mean Log₁₀ CFU/cm² ± SE from 3 technical replicates. Statistical significance was assessed at 7 dpi at p< 0.05 using a Tukey-Kramer HSD test for post-ANOVA analysis. Letters indicate significant different groups. This experiment was repeated twice with similar results.



On the other hand, quicker disease symptoms development was also evidenced in E.V. control plants when compared with OX-RXam1 lines. This was noted as an enhanced plant wilting in E.V. plants compared with OX-RXam1 lines at 15 dpi (Supplementary figure 3-7). In addition, to characterize possible resistance responses to *Xam*, leaves inoculated with *XamCI0136* were stained with DAB (3,3'-diaminobenzidine) in order to detect ROS (reactive oxygen species) production in L16 and E.V. control plants. Leaves were detached at 2 dpi, stained with DAB and destained with ethanol. However, both OX-RXam1-L16 and E.V. control plants produce similar brown deposits, indicating *RXam1* overexpression does not induce ROS production (Supplementary figure 3-8).

3.4 Discussion

The purpose of this work was to functionally characterize a gene, called *RXam1*, associated with a previously described QTL explaining 13% of resistance to *XamClO136* in cassava.

RXam1 was first identified with primers designed from the *Xa21* sequence, a RLK from rice, thought to recognize a PAMP from *Xanthomonas oryzae* pv. oryzae. Indeed, *RXam1* codes for a receptor-like kinase harboring a N-terminal LRR, followed by a central TM and a C-terminal ST kinase domain. We found that *RXam1* expression appears to be transcriptionally induced upon *Xam* inoculation after 3 dpi in a resistant cultivar (Figure 3-2). In fact, in the absence of the

pathogen is troublesome to detect mRNA levels of RXam1 by RT-PCR. This gene expression profile is in concordance with previous results in our group where *RXam1* was also induced in stem and leaves in the resistant cultivars MBRA685 and SG107-35 after inoculation with XamCl0151 (Contreras and López, 2008). Other studies have shown genes coding for RLKs, including FLS2 (Boutrot et al., 2010), EFR (Zipfel et al., 2006), CERK1 (Miya et al., 2007) and XA21 as induced after pathogen perception. In contrast, genes coding for NLRs have a low basal expression and posses several distinct regulatory mechanisms, primarily at the protein level (Oi and Innes, 2013; Marone et al., 2013; Takken and Goverse, 2012). The induction of RLKs after pathogen perception might suggest the overexpression of RLK could produce deleterious effects when constitutively overexpressed in plants. However, we obtained transgenic cassava plants with strong constitutive expression of *RXam1* and relatively normal phenotypes. Similarly, other studies have shown the interfamily expression of EFR in tomato and tobacco produce normal plants (Lacombe et al., 2010). In tobacco a native *EFR* promoter was used while for tomato the strong constitutive 35S promoter was employed to produce EFR transgenic plants (Lacombe et al., 2010). Nevertheless, in both cases transgenic plants overexpressing a RLK with normal phenotypes were regenerated, indicating that RLKs overexpression does not necessarily produce a constitutive cell-death response. In the OX-RXam1 cassava plants a differential ROS production compared with the E.V. control plants was not observed, supporting the hypothesis that this RLK does not generate an implicit cell death response.

Through Y2H it was possible to identify a protein harboring a central CHY zinc finger domain followed by a C-terminal RING finger domain and a Zinc-ribbon as an interactor of the STK domain of RXam1. RING finger domains are common in Ubiquitin E3 ligases and are involved in distinct plant processes (Mazzucotelli et al., 2006; Troy et al., 2005). Interestingly, the Xa21 rice protein also interacts with an E3 ubiquitin ligase named XB3 to regulate their activity (Wang et al., 2006). This fact suggests a conserved mechanism between monocotyledonous to dicotyledonous plants to regulate some RLK proteins. Notably, a study found that a RING Zinc finger protein is involved in defense responses induced by chitin perception (Berrocal-lobo et al., 2010). Also, it is well known some PRRs appears to require ubiquitination for its regulation. For example once FLS2 activates the immunity-signaling pathway, it interacts with PUBs, a family of E3 ligases, to direct FLS2 to the proteasome machinery, avoiding thus the prolonged activation of plant immunity. Our results suggest RXam1 regulation could also be mediated by the protein degradation machinery.

In a first instance we anticipated RXam1 might code for a PRR involved in broad-spectrum resistance given its similarity to XA21 and other RLKs involved in PTI. In addition, this gene corresponds to a QTL, which are usually related to broad spectrum disease resistance (French et al., 2016; St.Clair, 2010). Accordingly, we evaluated the response of the OX-RXam1 transgenic plants to four different Xam strains. However, a reduction in Xam growth was only observed in plants inoculated with XamCl0136 (Figure 3-5 and Supplementary figure 3-6). Thus, RXam1 seems to confer resistance only to the strain corresponding to the OTL previously reported (lorge et al., 2000). Nevertheless, before concluding on the strain-specific nature of *RXam1* it should be convenient to evaluate the response of the OX-RXam1 plants to other Xam strains. Three of the strains used in this study were collected in Colombia (XamCl0136 and XamCl0151) in 1995 (Restrepo and Verdier, 1997), and Xam226 in 2008 (Trujillo et al., 2014c); while Xam668, was collected in Indonesia in 1978 (Bart et al., 2012). Interestingly, the marker associated to the QTL where *RXam1* is located, comes from the female parental (TMS30572) used for generating the genetic cassava map. This genotype is derived from an interspecific cross between Manihot esculenta and the wild relative, M. glaziovii (Fregene et al., 1997). Since the Brazilian Amazonian forest is considered the botanical origin of cassava and other wild relatives as *M. glaziovii*, it will be interesting to evaluate the response of the OX-RXam1 transgenic plants to Brazilian strains. In addition, a silencing based approach or gene edition through CRISPR/Cas of RXam1 in M. glaziovii might aid to understand the role of this gene in a wild species background.

In this work, even that it was possible to observe a significant diminution in susceptibility in the OX-RXam1 transgenic plants to *XamClO136*, it was not dramatically different to the E.V. transgenic control plants. In addition, no effect in disease resistance was observed for other *Xam* strains. However, it is important to consider the cassava variety employed to conduct the transformation experiments and the contribution of the QTL associated to *RXam1* to the phenotypic variation. Transgenic plants were obtained from cv. 60444, a highly susceptible cultivar not only to CIO136 but also to other *Xam* strains (Trujillo et al., 2014c). In addition, the QTL associated to *Xam* resistance (XM5) explained only 13% of the phenotypic variation (Jorge et al., 2000). These two elements made difficult to observe slight differences in response to other *Xam* strains and in consequence could mask the real effect of *RXam1* in CBB resistance and also lead to catalogue *RXam1* as a strain-specific gene.

Although *RXam1* seems to confer some degree of resistance to *Xam* strain CIO136, it is important to note that other genes present in the QTL region can be also participating in response to CBB. Since a simple regression method was employed for mapping XM5 (Jorge et al., 2000), the interval containing *RXam1* is not well delimited. There are several genes in a region spanning 350 kb around *RXam1* and although no genes coding for NLRs were found in this interval, other genes coding for proteins harboring LRR and kinase domains were identified (Supplementary Table 3-2). The gene edition of each of these candidate genes using the CRISPR/Cas system, for example, could help to clarify if they have a role in CBB resistance not only to *XamCIO136* but also to other *Xam* strains.

In this work we demonstrated that RXam1 seems to have role in resistance to *Xam* strain CIO136 and although no effect was observed to other *Xam* strains, several considerations should be taken into account before considering this gene a strain-specific resistance gene. No resistance gene has been isolated in cassava to any of the different diseases affecting this crop. Thus, *RXam1* represent the first resistance gene isolated in cassava.

While in the recent years several genes have been isolated from QTLs (Roux et al., 2014; French et al., 2016), this is the first report of a typical immunity-RLK involved in QDR. Several authors based on the co-localization of genes coding for NBS with QTLs have proposed that genes underlying QDR can be shared with genes involved in ETI. In this work we propose to expand this idea proposing genes involved in PTI (classical RLKs, as RXam1) can be also participating in QDR, helping to the understanding of the molecular bases of quantitative resistance.

3.5 Materials and methods

3.5.1 *RXam1* identification and isolation

BAC screening and hibridization

PCR250 corresponds to a DNA cassava fragment amplified with primers from the *Xa21* showing similarity to the rice *Xa21* gene (Jorge et al. 2000). A vector-free PCR250 was labeled with ³²a-ATP, using the Multiprime DNA Labeling System (Amersham Biosciences, Arlington Heights, IL, USA) and used as probe to screen a cassava BAC library constructed from TMS30001 (Tomkins et al. 2004). Hybridization was performed as described previously (Amersham Biosciences, Arlington Heights, IL, USA). Blots were exposed to X-ray films (Kodak) at -80°C, with intensifying

screens. Positive BAC clones were isolated and DNA was extracted, using the R.E.A.L. Prep 96 Plasmid Kit (QIAGEN, Inc., Valencia, CA, USA). DNA was digested with *Hin*dIII, separated on 0.9% agarose gels and transferred onto nylon membranes (Hybond-N⁺, Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Ltd., Buckinghamshire, UK) and hybridized with the probe PCR250 as described above. BAC sequencing was performed with 10 ul of DNA using vector-derived primers. From the sequence generated new sets of primers were designed with the software Primer3 (Rozen and Skaletsky 2000). Sequencing reactions were carried out, using the ABI PRISM[®] BigDye[™] Terminator Kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). The products were run on an ABI PRISM[®] 3100 DNA sequencer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). The sequences were edited with the Sequencher program (Gene Codes Corporation, Ann Arbor, MI, USA). Similarity searches were carried out, using the BLASTx algorithm (Altschul et al. 1997) and alignment and bioinformatics analyses conducted with ClustalW (Chenna et al. 2003).

Isolation, amplification and sequencing of RXam1 from MBRA685

Genomic DNA was extracted from the resistant cultivar MBRA685 following a previously described protocol (Dellaporta et al., 1983). Based on the *RXam1* sequence obtained from the BAC clone, different primers were designed and *RXam1* was amplified by fragments to produce a complete contig. PCR reactions were performed in a 50 µL volume consisting of 0.2 mM of dNTPs, 0.1 mM of each primer, 1X PCR buffer, 2.5 mM MgCl₂, 1 U of Taq DNA polymerase (Invitrogen Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA), and 100 ng of genomic DNA. Amplification was carried out in a Perkin-Elmer thermal cycler programmed for an initial denaturation at 93°C for 2 min, followed by 35 amplification cycles (93°C for 45 s, with T_m depending on each primer, for 45 s and 72°C for 1 min and 20 s), and a final extension step at 72°C for 10 min. The amplified fragments were eluted from a 1.2% low-melting agarose gel (Invitrogen Life Technologies Carlsbad, CA, USA). Bands were excised from the gel and purified, using a PCR-preps kit (Promega, Madison, WI, USA). In some cases, the PCR fragment was purified and sequenced directly.

To obtain the complete sequence of *RXam1*, including the UTR regions, 5' and 3' RACE was carried out with 3-months-old MBRA685 plants inoculated with *XamClO136*. Leaves were inoculated as described previously (Restrepo and Verdier, 1997), and then collected at 6, 12, 24,

48, and 72 hpi, and 5 and 7 dpi. Total RNA was extracted from inoculated and non-inoculated tissues, using the RNeasy Mini Kit (QIAGEN, Inc., Valencia, CA, USA). 5' and 3' RACE were carried out using the First Choice RLM-RACE system (Ambion, Inc., Austin, TX, USA). Double-stranded cDNA was prepared, using the ProSTAR[®] First-Strand RT-PCR kit (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA, USA). For PCR amplifications, 1 μL of this cDNA was used. The synthesized cDNA was amplified, using glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (G3PDH) as quality control for cDNA synthesis and to normalize. As negative control, the same RNA preparation was subject to cDNA synthesis but in the absence of the RT enzyme.

3.5.2 Expression analysis of RXam1

Semi-quantitative RT-PCR analysis was carried out in MBRA685 and TMS3001. 3-months-old plants were inoculated in the leaves, total RNA was extracted and cDNA was obtained as described in the previous section for 3' and 5' RACE assays. For RT-PCR *G3PDH* was used as a reference control.

3.5.3 Yeast two hybrid assays

A fragment of *RXam1* that contained a region coding for STK domain was cloned in PLAW11 and transformed in yeast cells AH109. Clones containing this fragment were used as bait against a cassava cDNA library made from the resistant cultivar SG107-35 inoculated with *XamCl0151* containing inserts ranging from 600 to 1500 bp cloned in pDONR222. The library was transfered to the pLAW10 vector and transformed in yeast AH109. Positive colonies from the first screen were plated again in selection medium to confirm its growth. Plasmid DNA was extracted from these secondary positive colonies and the interactions were again re-confirmed individually. Plasmids obtained from this test were extracted, transformed in *E. coli* and sequenced by standard Sanger sequencing.

3.5.4 Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of a susceptible cassava cultivar

Plasmid construction and bacterial strains for RXam1 overexpression

For cassava transformation a plasmid containing *35S::RXam1-NosT* in the MCS of the binary vector pCAMBIA1305.2 (Canberra, Australia) was developed. This vector contains *hygromycin*

phosphotransferase gene (htpII) as a selection marker and B-glucoronidase (GusPlus) as a reporter gene. To create pCAMBIA1305.2 (35S::RXam1-NosT) the 35S promoter of Cauliflower mosaic virus (35Sp), full-length Manes.10G014300 (RXam1) and Nopaline synthase terminator (NosT) were first amplified with primers containing restriction enzyme sites and cloned separately using TOPO-TA subcloning kit (Life Technologies GmbH, Darmstadt, Germany). The 35Sp was amplified with a set of primers containing restriction sites for *EcoRI* (35SEcoRI F) and *SacI* (35SSacI R), while the primers for the NosT amplification contained the restriction sites *BamHI* (NostBamHI F) and Sall (NostSall R). RXam1 was amplified from genomic DNA of a cassava resistant cultivar (MBRA902) using primers containing restriction sites for Kpnl (RXam1Kpnl F) and BamHI (RXam1BamHI R). Primers sequences used for cloning are showed in Supplementary Table 1-1. Once the clones were confirmed by PCR and sequenced. 35SP and NosT clones were independently digested with the respective enzymes (EcoRI and SacI for 35SP and BamHI and SalI for NosT) and ligated in the Multiple Cloning Site (MCS) of pCAMBIA1305.2. When the insertion of 35SP and NosT on the MCS of pCAMBIA1305.2 was confirmed by PCR and sequencing, the clone containing RXam1 on TOPO-TA was digested with KpnI and BamHI and ligated in between 35SP and NosT. The final binary vector containing 35S::RXam1-NosT, was confirmed by PCR and standard Sanger sequencing.

All PCR reactions used for molecular cloning and confirmation were performed in a 10 μ l volume consisting of 0.2 mM of dNTPs, 0.1 mM of each primer, 1X DreamTaq buffer, 1 U of DreamTaq DNA Polymerase (ThermoScientific, Waltham, MA, USA) and 100 ng of DNA. Amplification was carried out in a Bio-Rad thermal cycler programmed for an initial denaturation at 95°C for 3 min, followed by 35 amplification cycles (95°C for 30 s, with T_m depending on each primer, for 45 s and 72°C for 1 min and 20 s), and a final extension step at 72°C for 10 min.

All digestion reactions of TOPO-TA clones and pCAMBIA1305.2 were carried out at 37°C on a water bath during 3 hours using 10 U of restriction enzyme in a final volume of 20 µl (ThermoScientific, Waltham, MA, USA). The corresponding fragments were run and eluted from a 1% agarose gel. Bands were excised from the gel and purified, using The Wizard® SV Gel and PCR Clean-Up System (Promega, Madison, WI, USA). Purified fragments were used for ligation on pCAMBIA1305.2 using a T4 DNA ligase following the manufacturer's instructions (ThermoScientific, Waltham, MA, USA). Ligation reactions were transformed into *E. coli DH10B* and plasmids from PCR positive clones were obtained using GeneJET Plasmid Miniprep Kit

(ThermoScientific, Waltham, MA, USA). One the clones were confirmed by PCR and standard Sanger sequencing, were transformed into *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* strain LBA4404 by electroporation.

E. coli cells were cultivated at 37°C in LB (Luria-Bertani) broth medium and *A. tumefaciens* LBA4404 at 28°C in YEB medium (10 g yeast extract. 10 g Bacto peptone, 5 g NaCl) supplemented with streptomycin 50 ug ml⁻¹ rifampicin 100 ug ml⁻¹ and kanamycin 50 ug ml⁻¹.

FEC isolation and transformation

Friable embryogenic callus (FEC) from the susceptible cassava cultivar 60444 was isolated and used for *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation as previously described (Bull et al 2009; Taylor et al, 2012;) with modifications. Briefly, organized embryogenic structures (OES) were generated from axillar meristems of four weeks-old *in vitro* plants and maintained through cycles of secondary embryogenesis. OES were purified by removing non-embryogenic tissue and hovered through a metallic mesh for induction of FEC. After three cycles of subcultures, FECs were co-cultured for three days in the dark at 21°C with *A. tumefaciens* strain LBA4404 carrying the constructs of interest [optical density (OD) at 660nm= 0,05]. Empty vector pCAMBIA1305.2 was used as control.

3.5.5 Recovery of transgenic plants

Transgenic FEC were first selected on Greshoff and Doy (GD) medium (Greshoff & Doy 1974) supplemented with Picloram (12 mg l⁻¹), cefotaxime (250 mg l⁻¹) and hygromycin (20 mg l⁻¹) for two cycles of 21 days each. Next, selection proceed on Murashige and Skoog (MS) medium (Murashige & Skoog 1962), supplemented with naphthalene acetic acid (NAA; 0,19 mg l⁻¹), cefotaxime (100 mg l⁻¹) and hygromycin (20 mg l⁻¹) for two subcultures of 21 days each, the second of which was carried out in the dark, without cefotaxime, NAA at 0,04 mg l⁻¹, and hygromycin at 20 mg l⁻¹. Elongated embryos were then transferred to MS medium supplemented with sucrose (2% w v⁻¹) and 0,45 mg l⁻¹ benzylaminopurine (BAP). Plantlets were rooted on MS supplemented with sucrose (2% w v⁻¹) and hygromycin 20 mg l⁻¹.

3.5.6 Molecular evaluation of transgenic lines

β-Glucuronidase (GUS) assays

Since the T-DNA of pCAMBIA1305.2 contains *GusPlus* as a reported gene, a GUS assay was employed for a preliminary characterization of putative transgenic plants. For this, fresh leafs from *in vitro* plants were selected and immersed in X-Gluc buffer (NaH₂PO₄ 0.02 M, Na₂HPO₄ 0.03 M, K₄FeCN₆ 0.25 mM, K₃FeCN₆ 0.25 mM, DMSO 10 % (p/v), triton X-100 0.5 % (v/v) and X-Gluc (5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl β -D-glucuronide) 1 mg/mL (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA). Leafs were incubated at 37^o C during 16 h in dark conditions. Leafs were destained and photographs were taken.

DNA extraction and PCR

Genomic DNA was extracted from fresh leafs of *in vitro* plantlets using the Plant DNA Extraction Protocol for DArT, (Available online: http://www.diversityarrays.com/sites/default/files/pub/DArT_DNA_isolation.pdf). For preliminary characterization of transgenic lines a PCR was performed from genomic DNA using gene-specific primers for *RXam1* (RXam1RT F and RXam1RT R) and the selection marker gene *hptII* (hptIIprobe F and hptIIprobe R). PCR reactions consisted of an initial denaturation step of 3min at 93°C, followed by 35 cycles of 93°C for30 s, 56°C for 30s, 72°C for 1 min, and a final extension at 72°C for 5 min.

Southern Blot analysis

For the identification of independent transgenic events, southern-blot assays were performed as previously described (Taylor et al, 2012). DNA was digested using *KpnI*, which cuts once the T-DNA at the start of *RXam1*. A 587pb *hptII* probe was synthetized by PCR (hptIIprobe F and hptIIprobe R) using the PCR DIG probe synthesis kit (Roche Applied Science, Indianapolis, IN, USA). Hybridization and detection was carried out according to manufacturer's instructions using anti-DIG antibody and CDP-star (Roche Applied Science, Indianapolis, IN, USA).

RT-PCR analysis

Total RNA was extracted from *in vitro* leaves using Invitrap ® Spin plant RNA minikit (STRATEC, Berlín, GER). 1 µg of total RNA was treated with DNaseI RNase-free (ThermoScientific, Waltham, MA, USA), this was confirmed by PCR. First strand synthesis was performed with oligo(dT)₁₈ primers using the First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (ThermoScientific, Waltham, MA, USA). *RXam1* expression levels were assessed using β -tubulin as reference control. RXam1RT F and RXam1RT R were used for *RXam1* and tub3exRT F and tub3exRT R were used for β -tubulin.

Plant inoculations

Cassava *in vitro* plants were grown in a growth chamber at 28°C under 16h of light on MS medium supplemented with sucrose (2% w v⁻¹). *Xam* strains were grown at 28°C on liquid LPG medium (5 g yeast extract, 5 g dextrose and 5 g peptone per L of distilled water) and resuspended in 10mM MgCl₂. 2 month-old *in vitro* cassava plants were selected for Q-Tip leaf inoculation. Briefly, young leaves were punctured in the mesophyll (apoplast) using an insulin-syringe. Each leaf was then wiped on both adaxial and abaxial side using a Q-Tip previously immersed in a *Xam* cell suspension [optical density at 600nm (OD_{600nm})= 0,02,~10^7 colony forming units (CFU ml⁻¹)]. Bacterial growth was assessed after 3 and 8 dpi. The complete leaf was ground in 100 µL of 10mM MgCl₂. Serial dilutions were plated on LPGA (5 g yeast extract, 5 g dextrose, 5 g peptone and 15 g agar per L of distilled water).

3.6 Supplementary information

Primer	Sequence (5' to 3')	Gene_ID	
35SEcoRI F	GCAGAATTCTCAACATGGTGGAGCAC	250	
35SSacI R	TGCGAGCTCGTCCCCGGTGTTCTCTCC	35S promoter	
NostBamHI F	GCAGGATCCCGTTCAAACATTTGGC	Nostermingtor	
NostSalI R	TGCGTCGACCCCGATCTAGTAACATAG	Nos terminator	
RXam1KpnI F	GCAGGTACCATGGGGTGTGGATGCTTCTG	Manag 10C014200	
RXam1BamHI R	TGCGGATCCCTTAGGTGTAGATTTC	Munes.106014300	
RXam1RT R ACTGGTAGATGCAACCACTCCTCA		Manos 10C014300	
RXam1RT F	TGGAGCAGCTAAGTCTTTCATGGC	Manes.100014500	
PP2A F	TGCAAGGCTCACACTTTCATC	Manes.09G039900	

Supplementary table 3-1: List of primers used in this study.

PP2A R	CTGAGCGTAAAGCAGGGAAG			
tub3exRT F	GGAAAGATGAGCACCAAGGA	Manag 08C061700		
tub3exRT R	ACCAGTATACCAGTGCAAGAAG	Munes.086081700		
G3PDHcassava F	CTGGTGGTTCAGGTATCAAAGA	Manos 11(072400		
G3PDHcassava R	CCATATCATCTCCCATCACCATT	Manes.116072400		
hptIIprobe F	CGTCTGCTGCTCCATACAAG	Illugromusing phosphotranforase		
hptIIprobe R	ATAGCTGCGCCGATGGTT	nygromycine prosphotranjerase		

Supplementary table 3-2: Genes located near RXam1 QTL (XM5) in a region spanning 350 kb.

	Position/	Annotation				
Locus name	orientation	Annotation				
	946748949615	SERINE/THREGNINE-PROTEIN KINASE-LIKE PROTEIN CCR3-RELATED				
Manes.10G012100	forward	SERINE/ THREONINE-I KOTENV KINASE-EIKET KOTENV GGRS-REEKTED				
	953600960188	Transcription factor NF-X1 contains NFX-type 7n2+-binding and R3H domains				
Manes.10G012200	reverse					
	961201962782	SERINE/THREONINE-PROTEIN KINASE-LIKE PROTEIN CCR3-RELATED				
Manes.10G012300	reverse					
	963646965704	SERINE/THREONINE-PROTEIN KINASE-LIKE PROTEIN CCR3-RELATED				
Manes.10G012400	forward					
	966843968646	SERINE/THREONINE-PROTEIN KINASE-LIKE PROTEIN CCR3-RELATED				
Manes.10G012500	forward					
	993046995138	SERINE/THREONINE-PROTEIN KINASE-LIKE PROTEIN CCR3-RELATED				
Manes.10G012600	forward					
	9960681001324	Phosphoinositide phospholinase C / Triphosphoinositide phosphodiesterase				
Manes.10G012700	reverse					
Manes.10G012800	1008787101241	PHOSPHOINOSITIDE PHOSPHOLIPASE C 6				
	2 reverse					
	1020020102271	PEPTIDYL-PROLYL CIS-TRANS ISOMERASE				
Manes.10G012900	1 forward					
	1024740102536	PROTEIN FARLY FLOWERING 4				
Manes.10G013000	1 reverse					
	1033551103371					
Manes.10G013100	2 forward					
	1033832103737	GDSL ESTERASE/LIPASE CPRD49				
Manes.10G013200	7 reverse	······································				
	1042308104974					
Manes.10G013300	5 reverse					
	1050244105703	PAX6 NEIGHBOR PROTEIN PAXNEB				
Manes.10G013400	2 reverse					
	1067407107000	ALPHA/BETA HYDROLASE RELATED PROTEIN				
Manes.10G013500	5 forward					
Manes.10G013600	1070710107839	NUCLEOPORIN NUP84-RELATED				

	1 forward	
	1079045108302	
Manes.10G013700	5 reverse	CITOLIKOME P430 90A1
	1091586109616	PROTFIN VIPPFF-LIKF
Manes.10G013800	0 forward	
	1100163110646	Arginyltransferase / Arginyl-tRNAprotein transferase
Manes.10G013900	4 reverse	
Marca 100014000	1092711114113	
Manes.10G014000	forward	
Mara an 100014100	1115463111817	CLATHRIN LIGHT CHAIN 2
Manes.106014100	8 reverse	
Mara an 100014300	1118508112076	OVARIAN CANCER GENE-2 PROTEIN-RELATED
Manes.10G014200	2 reverse	
Manaa 100014200	1122770112627	Protein kinase domain (Pkinase) // Leucine Rich Repeat (LRR_1) // Leucine rich
Manes.10G014300	8 forward	repeat N-terminal domain (LRRNT_2), (RXam1)
Manaa 100014400	1127583112832	PLEKHH PROTEIN
Manes.106014400	1 forward	
Manos 10C014500	1129990113331	Protein kinase domain (Pkinase) // Leucine rich repeat N-terminal domain
Munes.100014500	2 reverse	(LRRNT_2) // Leucine rich repeat (LRR_8)
Manes 10C014600	1142192114579	NUCLEOLAR HISTONE METHYLTRANSFERASE-RELATED PROTEIN
Mulles.100014000	8 reverse	
Manes 10G014700	1147516114780	
	6 reverse	
Manes.10G014800	П148281115064	NUCLEOLAR HISTONE METHYLTRANSFERASE-RELATED PROTEIN
	5 reverse	
Manes.10G014900	1152921115404	Protein of unknown function (DUF724) (DUF724)
	6 IOFWAFU	
Manes.10G015000	1155564115582	
	1167161 116061	
Manes.10G015100	0 roverse	NUCLEOLAR HISTONE METHYLTRANSFERASE-RELATED PROTEIN
	1160579 116363	
Manes.10G015200	7 forward	Protein of unknown function (DUF724) (DUF724)
	1167594 117260	
Manes.10G015300	3 reverse	AUXIN TRANSPORTER PROTEIN 1-RELATED
	1169884 117074	
Manes.10G015400	3 forward	
	1197588 120079	Leucine Rich Reneat (IRR 1) // Protein tyrosine kinase (Pkinase Tyr) // Leucine
Manes.10G015500	0 forward	rich repeat N-terminal domain (LRRNT 2) // Leucine rich repeat (LRR 8
	1203529.120693	Protein kinase domain (Pkinase) // Leucine rich repeat N-terminal domain
Manes.10G015600	2 forward	(LRRNT 2) // Leucine rich repeat (LRR 8)
	1208420120985	
Manes.10G015700	9 reverse	MONOOXYGENASE
	J ICVCISE	
Manes.10G015800	1211558121485 6 forward	Protein tyrosine kinase (Pkinase_Tyr) // Leucine rich repeat N-terminal domain (LRRNT_2) // Leucine rich repeat (LRR_8)
-----------------	----------------------------	--
Manes.10G015900	1226833122956 5 forward	Protein kinase domain (Pkinase) // Leucine Rich Repeat (LRR_1) // Leucine rich repeat N-terminal domain (LRRNT 2) // Leucine rich repeat (LRR 8)
Manes.10G016000	1259267126275 2 forward	Protein kinase domain (Pkinase) // Leucine rich repeat N-terminal domain (LRRNT_2) // Leucine rich repeat (LRR_8)
Manes.10G016100	1266018126894 9 forward	60S ACIDIC RIBOSOMAL PROTEIN P0
Manes.10G016200	1275042127684 4 forward	Hs1pro-1 protein C-terminus (Hs1pro-1_C)
Manes.10G016300	1295954129862 8 forward	
Manes.10G016400	1300434130602 0 reverse	Glucuronosyl-N-acetylglucosaminyl-proteoglycan4-alpha-N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase / acetylglucosaminyltransferase
Manes.10G016500	1302609130399 4 forward	
Manes.10G016600	1312629131424 4 forward	AQUAPORIN PIP1-4-RELATED

Supplementary figure 3-1: Basic local alignment between *RXam1* and *Xa21* at amino acid level.

A period, indicates conservation between groups of weakly similar properties; a colon, indicates conservation between groups of strongly similar properties; an asterisk, indicates positions that have a single and fully conserved residue.

Xa21	MISLPLLLFVLLFSALLLCPSSSDDDGDAAGDELALLSFKSSLLYQGGQSLASWNTSG	58
RXam	MGCGCFWSCFYIHAVVYLLFFPSTTYATGGNETDRLALLEFMGKIDADPFGVLSSWNSSV	60
	.: ::: . **: **: *. *.***.*: : *:***:*	
Xa21	HGQHCTWVGVVCGRRRRRHPHRVVKLLLRSSNLSGIISPSLGNLSFLRELDLGDNYLSGE	118
RXam	HFCQWYGVTCSRRHQRVTVLDLNSLKLAGTIPPHIGNLSFLKVLDLKNNSFRQN	114
	* .* * **.*.** :**. * *.* :*:* *.* :*****: *** :* : :	
Xa21	IPPELSRLSRLQLLELSDNSIQGSIPAAIGACTKLTSLDLSHNQLRGMIPREIGASLKHL	178
RXam	IPPEVGRLRRLHTLYLYNNSLSGEIPSNLSRCSGLVRLSLVNNILAGEIPVELG-LLSKL ****:.** **: * * :**: *. *: *: *: *: *: *: *: *: *: *: *: *: *:	173
Xa21	SNLYLYKNGLSGEIPSALGNLTSLOEFDLSFNRLSGAIPSSLGOLSSLLTMNLGONNLSG	238
RXam	QFLSVSRNNLSGIIPPSLGNLSSLTTLSAGLNNFVGEVPEALGQLKNLRFLGLFMNQLSG . * : :*.*** **.:**** ::*.: * :*.:***** :.* *:****	233
Xa21	MIPNSIWNLSSLRAFSVRENKLGGMIPTNAFKTLHLLEVIDMGTNRFHGKIPASVANASH	298
RXam	TIPSSVFNLSSITLFDIASNQFEGKLPRDLFIFLPKLETFSIAVNQFTGPIPNSASNASN ** *::***** *: *: *: * * * **:::::******	293
Xa21	LTVIOIYGNLFSGIITSGFGRLRNLTELYLWRNLFOTREODDWGFISDLTNCSKLOTLNL	358
RXam	LLHLQLQGNKLTGKVPSLEMLNIVAFFIDNNIIGNGEFDDLGFLCSLTNASSLQLLDI	351
Xa21	GENNLGGVLPNSFSNLSTSLSFLALELNKTTGSTPKDIGNLIGLOHLYLCNNNFRGSLPS	418
RXam	SRNKLGGEIPECIGNLSSNLAMLSLHQNQISGKIPDGIGNLVNLESIEAYKNKLSGIIPP .*:*** :*:.: **::*:*:*:*:*:*:*:*:*:*:*:*	411
Xa21	SLGRLKNLGILLAYENNLSGSIPLAIGNLTELNILLLGTNKFSGWIPYTLSNLTNLLSLG	478
am	SIGNLQNLVKLILDENKISGPIPSSLGNLTSLNRLHSADNDLQGTIPSSLADCKNLQVLD	471
Xa21	I.STNNI.SCPTPSEI.ENTOTI.STMINUSKNNI.ECSTPOFICHI.KNI.VEFHAESNBI.SCKTP	538
RXam	FSRNNLTGTLPPQVIGLSSLSIYVGFAQNNLRGSIPREVENLKNLGIFDVSDNKLSGEIP	531
V-01		EOO
RXam	SSLGSCISLEYLYMQGNQFQGPIPSSLSSLRGLQVLNLSYNNLSGQIPFISLADIIMLASL	590
V 01		656
XdZ1	NLSENSEVGEVPTIGAFAAASGISIQGNAKLCGGIPDLHLPRCCPLLENKKHFPVLP1	656
RXam	NLSFNNFEGRAPTDGIFKNASIVSVTGNSKLCGIPEFQLPACNFKRSEKKKVKVIVGII *****.* *** * * ** :*: **:*******:::** * .:::: *: *	650
Xa21	SVSLAAALAILSSLYLLITWHKRTKKG-APSRTSMKGHPLVSYSQLVKATDGFAPTNLLG	715
RXam	AGGLGAILVVLSFIFLLRLRKKSRKPSSSYSENSLLELPKVSYRDLYKATDGFSSENLIG : .*.* *.:** ::** :* *.:* *.*: * *** :* *****: ****	710
Xa21	SGSFGSVYKGKLN-IQDHVAVKVLKLENPKALKSFTAECEALRNMRHRNLVKIVTICSSI	774
RXam	TGSFGSVYKGILDEGGPVVAVKVLNLQHHGAAKSFMAECEALRNIRHRNLVKILTACSGV :******** *: *****:*: * *** **********	770
Xa21	DNRGNDFKAIVYDFMPNGSLEDWIHPETNDQADQRHLNLHRRVTILLDVACALDYLH	831
RXam	DYQGNDFKALVYEYMDNGNLEEWLHLPVSADRNHGEPKNLNLLQRVNIAIDVASAIEYLH * .***********************************	830
Xa21	RHGPEPVVHCDIKSSNVLLDSDMVAHVGDFGLARILVDGTS-LIOOSTSSMGFIGTIGYA	890
RXam	HHCGNPIXHCDLKPSNVLLDGQMTAHIGDFGLAKFLLENMHNNSTNQFSSIGLRGTIGYA :* :*: ***** ****** :* ******** ::*::: : **:**	890
Xa21	APEYGVGLIASTHGDIYSYGILVLEIVTGKRPTDSTFRPDLGLROYVELGLHGRVTDVVD	950
RXam	PPEYGLGSEVSTYGDVYSYGVLLLEMFTGKRPTDDMFKEGLNLHKFAESALPNRVNEIVD ***** *******************************	950
Xa21	TKLILDSENWLNSTNNSPCRRISPCRRI	972
RXam	PILFQESHSEKPMNGRSNRIMMEFLISIVGIGIACSAELPANRMEINDAAKKLCLIRDKL	1010
Xa21	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
RYam	ΜΔΡΩΓΓΓΥΥ 1019	
wall	MALDEBILI 1013	

Supplementary figure 3-2: Histochemical GUS assay on in vitro leaves from transgenic cassava plants.



Supplementary figure 3-3: PCR from genomic DNA isolated on *in vitro* leaves from transgenic cassava plants.



Supplementary figure 3-4: Southern-blot analysis of OX-RXam1 putative transgenic plants





Supplementary figure 3-5: Bacterial growth of three Xam strains on OX-RXam1 in vitro transgenic plants.

A Xam226. B XamCl0151. C Xam668.

Supplementary figure 3-6: Disease symptoms at 15 dpi on OX-RXam1 in vitro transgenic plants.



Supplementary figure 3-7: DAB staining on leaves inoculated with *XamClO136* at 2 dpi in OX-RXam1 on L.16 and E.V. control plants.



Chapter 4

"No hables a menos que puedas mejorar el silencio"

"Don't talk unless you can improve the silence"

Jorge Luis Borges

4 Functional analysis of RXam2, a NLR from cassava (*Manihot esculenta* Crantz) involved in resistance to *Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. manihotis.

Paula Díaz Tatis, Juan Camilo Ochoa, Mónica Prías, Adriana Medina, Paul Chavarriaga and Camilo López

4.1 Abstract

Cassava (*Manihot esculenta* Crantz) is a tropical crop that ranks first as a source of calories among root and tuber crops. Cassava production is severely compromised by a diverse array of pathogens. A bacterial disease known as cassava bacterial blight (CBB) is present in all regions where cassava is cultivated. The causal agent of CBB is *Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv manihotis (*Xam*). Previous analyses have identified QTLs and RGC associated with resistance to *Xam* strains. Here we sought to validate the functional role a NLR associated with a QTL to *XamCl0151* called *RXam2* (*Resistance to Xam 2*). Transgenic cassava plants expressing small interfering RNA (siRNA) derived from *RXam2* were generated and analyzed. *RXam2* silenced plants showed enhanced susceptibility to all *Xam* strains tested. In addition, transgenic cassava plants overexpressing *RXam2* were produce. Our results suggest the overexpression of *RXam2* confers less susceptibility to *Xam*. Furthermore, as a proof of concept, an activator trap promoter was developed to induce the expression of a mutated autoactive version of RXam2. Altogether, our results indicate *RXam2* contributes to broad-spectrum resistance to *Xam* strains.

4.2 Introduction

On a traditional genetic basis, plant disease resistance has been divided in two broad categories: qualitative and quantitative resistance. The former refers to a complete or monogenic resistance that is determined by major R genes, while the latter explains partial, incomplete or polygenic resistance that is governed by several genes, each one contributing at different level to resistance (St.Clair, 2010). Due to the complex nature of quantitative disease resistance (ODR), is more challenging to be employed in breeding programs compared with qualitative resistance (Michelmore et al., 2013). Nevertheless, considering its polygenic nature, QDR has always been associated with durable and broad-spectrum resistance (Poland et al., 2009; Roux et al., 2014). Remarkably, in the last ten years several strategies have lead to the identification of at least eleven genes coding for structurally diverse proteins underlying QDR in wheat, rice, maize, soybean, Arabidopsis and barley (Roux et al., 2014; French et al., 2016). However, to date the molecular mechanism underlying QDR is not clear. On the other hand, qualitative resistance has been relatively well studied. The most important contribution to this knowledge comes from the identification and function of classical *Resistance* (R) genes. These genes code for intracellular receptors that sense pathogen effector proteins using diverse molecular mechanisms (Cesari et al., 2014; Duxbury et al., 2016). These intracellular receptors are called nucleotide-binding domain and leucine-rich repeat (NLRs) for the presence of these two groups of conserved domains. Upon pathogen perception by NLRs a series of signaling events are rapidly triggered leading to the development of a programmed cell death called hypersensitive response (HR) (Coll et al., 2011). This implies a strict molecular control of NLR activation in the absence of invading pathogens. One of the most studied are the intra- and inter-molecular steady state inhibition of NLRs required for robust immune signaling (Takken and Tameling, 2009; Takken and Goverse, 2012; Duxbury et al., 2016).

NLRs contain an N-terminal domain putatively involved in signaling, a conserved central NB-ARC (nucleotide-binding shared with APAF-1, resistance proteins and CED-4) domain and a divergent C-terminal domain containing leucine-rich repeats (Takken and Goverse, 2012). The NB-ARC domain comprises three subdomains: NB, ARC1 and ARC2 (van Ooijen et al., 2008b; Lukasik and Takken, 2009; Qi et al., 2012). A substitution of aspartate (D) for valine (V) in MHD motif of the ARC2 subdomain has proven to result in the activation of NLRs in the absence on the pathogen in multiple species (Bendahmane et al., 2002; De La Fuente Van Bentem et al., 2005; Howles et al., 2005; Rairdan and Moffett, 2006; van Ooijen et al., 2008a; Gao et al., 2011; Maekawa et al., 2011a; Williams et al., 2011; Bai et al., 2012; Roberts et al., 2013; Stirnweis et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2015c). In accordance, this autoactivating mutation often leads to lethal or severe dwarf phenotypes (Howles et al., 2005; Gao et al., 2011; Roberts et al., 2013).

Cassava is a perennial shrub native from South America and domesticated in the southwestern part of the Amazon region (Allem, 1999; Olsen and Schaal, 1999; Bredeson et al., 2016). Its

97

starchy roots provide calories for around 1000 million people in tropical and sub-tropical regions from America, Africa and Asia (Cock, 1982) (http://faostat3.fao.org/). This crop is severely affected by several diseases ranging from insects, virus, fungi and bacterial pathogens (Lozano, 1986; Alvarez et al., 2012). Cassava bacterial blight (CBB) is the most frequent bacterial disease of cassava. CBB is a vascular and foliar disease caused by the Gram-negative bacterium Xanthomonas axonopodis py. manihotis (Xam). Despite the constraints in production caused by pathogens that commonly infect cassava, there are few studies aiming to understand the genetic and molecular basis of resistance. Resistance to CBB is polygenic and additively inherited with an estimated heritability ranging from 25-65% (Hahn et al., 1979, 1980). Based on the availability of the first genetic linkage map (Fregene et al., 1997), several quantitative trait loci (OTL) with different contribution to CBB resistance were mapped in different linkage groups (Jorge et al., 2000, 2001). Later studies were focused on the identification of *R* genes in the cassava genome. Using conserved motifs on the NB (nucleotide-binding) domain among NLRs, a resistance gene candidate (RGC) approach was employed to identify putative R genes in the cassava genome (López et al., 2003). Afterwards, and trough SSRs and EST mapping strategies, some RGCs were shown to colocalize with new QTLs (López et al., 2007). Interestingly, a BAC containing an RGC (RGC7) was shown to colocalize with a QTL explaining 61.6% of resistance to XamCl0151 (López et al., 2003, 2007). Recently, using bioinformatic and mapping SNPs strategies the repertoire of immunity genes were identified in the cassava genome and mapped (Leal et al., 2013; Lozano et al., 2015; Soto et al., 2015). However, to date no functional R genes have been identified and cloned in cassava.

Recent genome sequence data from *Xam* strains revealed a proteome that comprises around 28 type-III effector proteins (Bart et al., 2012; Arrieta-Ortiz et al., 2013). Among these, TAL (transcription activator-like) effectors from *Xam*, TALE1, TAL14 and TAL20 have shown to promote *Xam* virulence (Castiblanco et al., 2013; Cohn et al., 2014). TAL effectors are highly modular proteins that travel to the plant nucleus to modulate host gene expression to its own benefit (Boch et al., 2014). TAL effector activity is determined by a central domain with a variable number of repetitions, C-terminal nuclear localization signals (NLS) and an acidic activation domain (AAD) (Schornack et al., 2013). The central repetitive domain is responsible for DNA binding specificity. The number of repeats is variable between different effectors, although amino acids are conserved across repetitions with the exception of the hypervariable residues 12 and 13 (RVDs; repeat variable di-residue), that define the base-specific interaction with the host DNA (Boch et al., 2009; Moscou and Bogdanove, 2009; Deng et al., 2012; Mak et al., 2012). Hence, it is

possible to predict the binding site in the DNA of the host plant (EBEs; effector binding elements) from the given sequence of RVDs (Boch et al., 2014). Promoter regions of *susceptibility (S)* genes and executor *R (E)* genes naturally harbor one or more EBEs (Hutin et al., 2015a; Zhang et al., 2015). This knowledge has been recently used to engineer resistance by introducing different EBEs in the promoter region of well-known *E* genes (Strauss et al., 2012; Hummel et al., 2012b).

In this study we aimed to functionally characterize the previously identified candidate *R* gene (RGC7), renamed *RXam2*, associated with a major QTL explaining 61.6% of resistance to *XamCl0151* (López et al., 2007, 2003). For this, we silenced *RXam2* using an RNAi- based approach and found that *RXam2*-silenced plants showed enhanced susceptibility to several *Xam* strains. Further, *RXam2* was overexpressed and a small reduction in *Xam* growth was observed for three *Xam* strains. In addition, a promoter activator trap using the EBE of TALE1 from *Xam* was employed to activate an autoactive version of RXam2 (D492V). Taken together, these results suggest *RXam2*, a gene coding for a NLR from cassava might confer partial and broad-spectrum resistance to different *Xam* strains.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 RXam2 (RGC7) codes for a typical NLR protein with CC motifs

In a previous study a BAC containing an RGC, called RGC7, was found to colocalize with a QTL explaining 61.6% of resistance against *XamClO151* (López et al., 2007). The partial sequencing of this BAC by primer walking allowed the identification of a complete gene coding for a NLR, which was named *RXam2* (Resistance to *Xam* 2). The posterior sequencing of the BAC containing RGC7 showed to comprise a region of a gene coding for a NLR and was named *RXam2* (Resistance to *Xam* 2). *RXam2* is annotated in cassava genome V6.1 as *Manes.07G048100* (previously annotated as cassava4.1_031234m) and is located in chromosome 7 between the positions 4853478 and 4857038. Towards identifying other putative resistance gene candidates around the QTL, a region spanning at least ~ 5 Mb around *RXam2* was analyzed. In total sixty-three annotated genes were identified but with exception of *RXam2*, no other genes coding for proteins containing NB-ARC domains were found in this region (Supplementary table 4-2). We focused our research on *RXam2* as the best candidate explaining the resistance to *XamCl0151* to validate its function.

RXam2 codes for a predicted 1186 amino acids (aa) protein, which contains a putative coiled-coil motif domain, located within the N-terminal sequence between 35 and 55 aa. The NB domain is positioned between 170 and 323 aa and comprises five motifs: P-loop (201-207), RNBS-A (221-234), kinase 2 (273-281) and RNBS-B (303-312). ARC1 ranges from 323 to 402 aa and harbors two motifs: RNBS-C (324-344) and GLPL (367-373). ARC2 ranges from 402 to 519 aa and contains the motifs RNBS-D (425-437) and MHD (492-495). The LRR domain is located within the C-terminal sequence between 519 and 1186 aa (Figure 4-1).

Figure 4-1: Schematic representation of RXam2 protein sequence.

N-terminal, NB-ARC and C-terminal domains are depicted in bold letters on the right. The motifs present in each domain are highlighted in bold colored letters and the name of each motif is shown in bold letters above.

CC MAEIAISPILQVVFDRLASPVLGKLRELCNLKHNLEKLQQSLPIIQAILEDA AAEITLCESHCSTGSQVRSLLLPFEPSRRLFRIASDLEKMLKVLDKKISEGL	70 N-terminal	
		1
KDKEKILELLSPSFHGKIIGDVTIIPIVGIGGIGKTTLAQLVYNDDKLIGSFDL	KLWVYVSDDFNVKRIIKAIVESATRKRCKFSE	NB
KINASE-2 MDILQSELQDSLCGKRFLLILDDVWIEDPCEWEKLGNLLRGGLGGSKVI	X-B /TTRSNKVASMVGTISPY 323	
RNBS-C GLPL		
YLTGLPEDACWALFKDRALPLGDNEKYPKLVSIGKQILKKCGGVPLALT	TLGSLMRLKREEKDWLDVQKNELCYMDECQ 402	ARC 1
RNBS-D		
SQILPALRLSYSHLPAYLKRCFAYCSLFPKNYEFQKEKLIHLWMAEGFILA	QEGDRQLEDIGNYYFDELLWRSFFQEVKVGK	ARC 2
Hanner Meenbean vaaner Meerviravit 313		
LARARHASIIHNHRPSIIPQALLNAKRLRT		
LLLMSPAVFSGELSFLPTNFKY		
LRALNLSGYGIKKLHESICE		
LMCLRYLDVSNTSVQMLPETICDLCN		
LQTVDLSGCSHLHKLPSRMEMLINLRHLFLVGCEA		
LTCMPAGIGKLIHLQTLPIFIVGKGIGESITELRSVN		
LRGELNIKCLENVGGPAEAKTANLKEKTYIQV		
LRLFWEDNDGGMKIQSARPTHSSGMNTGRNFQSSG		
LWHGNHGGDAQSIDVEEILKCLEPHPNLGKLFIRGY		
PGVKFPQWVLPNLTVVVLINCKRCENLPTLGHLPY	IBB	
LKLLYLQGMDNVECISREFYSIGTQRPFPA	Enn	
LKELTLRKFPKLKEWSKGDGREAFPC		
LEKLIVSKCPELSTSPLFPS		
LQHLELHDCHPSIITSMENLSLLSVLVVENIPG		
LTVLSGKLLENNTFLASLKISSCGSLCCLPSELEK		
LTALKSLTICSCQELSALPEGLHNLKS		
LESLEINECRNIISLSDASVGGLSSLKIFSIENCTN		
LTSLSAGLLNLITLEQLTIVDCPNLASLPNEWRN		
LSVLRSLSILCCPKLDSLPDGLQYVTTLQTLEIRSCHG		
LKDLPEWVDKLSSLRSLAISDCKNLTSLPDGLQHLSK		
LQHLSIQGCPNLESWCKQEKGRKVRRSVSHVPHLYIGSPEFQK 1186	l	

4.3.2 *RXam2* silenced plants display enhanced susceptibility to several *Xam* strains

In order to assess to role of *RXam2* on CBB resistance, a silencing construct (Figure 4-2) was developed with an intron-hairpin RNA interference (RNAi) construct derived from a fragment of

the NB region of RXam2. Friable embryogenic calli (FEC) from the model cultivar cv.60444 was produced and transformed with the RNAi construct. In total thirty-eight putative transgenic plants were regenerated. To detect positive transgenic plants, a PCR was performed using primers to amplify the selection marker *nptII*. In total, six plants showed an amplification of *nptII* (Supplementary figure 4-1). Posterior Southern-blot analysis indicates they all represent the same transformation event (Supplementary figure 4-2). With the aim of detecting whether RXam2 mRNAs were in fact targeted by construct-derived small interfering RNAs (siRNAs), an RT-PCR analysis was performed. We expected to detect less *RXam2* transcription levels in silenced plants compared with WT control plants. However, RXam2 expression in non-transgenic control plants was too low that was almost undetectable even with a high number of amplification cycles (data not shown). For this reason it was not possible to detect a measurable difference in RXam2 mRNA levels on RXam2-RNAi plants compared with WT control plants using qRT-PCR analysis. To investigate mRNA levels of RXam2 in the cassava transcriptome, RNAseq data from non- and inoculated material was analyzed and around 5-10 counts per million (CPM) mapped reads were shown to map against RXam2 (data not shown). No differential expression of RXam2 was observed as a result of Xam inoculation. Interestingly, two RXam2 homologs (Manes.10G091500 and Manes.07G107800) showed ten-times more CPM values compared with RXam2 (data not shown). Taken together, these results indicate *RXam2* is a gene with constitutively low expression, even among other genes coding for NLRs.

Figure 4-2: Schematic diagram of the T-DNA region of the construct used for RXam2 silencing.

A fragment corresponding to the NB domain of *RXam2* was cloned first on pENTR/D-TOPO and further subcloned into pHELLSGATE12 at XhoI and XbaI sites in a sense and antisense orientation. The silencing cassette is under 35S strong constitutive promoter and an OCS terminator sequence. Transgenic cassava plants were selected for resistance to G418.



To determine whether RXam2-RNAi transgenic plants display enhanced susceptibility, distinct approaches were addressed. Since *Xam* is a foliar and vascular pathogen, two different inoculation methods were assessed. First, a stem inoculation was performed and disease symptoms progression was evaluated. For this, adult plants were stem punctured with

XamCl0151 and symptoms progression was measured at 7, 14, 21 and 28 dpi (days post inoculation). A scale of disease symptoms from 0 to 5 was used, where 0 indicates no symptoms and 5 indicates plant wilting and the sum of mean AUDPC (area under disease progress curve) score at 28 dpi was calculated. Our results showed RXam2-RNAi plants display faster symptom development compared with control plants (Table 4-1). Given that some genes associated with QTLs are known to confer broad-spectrum resistance; other *Xam* strains were subsequently evaluated. Table 4-1 shows that RXam2-RNAi plants exhibit significant higher AUDPC scores for almost all strains (*P*-value <0,05) except for plants inoculated with *Xam686*. However, despite the fact that *RXam2* silenced plants inoculated with *Xam686* showed higher AUDPC scores, no statistical significant differences were found when compared with control plants (Figure 4-3). Altogether, these results suggest *RXam2* has a possible role in resistance since silenced plants displayed enhanced susceptibility.

Table 4-1: Area under disease progression curve (AUDPC) analysis of *RXam2*-silenced plants inoculated with five different *Xam* strains.

Two month-old cassava plants grown from adult stakes were inoculated by stem puncturing with a *Xam* cell suspension [optical density at 600nm (OD_{600nm})= 0,02,~10^7 colony forming units (CFU ml⁻¹)]. ^a Data shown is the mean of the sum of AUDPC in arbitrary units (AU) at 28 dpi from ten replicates. Standard error (SE) was calculated from ten biological samples per genotype. ^b An unpaired Student's t-test was used to calculate *P*-values. ^c One asterisk (*) indicates significant differences (*P*-value 0.05-0.01), two asterisks (**) indicate strong significant differences (*P*-value 0.01-0.001), three asterisks (**) indicate very strong significant differences (*P*-value < 0.001) and N.S. indicate not significant, compared with WT control plants for each strain.

Strain	Genotype Mean AUDPC (AU) ^a		SE	<i>P</i> -value ^b	Significance ^c	
XamCIO151	WT	30.7	3.8	0.00041	**	
	RNAi_RXam2	45.0	3.7	0.00941	-1-3s	
Vam 206	WT	45.2	2.1	< 0.001	***	
Xam306	RNAi_RXam2	64.3	2.4	< 0.001		
Xam232	WT	37.7	2.1	10.001	***	
	RNAi_RXam2	56.2	3.0	< 0.001		
Xam571	WT	52.6	8.3	0.02472	*	
	RNAi_RXam2	67.9	5.9	0.02475		
Xam686	WT	49.4	6.4	0.147	NC	
	RNAi_RXam2	56.7	5.3	0.147	IN.S.	

Figure 4-3: Disease symptoms of *RXam2*-silenced plants (left) compared with WT control plants (right) at 28 dpi.

Plants were inoculated in the stem as mentioned in Table 4-1.



To test if the enhanced susceptibility observed for *RXam2* silenced plants was dependent on the inoculation method used, RXam2-RNAi plants were additionally inoculated on the leaves. For this, leaf inoculation was performed on greenhouse plants with a bacterial suspension at OD_{600nm} = 0,002,~10^7 colony forming units (CFU ml⁻¹). *Xam* strains were inoculated on young leaves in the mesophyll near the midvein. Three more strains were tested in addition to the five strains previously used for stem inoculation. Figure 4-3A shows disease symptoms observed at 8 dpi. Disease symptoms appear as yellow zones or water soaked areas near the inoculation point. The severity of disease symptoms was higher in RXam2-RNAi plants compared with control plants (Figure 4-3A). In addition, bacterial numbers were quantified. Our results reveal bacterial titers were increased in RXam2-RNAi plants for virtually all strains tested (Figure 4-3B). Nevertheless, greater differences in bacterial titers were observed for *Xam232* and *Xam306*. These results resemble data from stem inoculation where strong significant differences in AUDPC scores were

obtained on plants inoculated with *Xam232* and *Xam306*. Collectively, these results indicate *RXam2* silencing enhances susceptibility to practically all strains evaluated. This effect is particular prominent for *Xam232*, *Xam306* and *Xam1344* compared with the other strains evaluated.

Figure 4-4: RXam2-silenced plants display enhanced susceptibility to different Xam strains.

Two month-old cassava plants grown from adult stakes were inoculated by leaf dipping with a *Xam* cell suspension [optical density at 600nm (OD_{600nm})= 0,02,~10^7 colony forming units (CFU ml⁻¹)]. (**A**) disease symptoms observed at 8 dpi is shown here for strains *Xam232, Xam306* and *Xam1344*. The first row of photographs shows leaves from the WT control genotype and the second row are photographs from RXam2-RNAi plants. The first column shows mock (10mM MgCl₂) inoculated plants. (**B**) Bacterial numbers were measured at 3 (data not showed) and 8 dpi. Mean bacterial titers from three biological samples per genotype at 8PDI ± standard error (SE) is shown here. One-tail unpaired Student's t-test was used to calculate statistical significance for RXam2-RNAi plants compared with WT control plants for each strain used. Lines (-) indicate marginally significant differences (*P*-value 0.1-0.05), one asterisk (*) indicates significant differences (*P*-value 0.05-0.01) and two asterisks (**) indicate strong significant differences (*P*-value 0.01-0.001).



4.3.3 RXam2 overexpression confers less susceptibility to Xam

To further assess *RXam2* role in cassava resistance to CBB, transgenic cassava plants overexpressing *RXam2* were produced. For this, *RXam2* full-length was amplified from the resistant cultivar CM6438-14 and cloned into the binary vector pCAMBIA1305.2. The T-DNA graphical representation of the construct employed for *RXam2* overexpression (OX-RXam2) is shown in Figure 4-5. Forty-three putative transgenic plants were regenerated on selection medium. To rapidly detect positive transgenic plants a histochemical *GUS* assay was performed. Twenty-eight out of forty-three showed a strong blue staining (Supplementary figure 4-3). Genomic DNA was isolated from *GUS* positive plants and a PCR of the selection marker *hpt11* further confirmed positive transgenic plants (Supplementary figure 4-4). Afterwards, a Southernblot analysis was performed from some lines using *hpt11* as a probe (Supplementary figure 4-4) and single copy lines were selected for expression analysis. A reverse transcriptase-PCR (RT-PCR) analysis using *RXam2* specific primers showed *RXam2* was indeed overexpressed in the single copy lines evaluated (Supplementary figure 4-5).

Figure 4-5: Schematic representation of *RXam2* overexpression construct in pCAMBIA1305.2 employed to transform cassava plants.

Boxes indicate promoter and terminator regions, arrows indicate open reading frames (ORFs) and thin vertical arrows indicate restriction sites used for cloning.



To determine the effect of *RXam2* overexpression on CBB resistance, *in vitro* plants from singlecopy lines were inoculated on the leaf using a Q-tip dipped with a bacterial suspension at OD_{600nm}= 0,002,~10^6 colony forming units (CFU ml⁻¹). Empty vector (E.V.) control plants and three independent single copy OX-RXam2 lines (L.39, L.67 and L.82), were inoculated with four different *Xam* strains, *XamCIO151*, *Xam226*, *Xam232* and *XamCFBP1851*. Bacterial numbers were measured at 0, 3 and 7 dpi. Figure 4-6 shows bacterial growth for three strains *XamCIO151*, *Xam226* and *Xam232* and disease symptoms observed at 7 dpi. After 3 dpi *XamCIO151* grew at similar rates in all genotypes tested, while at 7 dpi all OX-RXam2 lines showed less bacterial numbers (Figure 4-6A). Similar results were obtained for bacterial numbers of *Xam226* and *Xam232* that display a tendency of a higher bacterial count in E.V. control plants at 7 dpi compared with all OX-RXam2 lines (Figure 4-6B, C). In contrast, bacterial numbers of *XamCFBP1851* were similar in all the genotypes tested (Supplementary Figure 4-6).

In addition, disease phenotypes were evaluated on inoculated leaves and a correlation was observed with bacterial growth. Figure 4-6D shows inoculated leaves symptoms observed at 10 dpi. Disease is observed as yellow and wilted leaf regions, water soaked lesions around inoculation points and also around natural small wounds (Figure 4-6D). Although water soaked lesions are observed in all genotypes, sticky *Xam* exudates protruding from the inoculation point and natural wounds were prominent on E.V. control plants. Another symptom observed exclusively on E.V. control plants is the presence of a yellow and partial leaf wilting, due to *Xam* colonization of vascular tissues on the leave. This was observed on plants inoculated with *XamCl0151* and *Xam232* (Figure 4-6D, first column).

Figure 4-4: Bacterial growth of *Xam* and disease symptoms on transgenic cassava plants overexpressing *RXam2*.

Two month-old *in vitro* cassava plants were inoculated by piercing and dipped on both abaxial and adaxial side of the leaf with a 10⁶ inoculum of *XamClO151* (**A**), *Xam226* (**B**) and *Xam232* (**C**). Leaf-discs around inoculation points were selected and the number of bacteria was quantified at 0, 3 and 7 dpi, data represent a mean of Log₁₀ CFU/cm² from three technical replicates ± SE. Statistical significance was assessed at 7 dpi at P < 0.05 using a Tukey–Kramer HSD test for post-ANOVA analysis. Letters indicate significant different groups. (**D**) Disease symptoms produce at 10 dpi by different *Xam* strains is diminished in *RXam2* over-expression plants. 2 month-old *in vitro* cassava plants were inoculated by piercing and dipped on both abaxial and adaxial side of the leave with a 10⁶ inoculum of *XamCl0151*, *Xam226* and *Xam232*.



To further evaluate possible defense responses induced by the overexpression of *RXam2*, inoculated leaves were stained with DAB in order to detect reactive oxygen species (ROS). Figure 4-7 shows in the first row control leaves inoculated with MgCl₂ and the second row leaves inoculated with *XamClO151* collected at 2 dpi. ROS production (observed as brown deposits after DAB staining) is commonly induced with the mechanical stress of the needle, for this reason is observed in the inoculation point. Interestingly, both lines of OX-RXam2 plants showed enhanced ROS accumulation in the inoculation point and also in distal regions (Figure 4-7). All together, these results indicate *RXam2* overexpression render cassava plants less susceptible to distinct *Xam* strains.

Figure 4-5: ROS accumulation on *in vitro* cassava plants overexpressing *RXam2* inoculated with *XamClO151*.

Leaves were inoculated with a 10⁶ inoculum of *XamClO151* were stained with DAB after 2 dpi. Control plants were inoculated with 10mM MgCl₂ (mock).



4.3.4 Developing trap promoters to induce autoactive RXam2

As a proof of concept for the development of a new strategy to engineer resistance to CBB, an activator trap promoter was produced to induce the expression of an autoactive version of RXam2. First, an autoactive missense mutation on the MHD motif located in the ARC2 subdomain of RXam2 (Figure 4-1) was generated. For this, a substitution of aspartate (D) to valine (V) in the position 495 was produced using overlapping PCR. In order to evaluate the autoactivity of RXam2, transient assays were performed in *N. benthamiana* and cassava leaves. The *RXam2* autoactive mutant (*RXam2*_(D495V)) was first cloned into the binary vector pBAV139 under the strong 35S promoter. An HR was produced only when *RXam2*_(D495V) was overexpressed; this was not observed when WT RXam2 was overexpressed (Supplementary figure 4-7).

Figure 4-6: Schematic representation of the T-DNA from TALE1 activator trap constructs.

The complete CDS of *GusPlus* (**A**) and *RXam2*_(D495V) (**B**) were cloned in pMDC32 under the expression of a minimal Bs3 promoter containing two EBEs for TALE1. Vertical thin arrows indicate restriction sites used for cloning. Transgenic cassava plants were selected for resistance to hygromycin.



Afterwards, we decided to clone $RXam2_{(D495V)}$ under an activator trap promoter containing an EBE for TALE1 in the binary vector pMDC32. The gene *GusPlus* under the *Bs3* minimal promoter containing the same EBE was used as control (Figure 4-8). To evaluate whether TALE1 was able to induce the activation of $RXam2_{(D495V)}$ transient coinfiltration assays were performed on *N. benthamiana*, *N. tabacum* and cassava leaves. Notably, TALE1 induces a strong HR on *N. benthamiana* and *N. tabacum* leaves, for this reason it was not possible to detect an HR produced exclusively by TALE1 and RXam2_(D495V) coexpression (Supplementary figure 4-8). Nevertheless, when TALE1 and RXam2_(D495V) were transiently coexpressed in cassava leaves, an HR-like response was observed (Figure 4-9). Altogether these results suggest TALE1 is able to induce $RXam2_{(D495V)}$ expression.

Figure 4-7: Transient expression of TALE1 and RXam2 (D495V) on cassava leaves.

(A) Summarized diagram of the constructions used for transient expression assays. (B) Cassava leaves were infiltrated with *A. tumefaciens* strain AGL1 harboring pMDC32 (E.V.), EBE_{TALE1}::RXam2(MHV)-pMDC32, 35S::TALE1-pBAV139 and coinfiltration of EBE_{TALE1}::RXam2(MHV)-pMDC32 and 35S::TALE1-pBAV139. Infiltrated area is enclosed in a circle. Photographs were taken at 5 dpi.



In addition and to further explore TALE1 induction of $RXam2_{(D492V)}$, transgenic cassava plants with $EBE_{TALE1}::RXam2_{(D492V)}$ were produced. The schematic diagram of the construct used to transform cassava plants is shown in Figure 4-8, *GusPlus* was used as a reporter control for EBE_{TALE1} induction. In total, eighty-two plantlets for $EBE_{TALE1}::GusPlus$ were regenerated and forty-five for *EBE_{TALE1}::RXam2*(D492V). Since previous results from transient expression suggested the promoter containing EBE_{TALE1} has a basal activity (data not shown) the following strategy was carried out: first, *EBE_{TALE1}::GusPlus* plants were selected for GUS staining to test whether these plants showed a constitutive expression of the reporter gene. Indeed, most of the plants evaluated showed varying levels of GUS activity; nevertheless fifteen lines did not exhibit GusPlus basal activity (Supplementary figure 4-9). Second, these plants were further characterized by PCR and Southern-blot to confirm they represent transgenic events and were not false positives (Supplementary figure 4-10 and 4-11). In total twelve lines showed amplification of *hptII* (Supplementary figure 4-10). A summary of the regenerated plants and molecular characterization of the transformants are shown in Supplementary table 4-3. In order to detect if *Xam* strains carrying TALE1 could induce the *EBE_{TALE1}* promoter, *EBE_{TALE1}::GusPlus* lines with no basal GUS activity plants were infiltrated in the leaves to evaluate GUS activity. Figure 4-10 shows that in the line L.37 *GusPlus* is being induced by the strain *CFBP1851* that is known to contain TALE1. Nevertheless, a slight basal GusPlus expression is observed when inoculated with *CFBP1851ATALE1*. These results indicate TALE1 is being effectively injected to plant cells, travel to the nucleus and activates *GusPlus* at 48 hpi.

Figure 4-8: Histochemical GUS staining on transgenic EBE_{TALE1}::GusPlus plants inoculated with XamCFBP1851.

Leaves from a *EBE_{TALE1}::GusPlus* L.37 were inoculated with *XamCFBP1851* (left) and *XamCFBP1851* Δ TALE1 (right). Leaves from *in vitro* plants were infiltrated with a *Xam* cell suspension [optical density at 600nm (OD_{600nm})= 0,3, ~10^8 colony forming units (CFU ml⁻¹)]. After 48 h *GUS* histochemical staining was assessed.



On the other hand, it was assumed that plants showing a basal $RXam2_{(D492V)}$ expression were lethal and therefore not regenerated. In total forty-five plantlets carrying EBE_{TALE1} :: $RXam2_{(D492V)}$ were obtained. Southern-blot analysis of these plants indicates twenty-two out of forty-five were single-copy lines (Supplementary figure 4-11). Transgenic plants were further selected for subsequent experiments. To test whether EBE_{TALE1} :: $RXam2_{(D492V)}$ could induce resistance when inoculated with *Xam*, stem inoculation of *CFBP1851* and *CFBP1851* $\Delta TALE1$ was performed on *in vitro* plants. *CFBP1851* harbors two TALs, one of 14 RVDs (TALE1) and a second one with 21 (Zárate et al., unpublished results). Table 4-2 shows disease resistance determination for five independent EBE_{TALE1} :: $RXam2_{(D492V)}$ transgenic lines (L.12, L.44, L.51, L.53 and L.54). Since *CFBP1851* is a virulent strain compared with *CFBP1851* $\Delta TALE1$ (Castiblanco et al., 2013) we focused our attention on EBE_{TALE1} :: $RXam2_{(D492V)}$ lines with less disease rating when inoculated with *CFBP1851* compared with *CFBP1851* $\Delta TALE1$ and also when compared with control plants (Table 4-2 and Supplementary figure 4-11). Interestingly, L.51 and L.54 showed enhanced resistance when inoculated with *CFBP1851*, suggesting TALE1 is inducing $RXam2_{(D492V)}$.

Table 4-2: Disease resistance determination on *EBE_{TALE1}::RXam2*(D492V) plants.

In vitro plants were inoculated by stem puncturing with a Xam cell suspension [optical density at 600nm $(OD_{600nm})=0,02,\sim10^{7}$ colony forming units (CFU ml⁻¹)]. Disease resistance determination is based on Σ AUDPC at 28 dpi (Supplementary table 4-4). R, resistant; MR, moderately resistant; MS, moderately susceptible; S, susceptible. NT, non-transgenic control.

Xam strain/ plant	NT	EBE::GusPlus		EBE::RXam2 (D495V)				
genotype		L.61	L.2	L.12	L.44	L.51	L.53	L.54
CFBP1851	MS	MR	S	S	S	R	S	MS
CFBP1851 ATALE 1	R	MR	R	MS	S	S	R	S

4.4 Discussion

The implementation of host *R* genes is considered to be the most effective method to control CBB. Six years ago the first draft of the cassava reference genome was made available, even though, to date no *R* genes have been cloned in cassava. The gene reported in this study, called *RXam2*, comes from a previously identified RGC (López et al., 2003, 2007) and belongs to the CNL class of NLR proteins. Our results suggest *RXam2* might confer partial and broad-spectrum resistance to CBB.

Recently, the cassava repertoire of NLRs was identified and most of them were mapped on thirtynine clusters located on eighteen chromosomal groups (Lozano et al., 2015). *RXam2* (previously annotated as cassava4.1_031234m) was found to be located on the pseudomolecule IV as a single not clustered gene (Lozano et al., 2015). In a region spanning ~5 Mb around *RXam2* there are no other genes coding for NLRs. The only exception is a possible pseudogene (cassava4.1_030826) not annotated in the new genome version located 411590bp away from *RXam2*. The next two genes coding for NLRs are located at positions 1221680 and 6174556 and are annotated as *cassava4.1_000323* (*Manes.07G012100*) and *cassava4.1_000192*, respectively (Lozano et al., 2015). In the recent cassava genome V6.1 *RXam2* is annotated as *Manes.07G048100* and is located in chromosome 7. Since typical *R* genes code for NLR proteins and also the molecular marker associated with the QTL comprises a region of *RXam2*, is highly probable that *RXam2* is involved in disease resistance. Nevertheless, we cannot exclude other genes in this region to contribute to resistance associated with this QTL. The production of truncated *RXam2* variants using the CRISPR/Cas system could help to verify if *RXam2* is indeed a resistance gene for CBB.

4.4.1 RXam2 silencing using RNAi lead to enhanced susceptibility to CBB

In a first instance, susceptible cassava plants containing small interfering RNA (siRNA) derived from *RXam2* were developed as a first approach to validate the role of *RXam2* on resistance to CBB. Our results indicate RXam2 RNAi-mediated gene silencing in a susceptible cultivar results in increased susceptibility to several Xam strains. Others studies have shown NLR silencing causes the loss of resistance measured as the loss of an HR produced after a gene-for-gene interaction (Christopoulou et al., 2015). In the Xam-cassava pathosystem no gene-for-gene interaction have been described to date. Preliminary yeast-two hybrid assays indicate the LRR domain and the full-length RXam2 interacts with XopAK, XopC2, XopE1 and XopV from Xam (unpublished results). The inoculation of single KO mutants for XopAK, XopC2, XopE1 and XopV might aid to detect possible effector-specific resistance responses in RXam2-RNAi plants XopAK, XopE1 and XopV are among Xam core-effectors present in all strains evaluated, this could explain how RXam2 silencing caused an enhanced susceptibility in all Xam strains tested. This suggests RXam2 might be implicated in broad-spectrum resistance. As an approach to confirm if XopAK, XopC2, XopE1 and XopV are truly recognized by RXam2 and also to detect if there is an effector-specific resistance response, transient co-expression assays between candidate interactors effectors and RXam2 in *N. benthamiana* will be conducted to evaluate the development of an HR phenotype. In addition, recently these effectors have been cloned with tags in binary vectors and coIP or BiFC experiments will be soon conducted in order to reconfirm interactions and to evaluate cellular colocalization.

Nevertheless, we could not detect differential mRNA levels by qPCR analysis in RXam2-RNAi plants when compared with non-transgenic control plants due to basal low expression levels (data not shown). Genes coding for NLRs have been reported to display a constitutive low expression and some studies suggest several regulatory mechanisms mainly at the protein level trough intramolecular domain interactions (Takken and Goverse, 2012; Qi and Innes, 2013). Other studies have reported NLR silencing in order to validate its role in disease resistance (Christopoulou et al., 2015; Wu et al., 2016). Virus-induced gene silencing (VIGS) have been employed in solanaceus plants to silence NLRs (Gabriëls et al., 2007; Wu et al., 2016). However this approach has reported to be problematic due to off-target gene silencing (Xu et al., 2006a; Wu et al., 2016). Hairpin RNAi approach has also been previously used to silence NLR genes in lettuce, although qPCR was not a reliable approach for quantifying mRNA levels of NLRs on silenced plants (Wroblewski et al., 2007). Instead, these authors used a GUS fragment concatenated with the NLR fragment in one cassette in order to confirm the feasibility of the RNAi construction (Wroblewski et al., 2007). In order to quantify possible differences in mRNA levels of *RXam2* in RXam2-RNAi plants compared with control plants, we propose to use previously developed artificial TALs (arTALs) to target *RXam2* promoter regions (unpublished results) in order to deliberately induce *RXam2* transcriptional levels. While the induction in transcription by arTALs will be detected in control plants, we expect RXam2-derived siRNA will target mRNA levels induced by arTALs and therefore allow the detection of differential mRNA levels.

4.4.2 Does *RXam2* overexpression leads to enhanced resistance?

Regarding the implication of RXam2 overexpression, we found cassava transgenic lines recovered showed relatively normal appearance, indicating no harmful phenotypes were produced after *RXam2* overexpression. Genes coding for NLRs usually display low and constitutive mRNA expression levels and there are several reports showing contrasting evidence about phenotypic responses caused by NLR transgenic overexpression. Dwarf phenotypes have been observed as a result of transgenic overexpression in *Arabidopsis* (Stokes et al., 2002). Previous reports have found that lines with the highest NLRs mRNA levels are targeted by the posttranscriptional gene silencing machinery (Oldroyd and Staskawicz, 1998). In contrast, potato lines with high expression levels of the *RB* gene showed enhanced resistance phenotypes (Kramer et al., 2009). Correspondingly, our results show that on transgenic lines evaluated, RXam2 mRNAs were not likely to be silenced since elevated mRNA levels of *RXam2* were detected by RT-PCR.

Our results reveal the overexpression of *RXam2* leads to a slight reduction in susceptibility to *Xam* strains. Also, ROS were produced after inoculation on transgenic plants overexpressing RXam2 (Figure 4-7). These results suggest that defense responses are activated after pathogen inoculation in OX-RXam2 plants. Indeed, NLR overexpression has been extensively reported to result in enhanced resistance responses (Oldroyd and Staskawicz, 1998; Tai et al., 1999; Tao et al., 2000; Xiao et al., 2001; Feuillet et al., 2003; Ade et al., 2007; Rentel et al., 2008; Bradeen et al., 2009; Kramer et al., 2009; Brunner et al., 2012; Narusaka et al., 2013). In addition, we demonstrated that RXam2 transient overexpression does not leads to constitutive HR response by itself (Supplementary figure 4-7). Similarly, in other studies NLR overexpression alone does not results in HR induction, this is the case for Bs2, Prf, RPM1 and RPS5 (Oldroyd and Staskawicz, 1998; Tai et al., 1999; Ade et al., 2007; Chung et al., 2011). In contrast, other studies have reported a strong HR induction and constitutive defense responses after transgenic NLR overexpression in the absence of the pathogen, this has been observed for RPS2, Rx, RPS4 and RPP13 (Tao et al., 2000; Bendahmane et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2004; Rentel et al., 2008).

Altogether, our results showed that RXam2 overexpression does not leads to a constitutive HR, but still conferred a slight resistance response after *Xam* inoculation. Despite the fact that NLRs are usually associated with resistance produced by a gene-for-gene interaction, is possible that RXam2 overexpression leads to an unspecific resistance response that results in broad-spectrum resistance to CBB. One possible explanation for this it that RXam2 overexpression leads to defense activation that results in enhanced resistance but is not sufficient to trigger an spontaneous HR cell death response. Similar reports have proven that the overexpression of Prf. RPS2 and RPW8 leads to broad-spectrum resistance in the absence of HR (Oldroyd and Staskawicz, 1998; Tao et al., 2000; Xiao et al., 2001). As already mentioned, preliminary data suggest RXam2 might interact with Xam core-effectors and this could indicate plants overexpressing RXam2 are recognizing this effectors present in all Xam strains tested so far. Nevertheless, broad-spectrum resistance observed in the case of Prf, RPS2 and RPW8 does not involves a gene-for-gene interaction (Oldroyd and Staskawicz, 1998; Tao et al., 2000; Xiao et al., 2001). Under this scenario, it is possible that RXam2 overexpression lead to an overdose effect that is independent from a gene-for-gene interaction. It has been reported that the overexpression of one signaling component might activate the complete signaling pathway (Tang et al., 1999; Oldroyd and Staskawicz, 1998; Tao et al., 2000). However, this might be contradictory with the absence of an HR response. Even so, it has been reported that resistance and NLR activation is not always associated with the presence of HR (Heath, 2000; Coll et al.,

2011). Despite the fact our results showed the overexpression of *RXam2* leads to a slight reduction in disease symptoms to *Xam*, no clear reduction in *Xam* growth is observed when this experiment is repeated (data not shown), indicating a very small contribution to resistance when *RXam2* is overexpressed in the highly susceptible cultivar used.

Taken together, although *RXam2* silencing indicates this gene has an important role for resistance to CBB, the lack of a strong resistance response by overexpression of *RXam2* suggest there might be another level of regulation of this gene, perhaps at protein level. Indeed, gain-of-function mutations in the NB-ARC domain of NLRs support the fact that NLRs activation is regulated mainly trough intra or intermolecular interactions (van Ooijen et al., 2008a). This suggests that even though mRNA levels of *RXam2* are considerably higher than under normal conditions, RXam2 is in auto-inhibited conformation. This might explain why we did not observe a strong resistance response when *RXam2* was overexpressed.

4.4.3 Using TALs to engineer resistance using autoactive NLRs

The substitution of aspartate (D) to valine (V) in the MHD motif has been reported to induce autoactivity in several NLRs. We found that the transient overexpression of $RXam2_{(D492V)}$ produced an HR phenotype in *N. benthamiana* (Supplementary figure 4-7A). Similarly, an HR-like necrotic phenotype was observed when $RXam2_{(D492V)}$ was transiently overexpressed in cassava leaves (Supplementary figure 4-7B). This suggests the RXam2 activation triggers a signaling pathway that leads to HR that is conserved in *N. benthamiana* and cassava. HR has not been previously reported in cassava as a resistance response to *Xam*. However, our results demonstrates that a single gain-of-function mutation in the MHD motif of RXam2, called $RXam2_{(D492V)}$, produces and HR, as it has been widely reported for other NLRs. Interestingly, an HR was not observed when the WT RXam2 was overexpressed. This result indicates the activation of RXam2 is mainly regulated at protein level instead of transcriptional regulation.

Since RXam2_(D492V) produces an HR and *E* genes in cassava are yet unknown, we used this NLR variant to develop a novel strategy to engineer disease resistance to CBB using an NLR autoactive executor trap. For this, a trap promoter using the EBE from TALE1 called EBE_{TALE1} was cloned to induce the expression of $RXam2_{(D492V)}$. The transient expression of EBE_{TALE1} :: $RXam2_{(D492V)}$ in *N. benthamiana* and cassava leaves produced a HR phenotype when coexpressed with $TALE1_{Xam}$ suggesting an activation of RXam2 mediated by TALE1_{Xam}. Still, a slight constitutive activation of the promoter is observed when EBE_{TALE1} ::GusPlus is coinfiltrated with $TALE1_{Xam}$ (data not shown).

This might indicate cis-regulatory elements present in the EBE activate the gene in the absence of TALE1_{Xam} (Adam Bogdanove, personal communication). Interestingly, our results show that two transgenic cassava plants carrying $EBE_{TALE1}::RXam2_{(D492V)}$ showed enhanced resistance when inoculated with a strain harboring TALE1_{Xam} (Table 4-2 and Supplementary figure 4-11). This is the first report of an engineered autoactive NLR to be transcriptionally induced in the presence of a TAL effector.

Despite TALE1_{*Xam*} was the first TAL effector identified in *Xam* (Castiblanco et al., 2013), to date the repertoire of TAL effectors have been described in a small collection of *Xam* strains (Zárate, unpublished results). Based on this knowledge, new strategies could be designed where different EBEs from a set of prevalent strains can be arranged in tandem to induce executor genes, facilitating the detection of multiple strains carrying different TAL effectors. The isolation and cloning of *R* genes not only contributes to our understanding of the molecular mechanisms that underlies disease resistance but also provides significant tools for breeding programs. Strategies based on TAL effectors, such as engineering multiple EBEs or by combining *E* genes under prevalent EBEs in a determined pathogen population, might help to achieve broad-spectrum resistance in a similar manner to *R* gene pyramiding.

4.5 Materials and methods

4.5.1 Plasmids construction and cassava transformation

Molecular cloning of RXam2 on pHELLSGATE12

For the *RXam2* silencing construct on pHELLSGATE12, primers were designed in the NB region of a putative gene coding for a NB-LRR protein identified in the RGC7 (López et al., 2003) and was named *RXam2* (Fig. 1). Two sets of primers to produce an amplification product of 618pb (Table 1). A PCR product from cv. 60444 was first subcloned in pENTR/D-TOPO® (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, U.S.A.) and then an LR reaction was performed to clone *RXam2* in pHELLSGATE12 to produce a sense-antisense orientation of the gene for silencing (Fig 2).

A 618bp fragment corresponding to the NB domain of *RXam2* was cloned first on pENTR/D-TOPO and further subcloned into pHELLSGATE12 in a sense and antisense orientation. Fragments are

separated by two introns in opposed orientation (cat and pdk), necessary for the formation of the hairpin structure. Arrows indicate restriction sites used for cloning confirmation. The silencing cassette is under 35S strong constitutive promoter and an OCS terminator sequence. Transgenic cassava plants were selected for resistance to *NptII*.

The PCR for pENTRTM/D-TOPO cloning was performed in a final volume of 50 ul containing 1x PCR buffer (50 mM KCl, 100 mM Tris-HCl, 0,1% TritónX-100), 2.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 mM dNTPs, 0.1 μ M of each primer and 2.5 U Taq polymerase (CIAT, Cali, Colombia) using 50ng of genomic DNA. The PCR protocol as follows: initial denaturation at 94°C for 2' followed by 35 amplification cycles of 30" at 94°C, 30" at 50° and 45" of extension at 72°C, with a final step of extension at 72°C for 5'. Amplification product was checked in an agarose gel electrophoresis and the plasmid was send for sequencing. The construct was transformed into *E. coli* and *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* strain AGL1 by electroporation and confirmed by PCR. *E. coli* cells were cultivated at 37°C in LB (Luria-Bertani) broth medium and *A. tumefaciens* AGL1 at 28°C in YEB medium (10 g yeast extract. 10 g Bacto peptone, 5 g NaCl) supplemented with carbenicillin 100 ug ml⁻¹ and spectinomycin 50 ug ml⁻¹.

Molecular cloning of RXam2 on pCAMBIA1305.2

To create pCAMBIA1305.2 (*35S::RXam2-NosT*) the 35S promoter of Cauliflower mosaic virus (35Sp), full-length *Manes.07G048100 (RXam2)* and Nopaline synthase terminator (NosT) were first amplified and cloned separately using TOPO-TA subcloning kit (Life Technologies GmbH, Darmstadt, Germany). The 35Sp was amplified with a set of primers containing restriction sites for *EcoRI* (35SEcoRI F) and *SacI* (35SSacI R), while the primers for the NosT amplification contained the restriction sites *BamHI* (NostBamHI F) and *SalI* (NostSalI R). *RXam2* was amplified from genomic DNA of the cassava resistant cultivar CM6438-14 using primers containing restriction sites for *KpnI* (RXam2KpnI_F) and *BamHI* (RXam2BamHI_R). For cassava transformation with the *RXam2* overexpression construct a plasmid containing *35S::RXam2-NosT* using the backbone of the binary vector pCAMBIA1305.2 was generated (Canberra, Australia). This vector contains *hygromycin phosphotransferase gene (htplI)* as a selection marker and *B-glucoronidase* (*GusPlus*) as a reporter gene. The same plasmid lacking *RXam2* was used as a transformation control. PCR reactions were performed in a 50-ml volume consisting of 0.2 mM of dNTPs, 0.1 mM of each primer, 1X DreamTaq buffer, 1 U of DreamTaq DNA Polymerase (ThermoScientific, Waltham, MA, USA) and 100 ng of genomic DNA. Amplification was carried out

in a Bio-Rad thermal cycler programmed for an initial denaturation at 95°C for 3 min, followed by 35 amplification cycles (95°C for 30 s, with T_m depending on each primer, for 45 s and 72°C for 1 min and 20 s), and a final extension step at 72°C for 10 min. The amplified fragments were eluted from a 1% agarose gel. Bands were excised from the gel and purified, using The Wizard® SV Gel and PCR Clean-Up System (Promega, Madison, WI, USA). Each purified DNA fragment was cloned in TOPO-TA subcloning kit (Life Technologies GmbH, Darmstadt, Germany) following the manufacturer's instructions. Plasmids from the positive clones were obtained using GeneJET Plasmid Miniprep Kit (ThermoScientific, Waltham, MA, USA). To confirm the clones a PCR was conducted prior to digestion and ligation.

To produce the final binary vector containing *35S::RXam2-NosT*, the clones were independently digested with the respective enzymes and ligated in the Multiple Cloning Site (MCS) of pCAMBIA1305.2. This was confirmed by PCR and standard Sanger sequencing. The constructs were transformed into *E. coli* and *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* strain LBA4404 by electroporation and confirmed by PCR. *E. coli* cells were cultivated at 37°C in LB (Luria-Bertani) broth medium and *A. tumefaciens* LBA4404 at 28°C in YEB medium (10 g yeast extract. 10 g Bacto peptone, 5 g NaCl) supplemented with streptomycin 50 ug ml⁻¹ rifampicin 100 ug ml⁻¹ and kanamycin 50 ug ml⁻¹.

Molecular cloning of RXam2(D495V) on pMDC32

For the development of the autoactive variant of RXam2, a substitution of aspartate (D) to valine (V) in the MHD motif coding sequence was done by overlapping PCR using primers with mismatch regions. *RXam2* was amplified from the clone used for overexpression in pCAMBIA1305.2. The autoactive variant of RXam2 was first cloned in pCR@2.1-TOPO using primers with restriction sites for *KpnI* and *BamHI*. This variant was then double digested with *KpnI* and *BamHI* and ligated in a modified pENTRTM/D-TOPO harboring EBE_{TALE1Xam} on the minimal Bs3promoter (kindly provided by Megan Cohn, UC Berkeley). Later, an LR reaction was conducted to clone the complete *EBE_{TALE1Xam}::RXam2(D495V)* into a modified pMDC32 that has a deletion in the 35S promoter located before the attR sequence.

FEC isolation and genetic transformation

Friable embryogenic callus (FEC) from the susceptible cassava cultivar 60444 was isolated and used for *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation as previously described (Taylor et al, 2012).

Briefly, organized embryogenic structures (OES) were generated from axillar meristems of 8 weeks-old *in vitro* plants and were maintained through cycles of secondary embryogenesis. OES were removed from non-embryogenic tissue and injured for induction of FEC. After three cycles of subcultures, FECs were co-cultured for three days in dark conditions with *A. tumefaciens* strain LBA4404 carrying the constructs of interest [optical density (OD) at 660nm= 0,8]. Empty vector pCAMBIA1305.2 was used as control.

4.5.2 Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated transient expression assays

For leaf agro-infiltration assays in *N. benthamiana* and *N. tabacum, A. tumefaciens* strain GV3101 was transformed with binary vectors containing $EBE_{TALE1Xam}$::*RXam2(D495V)* and $EBE_{TALE1Xam}$::*GusPlus*. For infiltration assays in cassava leaves the strain AGL1 carrying the same binary plasmids were used. An isolated colony was grown in LB containing the respective antibiotic resistance until the culture reached OD_{600nm} = 0,8-1.0. Bacteria was collected by centrifugation at 3000rpm for 10 min and washed twice in agro-infiltartion solution (10 mM MES, 10 mM MgCl₂, 150 µM acetosyringone, pH 5.6). The bacterial solution was left at room temperature during 3 h and the OD_{600nm} was adjusted at 0,3 and 0,03 depending on the experiment. Each infiltartion experiment presented was repetated at least three times.

4.5.3 Molecular evaluation of transgenic lines

β -Glucuronidase (GUS) stain

Since the T-DNA of pCAMBIA1305.2 contains *GusPlus* as a reported gene, a GUS assay was employed for a preliminary characterization of putative transgenic plants. For this, fresh leafs from *in vitro* plants were selected and immersed in X-Gluc buffer (NaH₂PO₄ 0.02 M, Na₂HPO₄ 0.03 M, K₄FeCN₆ 0.25 mM, K₃FeCN₆ 0.25 mM, DMSO 10 % (p/v), triton X-100 0.5 % (v/v) and X-Gluc (5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl β -D-glucuronide) 1 mg/mL (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA). Leafs were incubated at 37^o C during 16 h in dark conditions. Leafs were destained with 96% ethanol and photographed.

PCR and Southern Blot analysis

Genomic DNA was extracted from fresh leafs of *in vitro* plantlets using the Plant DNA ExtractionProtocolforDArT,(Availableonline:

119

http://www.diversityarrays.com/sites/default/files/pub/DArT_DNA_isolation.pdf). preliminary characterization of transgenic lines a PCR was performed from genomic DNA using gene-specific primers for RXam2 (RXam2RT F and RXam2RT R) and the selection marker gene *hptll* (hptIlprobe F and hptIlprobe R). PCR reactions consisted of an initial denaturation step of 3min at 93°C, followed by 35 cycles of 93°C for 30 s, 56°C for 30s, 72°C for 1 min, and a final extension at 72°C for 5 min. For the identification of independent transgenic events, southernblot assays were performed as previously described (Taylor et al. 2012). DNA was digested using *KpnI*, which cuts once the T-DNA at the start of *RXam2*. A 700pb *hptII* probe was synthetized by PCR (hptIlprobe F and hptIlprobe R) using the PCR DIG probe synthesis kit (Roche Applied Science, Indianapolis, IN, USA). Hybridization and detection was carried out according to manufacturer's instructions using anti-DIG antibody and CDP-star (Roche Applied Science, Indianapolis, IN, USA).

RT-PCR analysis

Total RNA was extracted from in vitro leaves using Invitrap ® Spin plant RNA minikit (STRATEC, Berlín, GER). 1ug of total RNA was treated with DNaseI RNase-free (ThermoScientific, Waltham, MA, USA), this was confirmed by PCR. First strand synthesis was performed with $oligo(dT)_{18}$ primers using the First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (ThermoScientific, Waltham, MA, USA). RXam2 expression levels were assessed using B-tubulin as reference control. RXam2RT F and RXam2RT R were used for *RXam2* and tub3exRT F and tub3exRT R were used for β -tubulin.

4.5.4 Plant inoculations assays

RXam2-RNAi plants were first grown in vitro, transferred to a greenhouse and posterior to soil in the field. Once this plants produced woody stems, stakes were cut and placed on soil pots for inoculations assays in the greenhouse. Inoculation assays for OX-RXam2 plants were performed on in vitro plants. OX-RXam2 cassava in vitro plants were grown in a growth chamber at 28°C under 16h of light on MS medium supplemented with sucrose (2% w v⁻¹). Xam strains were grown at 28°C on liquid LPG medium (5 g yeast extract, 5 g dextrose and 5 g peptone per L of distilled water) and resuspended in 10mM MgCl2. Two month-old in vitro cassava plants were selected for Q-Tip leaf inoculation. Briefly, young leaves were punctured in the mesophyll (apoplast) using an insulin-syringe. Each leaf was then wiped on both adaxial and abaxial side using a Q-Tip previously immersed in a *Xam* cell suspension [optical density at 600nm (OD_{600nm})= $0,002,\sim 10^{6}$ colony forming units (CFU ml⁻¹)]. Bacterial growth was assessed at 0, 3 and 8 dpi.

The complete leaf was ground in 100uL of 10mM MgCl₂. Serial dilutions were plated on LPGA (5 g yeast extract, 5 g dextrose, 5 g peptone and 15 g agar per L of distilled water). For stem inoculation assays for plants carrying $EBE_{TALE1Xam}$::RXam2(D495V), two month-old *in vitro* cassava plants were punctured in the stem using an insulin-syringe. The bacterial inoculum [optical density at 600nm (OD_{600nm})= 0,002,~10^6 colony forming units (CFU ml⁻¹)] was spread in the wound using a Q-Tip. A scale of symptoms from 0 to 5 was used and symptoms development was monitored at 7, 14, 21 and 28 days after inoculation as reported by (Trujillo et al., 2014b).

4.5.5 DAB staining

To detect reactive oxygen species (ROS) in *RXam2* transgenic lines, leaves from *in vitro* naïve plants were excised, submerged in 3, 3'-Diaminobenzidine (DAB) buffer as previously reported (Thordal-Christensen et al., 1997) and incubated for 6 hours in the dark at RT. Leaves were destained from chlorophyll doing al least three washing steps with 96% ethanol and incubation at 37° C. Accumulation of H_2O_2 was detected in a stereoscope and leaves were photographed.

4.6 Supplementary information

Primer	Sequence (5' to 3')	Gene_ID	
RXam2-RNAiF	CACCTGGGAAAATTATAGGGGATGTT		
RXam2IR	TGCACATCCAACCAGTCC		
35SEcoRI F	GCAGAATTCTCAACATGGTGGAGCAC		
35SSacI R	TGCGAGCTCGTCCCCGGTGTTCTCTCC	35S promoter	
NostBamHI F	GCAGGATCCCGTTCAAACATTTGGC	Nos terminator	
NostSalI R	TGCGTCGACCCCGATCTAGTAACATAG		
RXam1KpnIF GCAGGTACCATGGGGTGTGGATGCTTCTG			
RXam1BamHI R	TGCGGATCCCTTAGGTGTAGATTTC	Manes.10G014300	
RXam1RT R	ACTGGTAGATGCAACCACTCCTCA		
RXam1RT F	TGGAGCAGCTAAGTCTTTCATGGC	Manes.10G014300	
PP2A R	CTGAGCGTAAAGCAGGGAAG	Manes.09G039900	

Supplementary table 4-1: List of primers used in this study.

1	1	1
tub3exRT F	GGAAAGATGAGCACCAAGGA	
tub3exRT R	ACCAGTATACCAGTGCAAGAAG	Manes.08G061700
G3PDHcassava F	CTGGTGGTTCAGGTATCAAAGA	
G3PDHcassava R	CCATATCATCTCCCATCACCATT	Manes.11G072400
hptIIprobe F	CGTCTGCTGCTCCATACAAG	Hvaromycine
hptIIprobe R	ATAGCTGCGCCGATGGTT	phosphotranferase

Supplementary table 4-2: List of genes located near *RXam2 (Manes.07G048100,* 4853478-4857038) in a region that spans ~4,8 Mb.

Source: (*M. esculenta* v6.1, <u>http://phytozome.jgi.doe.gov</u>).

Locus name	position/orientation	Annotation
Manes.07G044300	4198674423734 reverse	LEUCINE-RICH REPEAT-CONTAINING PROTEIN
Manes.07G044400	44269284427044 forward	
Manes.07G044500	44273684427613 reverse	
Manes.07G044600	44281084428402 reverse	
Manes.07G044700	44290534431421 reverse	LEUCINE-RICH REPEAT-CONTAINING PROTEIN
Manes.07G044800	44324404432556 forward	
Manes.07G044900	44492824453105 reverse	Ubiquitin family (ubiquitin) // HECT-domain (ubiquitin-transferase) (HECT) // Protein tyrosine kinase (Pkinase_Tyr)
Manes.07G045000	44533434455433 reverse	LEUCINE-RICH REPEAT-CONTAINING PROTEIN
Manes.07G045100	44569914458186 forward	ALCOHOL DEHYDROGENASE-RELATED
Manes.07G045200	44635614463713 forward	
Manes.07G045300	44642624464556 reverse	
Manes.07G045400	44652114468685 reverse	LEUCINE-RICH REPEAT-CONTAINING PROTEIN
Manes.07G045500	44767134476964 reverse	60S RIBOSOMAL PROTEIN L23A
Manes.07G045600	44842754486362 forward	L-TYPE LECTIN-DOMAIN CONTAINING RECEPTOR KINASE IX.1-RELATED
Manes.07G045700	44881894490297 reverse	L-TYPE LECTIN-DOMAIN CONTAINING RECEPTOR KINASE IX.1-RELATED
Manes.07G045800	44948104498164 reverse	Legume-like lectin family (Lectin_leg-like)
Manes.07G045900	45013294503194 reverse	L-TYPE LECTIN-DOMAIN CONTAINING RECEPTOR KINASE IX.1-RELATED
Manes.07G046000	45314714538065 forward	MADS-BOX TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR ANR1
Manes.07G046100	45383964539538 forward	
Manes.07G046200	45446584545120 reverse	Protein of unknown function (DUF2647) (DUF2647)

Manes.07G046300	45481134554400 forward	MADS BOX PROTEIN
Manes.07G046400	45755024577634 reverse	RECEPTOR-LIKE PROTEIN KINASE ANXUR1-RELATED
Manes.07G046500	45784784583512 reverse	OLIGOPEPTIDE TRANSPORTER 4
Manes.07G046600	45979984602139 forward	ZINC TRANSPORT PROTEIN ZNTB
Manes.07G046700	46033474607252 forward	HEAT SHOCK 70 KDA PROTEIN 10, MITOCHONDRIAL
Manes.07G046800	46103804611038 reverse	Cysteine-rich TM module stress tolerance (CYSTM)
Manes.07G046900	46221324625665	PB1 domain (PB1)
Manes.07G047000	46459024650136	PHOSPHOGLYCERATE MUTASE-LIKE PROTEIN
Manes.07G047100	46672444670045 forward	Leucine Rich Repeat (LRR_1) // Leucine rich repeat N-terminal domain (LRRNT_2) // Leucine rich repeat (LRR_8)
Manes.07G047200	46910614694364	
Manes.07G047300	46949994695264	
Manes.07G047400	47029234706068 forward	Leucine Rich Repeat (LRR_1) // Leucine rich repeat N-terminal domain (LRRNT_2) // Leucine rich repeat (LRR_8)
Manes.07G047500	47318764732052 forward	
Manes.07G047600	48149734815392 reverse	
Manes.07G047700	48177904818294 forward	
Manes.07G047800	48184224821365 reverse	Protein kinase domain (Pkinase) // Leucine rich repeat N-terminal domain (LRRNT 2) // Leucine rich repeat (LRR 8)
Manes.07G047900	48283634830396 reverse	L-TYPE LECTIN-DOMAIN CONTAINING RECEPTOR KINASE IX.1-RELATED
Manes.07G048000	48478314850599 forward	Peptide-methionine (R)-S-oxide reductase / Selenoprotein R
Manes.07G048100	48534784857038 reverse	LEUCINE-RICH REPEAT-CONTAINING PROTEIN (RXam2)
Manes.07G048200	48604884860683 forward	
Manes.07G048300	48653644869547 reverse	INORGANIC PYROPHOSPHATASE
Manes.07G048400	48715254888093 forward	PROTEIN S-ACYLTRANSFERASE 23-RELATED
Manes.07G048500	48884644891790 reverse	L-galactose 1-dehydrogenase / L-galDH
Manes.07G048600	49004044902789 forward	TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR BHLH18-RELATED
Manes.07G048700	49597664960887 forward	PHOSPHOLIPID-TRANSPORTING ATPASE 10-RELATED
Manes.07G048800	49745664975885 forward	F-box domain (F-box) // Protein of unknown function (DUF295) (DUF295)
Manes.07G048900	49848844986145 forward	F-box domain (F-box) // Protein of unknown function (DUF295) (DUF295)
Manes.07G049000	49883594990679 forward	
Manes.07G049100	49907464994590 reverse	MALATE DEHYDROGENASE, GLYOXYSOMAL
Manes.07G049200	50038775007483 forward	Protein kinase domain (Pkinase) // Leucine rich repeat N-terminal domain (LRRNT_2) // Leucine rich repeat (LRR_8)
Manes.07G049300	50161905024087 forward	PROLINE IMINOPEPTIDASE
Manes.07G049400	50299415032189	Adenovirus IVa2 protein (Adeno_IVa2)

	forward	
Manes.07G049500	50324285035678 reverse	
Manes.07G049600	50374025039694 forward	Squalene monooxygenase / Squalene epoxidase
Manes.07G049700	50467335049978 forward	MuDR family transposase (DBD_Tnp_Mut) // SWIM zinc finger (SWIM) // MULE transposase domain (MULE)
Manes.07G049800	50508825056333 reverse	LL-diaminopimelate aminotransferase / LL-diaminopimelate transaminase
Manes.07G049900	50751745078537 forward	
Manes.07G050000	50836745091152 reverse	ANCIENT CONSERVED DOMAIN PROTEIN-RELATED
Manes.07G050100	51716095175780 forward	
Manes.07G050200	52017655202373 forward	F2J10.6 PROTEIN-RELATED
Manes.07G050300	52104085211110 reverse	F2J10.6 PROTEIN-RELATED
Manes.07G050400	52339475234589 reverse	F2J10.6 PROTEIN-RELATED
Manes.07G050500	<u>5241605</u> 5242267 reverse	DNA-DIRECTED RNA POLYMERASE 3, CHLOROPLASTIC

Supplementary figure 4-1: PCR of the selection marker *NptII* from genomic DNA of putative transgenic plants.

Genomic DNA was isolated from fresh leaves of unchallenged *in vitro* putative transgenic plants. *NptII* expression was evaluated and *tubulin* was used as a reference gene. NT, non-transgenic control; +, plasmid DNA; -, negative control.



Supplementary figure 4-2: Southern-blot analysis of RXam2-RNAi transgenic cassava plants.

Genomic DNA was isolated from fresh leaves and a southern Blot was performed using *NptII* as a probe. T49-T54, genomic DNA from the different transgenic plants obtained; NT, genomic DNA from non-transgenic plants used as a negative control.



Supplementary figure 4-3: Histochemical GUS staining of putative OX-RXam2 transgenic plants.

Leaves from in vitro plants were detached and stained in X-Gluc buffer for 16h at 37°C and destained in 96% ethanol. OX-Rxam2 plants are labeled from 3-2 to 3-84A; and empty vector control plants are labeled from EV-1 to EV-22; +, indicates a transgenic plants carriyng *GUS* as a reporter gene; -, indicates non-transgenic control plant.



Supplementary figure 4-4: PCR from genomic DNA of putative OX-RXam2 transgenic plants.

Genomic DNA was isolated from fresh leaves from *in vitro* transgenic plants that were positive for the *GUS* staining. *HptII* expression was evaluated and *G3PDH* was used as a reference gene. Small red letters indicate the number of insertion events confirmed by Southern-blot analysis; +, confirmed transgenic plant; -, negative control.




Supplementary figure 4-5: Reverse transcriptase (RT)-PCR analysis of OX-RXam2 transgenic cassava plants.

Total RNA was isolated from fresh *in vitro* leaves on five OX-Rxam2 cassava single copy transgenic lines (L39, L67, L71, L82 and L84). cDNA was synthetized and *Rxam2* and *G3PDH* (reference control) expression levels were detected by PCR. EV, Empty vector transgenic plants; +, genomic DNA of cv. 60444 plants; -, negative PCR control.



Supplementary figure 4-6: Bacterial growth of XamCFBP1851 on OX-RXam2 plants.

Two month-old cassava plants were inoculated by piercing and dipped on both abaxial and adaxial side of the leaf with a 10⁶ inoculum of *XamCFBP1851*. Number of bacteria was quantified at 0, 3 and 7 dpi, data represent a mean of three biological samples ± SE.



Supplementary figure 4-7: Transient expression assays of RXam2 (MHV) on *Nicotiana benthamiana* and cassava leaves.

(A) *N. benthamiana* leaves were infiltrated with *A. tumefaciens* strain GV3101 harboring pBAV139 (E.V.), 355::RXam2-pBAV139, 35S::RXam2(MHV)-pBAV139 and 35S::RXam2-pCAMBIA1305.2 and photographed at 3 dpi. (B) Cassava leaves were infiltrated with the same constructs as (A) but the strain AGL1 was used instead of GV3101, photographs were taken at 5 dpi.



Supplementary figure 4-8: Transient expression assays on *N. benthamiana* and *N. tabacum* to evaluate the induction of the activator trap promoter EBE TALE1.

(A) *N. benthamiana* leaves were infiltrated with *A. tumefaciens* strain GV3101 harboring pMDC32 (E.V.), EBE_{TALE1}::RXam2(MHV)-pMDC32, 35S::TALE1-pBAV139 and coinfiltration of EBE_{TALE1}::RXam2(MHV)-pMDC32 and 35S::TALE1-pBAV139 (B) *N. tabacum* leaves were infiltrated with the same constructs as (A).



Supplementary figure 4-9: Histochemical GUS staining of putative EBETALE1::GusPlus transgenic plants.

Leaves from *in vitro* plants were detached and stained in X-Gluc buffer for 16h at 37°C and destained in 96% ethanol. *EBE_{TALE1}::GusPlus* plants are labeled from 7-1 to 7-81; +, transgenic plant carriyng *GusPlus* as a reporter gene; -, non-transgenic control plant.



Supplementary figure 4-10: PCR from genomic DNA of *EBE_{TALE1}::GusPlus* transgenic plants.

Genomic DNA was isolated from fresh leaves from *in vitro* transgenic plants that were negative for the *GUS* staining. *HptII* expression was evaluated and *G3PDH* was used as a reference gene. Small red letters indicate the number of insertion events confirmed by Southern-blot analysis; +, confirmed transgenic plant; -, negative control.



Supplementary figure 4-11: Southern-blot analysis of *EBE_{TALE1}::RXam2(D495D)* and *EBE_{TALE1}::GusPlus* transgenic plants.

Genomic DNA was isolated from fresh leaves and a southern Blot was performed using *HptII* as a probe. Bold numbers below indicate the number of insertion events for each line analyzed. NT, genomic DNA from non-transgenic plants used as a negative control; +, genomic DNA from a transgenic plant used as a positive control; P, plasmid pMDC32.



Supplementary table 4-3: Summary of the transformation process and molecular characterization.

Construct	FEC transformed	Nº regenerated				
	(mg)	plantlets	GUS staining	PCR hptll	Single copy events	
EBETALE1::GusPlus	68	82			At least 1 from 3 plants	
			Negative: 15/72	14/15	evaluated	
					At least 5 from 9 plants	
			Positive: 57/72	57/57	evaluated	
EBETALE1::RXam2(D495V)	68	45	-	45/45	22/45	

Supplementary table 4-4: Evaluation of disease resistance in EBETALE1::RXam2(D495V).

Two-month-old *in vitro* plants were inoculated in the stem with a *Xam* cell suspension [optical density at 600nm $(OD_{600nm}) = 0,02,\sim 10^{7}$ colony forming units (CFU ml⁻¹)]. Two lines of *EBE_{TALE1}::GusPlus* were evaluated (G-61 and G-2), five lines of *EBE_{TALE1}::RXam2(D495V)* were evaluated (R-44, R-51, R-53, R-54) and one non-transgenic control (NT) was evaluated. ^a Data shown is the mean of the sum of AUDPC in arbitrary units (AU) at 28 dpi from three replicates and the standard error (SE) was calculated from three replicates per genotype. ^b A genotype was considered to be resistant if the Σ AUDPC value <39 and susceptible when the Σ AUPDC value >49 according to

(Trujillo et al., 2014). ^cMean disease rating is the mean of the symptoms observed at 28 dpi using a scale from 0 to 5 as reported by Jorge and Verdier, 2002. ^d A genotype was considered to be resistant if the mean disease rating \leq 3. ^e Four categories were assigned based on previous studies (Trujillo et al., 2014). Resistant (Σ AUPDC \leq 39), moderately resistant (39< Σ AUDPC<44), moderately susceptible (44< Σ AUDPC<49) and susceptible (Σ AUDPC \geq 49).

Strain	Genotype	∑AUDPCa	SE	Criteria 1 ^b	Mean Disease rating ^c	Criteria 2 ^d	New criteria ^e
CFBP1851 ∆TALE1	NT	30,83	2,33	R	3,00	R	R
	G-61	32,33	3,83	R	3,33	S	MR
	G-2	31,33	8,57	R	2,00	R	R
	R-12	48,33	8,35	S	4,00	S	MS
	R-44	54,00	5,00	S	4,00	S	S
	R-51	50,67	6,12	S	4,00	S	S
	R-53	32,33	2,05	R	3,33	S	R
	R-54	49,83	3,35	S	3,67	S	S
CFBP1851	NT	46,83	3,49	R/S	3,67	S	MS
	G-61	43,00	5,39	R/S	3,33	S	MR
	G-2	52,33	7,37	S	3,33	S	S
	R-12	54,50	3,00	S	3,67	S	S
	R-44	49,83	0,83	S	3,67	S	S
	R-51	34,67	10,98	R	2,67	R	R
	R-53	56,00	4,92	S	4,00	S	S
	R-54	40,33	2,62	R/S	3,33	S	MS

Chapter 5

"One never notices what has been done; one can only see what remains to be done"

"Uno nunca se da cuenta lo que se ha hecho; uno sólo puede ver lo que falta por hacer"

Marie Curie

5 General conclusions and perspectives

Among the most promising strategies for plant disease control is to employ the mechanisms selected by plants themselves to avoid or limit the attack of pathogens. Six years ago, the first version of the cassava genome was made available. This has unlocked new possibilities to the study of the molecular basis of host disease resistance. In this thesis we have explored three distinct approaches intending to solve the constraints caused by *Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. manihotis, a bacterial pathogen from cassava. Here we report the interfamily transfer of the *Bs2* gene from pepper to cassava and the functional analysis of two candidate resistance genes, *RXam1* and *RXam2* coding for a RLK and a NLR protein respectively.

We produced transgenic cassava plants that functionally express the *Bs2* gene from pepper. Our results showed the overexpression of *Bs2* on a highly susceptible cultivar leads to a constitutive activation of immune responses in cassava. We also found that the overexpression of *Bs2* does not result in the development of an HR in cassava neither to a reduced *Xam* growth on *in vitro* plants tested. These results suggest that Bs2 is activating defense-signaling pathways in cassava still, is not sufficient to restrict *Xam* growth. Inoculation assays with *avrBs2* mutants on transgenic *Bs2* cassava plants will aid to demonstrate the recognition of the cognate effector AvrBs2.

The deployment of host resistance is mainly used to control CBB. Until now, there is a lack of reports for the isolation and cloning of *R* genes in cassava. Here we report that a gene coding for a RLK is associated with a minor QTL that contributes to strain specific resistance to CBB. Our results demonstrate that the stable overexpression of *RXam1* leads to a reduction in bacterial growth but this response is specific for strain CIO136 and it was not observed in other strains tested. This suggests that *RXam1* might be a gene involved in strain-specific resistance to CBB.

A complete functional analysis of a second cassava gene, *RXam2*, that codes for a NLR protein is presented here. Results obtained indicate *RXam2* silencing results in enhanced susceptibility to nearly all strains tested. In a similar way as observed for *Bs2*, the overexpression of *RXam2* does

not results in the development of HR. Nevertheless, a slight reduction in *Xam* growth was observed for several strains. These data collectively suggest that *RXam2* is involved in a broad-spectrum resistance

As a proof-of-concept for the development of a novel strategy for CBB resistance, we design an RXam2 variant under the control of an activator trap promoter. We found that an autoactive version mutated in the MHD motif of *RXam2* called RXam2_(D495V) was able to trigger an HR phenotype. Based on this result, *RXam2_(D495V)* was cloned under a TALE1_{Xam}-inducible promoter and cassava transgenic plants were produced. Results obtained from transgenic lines evaluated indicate some lines display less disease symptoms to *Xam* strains carrying TALE1_{Xam}.

The information derived from the isolation and cloning of *R* genes has been usefully incorporated to breeding programs for several crops from the first world. However, most of the conventional breeding strategies developed for crops such as maize, rice, wheat or tomato are hardly suitable for vegetative propagated crops like cassava. Genetic transformation has emerged as a useful tool to overcome some constraints related to the reproductive biology of cassava.

Since the pioneering reports on cassava transformation technologies near 1990's, several other groups mainly in North America and Europe have demonstrated relevant improvements in the development of more efficient transformation protocols. Notably, several recent studies have reported important advances in the establishment of transformation protocols for industry and farmer-preferred cultivars in Asia and Africa. However, efforts are still needed to establish transformation technologies or other methods that allow genetic modification in commercial cultivars from South America.

The above results provide resources for the deployment of *R* genes, particularly *RXam1* and *RXam2*, to account for durable and wide-spectrum disease resistance in cassava. Although these genes were evaluated for resistance to CBB, it would be interesting to test if these plants are also tolerant to CMD and CBSD. The next step will be the further introduction of these genes by traditional or non-conventional breeding strategies on improved cassava varieties.

Finally, the availability of cassava plants transformed with an activator trap promoter controlling the expression of *GusPlus* might be employed as a bio-detector system for *Xam* strains containing TALE1 or other TAL effector containing similar RVDs sequences.

6 References

- Ade, J., DeYoung, B.J., Golstein, C., and Innes, R.W. (2007). Indirect activation of a plant nucleotide binding siteleucine-rich repeat protein by a bacterial protease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104: 2531–2536.
- Afroz, A., Chaudhry, Z., Rashid, U., Ali, G.M., Nazir, F., Iqbal, J., and Khan, M.R. (2011). Enhanced resistance against bacterial wilt in transgenic tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum) lines expressing the Xa21 gene. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult. 104: 227–237.
- Akano, A., Dixon, A.G.O., Mba, C., and Fregene, M. (2002). Genetic mapping of a dominant gene conferring resistance to cassava mosaic disease. TAG Theor. Appl. Genet. 105: 521–525.
- Albersheim, P. and Valent, B.S. (1978). Host-pathogen interactions in plants. Plants, when exposed to oligosaccharides of fungal origin, defend themselves by accumulating antibiotics. J. Cell Biol. 78: 627–643.
- Albrecht, C., Boutrot, F., Segonzac, C., Schwessinger, B., Gimenez-Ibanez, S., Chinchilla, D., Rathjen, J.P., de Vries, S.C., and Zipfel, C. (2012). Brassinosteroids inhibit pathogen-associated molecular pattern-triggered immune signaling independent of the receptor kinase BAK1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 109: 303–308.
- Alexandratos, N. and Bruinsma, J. (2012). World agriculture towards 2030/2050: The 2012 Revision. ESA Work. Pap. Nº 12-03. Rome, FAO.
- Allem, A. (1999). The closest wild relatives of cassava (Manihot esculenta Crantz). Euphytica 107: 123–133.
- Allem, A.C. (1994). The origin of Manihot esculenta Crantz (Euphorbiaceae). Genet. Resour. Crop Evol. **41**: 133–150.
- Alvarez, E., Llano, G.A., and Mejía, J.F. (2012). Cassava diseases in Latin America, Africa and Asia. In The cassava handbook – A reference manual based on the asian regional cassava training course, held in Thailand., R. Howeler, ed (CIAT: Cali), pp. 258–304.
- Alves, A. (2002). Botany and Physiology. In Cassava: Biology, Production and Utilization, R.J. Hillocks, J.M. Thresh,

- Ameline-Torregrosa, C., Wang, B.-B., O'Bleness, M.S., Deshpande, S., Zhu, H., Roe, B., Young, N.D., and Cannon, S.B. (2007). Identification and Characterization of Nucleotide-Binding Site-Leucine-Rich Repeat Genes in the Model Plant Medicago truncatula. Plant Physiol. 146: 5–21.
- Anderson-Prouty, A. and Albersheim, P. (1975). Host-pathogen interactions: VIII. Isolation of a pathogensynthesized fraction rich in glucan that elicitis a defense response in the pathogen's host. Plant Physiol. 56: 286–291.
- Angelov, M.N., Sun, J., Byrd, G.T., Brown, R.H., and Black, C.C. (1993). Novel characteristics of cassava, Manihot esculenta Crantz, a reputed C3-C4 intermediate photosynthesis species. Photosynth. Res. 38: 61–72.
- Arrieta-Ortiz, M.L. et al. (2013). Genomic Survey of Pathogenicity Determinants and VNTR Markers in the Cassava Bacterial Pathogen Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. Manihotis Strain CI0151. PLoS One 8: e79704.
- Arya, P., Kumar, G., Acharya, V., and Singh, A.K. (2014). Genome-wide identification and expression analysis of nbs-encoding genes in malus X domestica and expansion of nbs genes family in rosaceae. PLoS One 9: 502.
- **Ausubel, F.M.** (2005). Are innate immune signaling pathways in plants and animals conserved? Nat. Immunol. **6**: 973–979.
- Axtell, M.J. and Staskawicz, B.J. (2003). Initiation of RPS2-specified disease resistance in Arabidopsis is coupled to the AvrRpt2-directed elimination of RIN4. Cell 112: 369–377.
- Bai, S., Liu, J., Chang, C., Zhang, L., Maekawa, T., Wang, Q., Xiao, W., Liu, Y., Chai, J., Takken, F.L.W., Schulze-Lefert, P., and Shen, Q.H. (2012). Structure-function analysis of barley NLR immune receptor MLA10 reveals its cell compartment specific activity in cell death and disease resistance. PLoS Pathog. 8: 21–25.
- Bart, R. et al. (2012). PNAS Plus: High-throughput genomic sequencing of cassava bacterial blight strains identifies conserved effectors to target for durable resistance. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 109: E1972–E1979.
- Bella, J., Hindle, K.L., McEwan, P.A., and Lovell, S.C. (2008). The leucine-rich repeat structure. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 65: 2307–2333.
- Bellotti, A., Campo, B.B.V.H., Hyman, G., Herrera Campo, B.V., Hyman, G., Campo, B.B.V.H., and Hyman, G. (2012a). Cassava Production and Pest Management: Present and Potential Threats in a Changing Environment.
- Bellotti, A., Herrera, C.J., Hernández, M. del P., Arias, B., Guerrero, J.M., and Melo, E.L. (2012b). Cassava pests

in Latin America, Africa and Asia. In The cassava handbook – A reference manual based on the asian regional cassava training course, held in Thailand., R. Howeler, ed (CIAT: Cali).

- Bendahmane, A., Farnham, G., Moffett, P., and Baulcombe David, C. (2002). Constitutive gain-of-function mutants in a nucleotide binding site-leucine rich repeat protein encoded at the Rx locus of potato. Plant J. 32: 195–204.
- Bendahmane, A., Kanyuka, K., and Baulcombe, D.C. (1999). The Rx Gene from Potato Controls Separate Virus Resistance and Cell Death Responses. Plant Cell 11: 781–792.
- **Bernoux, M., Ellis, J.G., and Dodds, P.N.** (2011a). New insights in plant immunity signaling activation. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. **14**: 512–518.
- Bernoux, M., Ve, T., Williams, S., Warren, C., Hatters, D., Valkov, E., Zhang, X., Ellis, J.G., Kobe, B., and Dodds,
 P.N. (2011b). Structural and functional analysis of a plant resistance protein TIR domain reveals interfaces for self-association, signaling, and autoregulation. Cell Host Microbe 9: 200–11.
- Berrocal-lobo, M., Stone, S., Yang, X., Antico, J., Callis, J., Ramonell, K.M., and Somerville, S. (2010). ATL9, a RING Zinc Finger Protein with E3 Ubiquitin Ligase Activity Implicated in Chitin- and NADPH Oxidase-Mediated Defense Responses. PLoS One 5.
- van der Biezen, E. a and Jones, J.D. (1998). The NB-ARC domain: a novel signalling motif shared by plant resistance gene products and regulators of cell death in animals. Curr. Biol. 8: R226–R227.
- **Bigeard, J., Colcombet, J., and Hirt, H.** (2015). Signaling mechanisms in pattern-triggered immunity (PTI). Mol. Plant **8**: 521–539.
- Block, A. and Alfano, J.R. (2011). Plant targets for Pseudomonas syringae type III effectors: virulence targets or guarded decoys? Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 14: 39–46.
- Boch, J., Bonas, U., and Lahaye, T. (2014). TAL effectors--pathogen strategies and plant resistance engineering. New Phytol. 204: 823–32.
- Boch, J., Scholze, H., Schornack, S., Landgraf, A., Hahn, S., Kay, S., Lahaye, T., Nickstadt, A., and Bonas, U. (2009). Breaking the Code of DNA Binding Specificity of TAL-Type III Effectors. Science (80-.). 326: 1509– 1512.
- **Boher, B. and Verdier, V.** (1994). Cassava bacterial bligth in Africa: The state of knowledge and implications for designing control strategies. African Crop Sci. J. **2**: 505–509.

- Bomblies, K., Lempe, J., Epple, P., Warthmann, N., Lanz, C., Dangl, J.L., and Weigel, D. (2007). Autoimmune Response as a Mechanism for a Dobzhansky-Muller-Type Incompatibility Syndrome in Plants. PLoS Biol. 5: e236.
- **Bomblies, K. and Weigel, D.** (2007). Hybrid necrosis: autoimmunity as a potential gene-flow barrier in plant species. Nat. Rev. Genet. **8**: 382–393.
- Bonardi, V., Cherkis, K., Nishimura, M.T., and Dangl, J.L. (2012). A new eye on NLR proteins: focused on clarity or diffused by complexity? Curr. Opin. Immunol. 24: 41–50.
- Boutrot, F., Segonzac, C., Chang, K.N., Qiao, H., Ecker, J.R., and Zipfel, C. (2010). Direct transcriptional control of the Arabidopsis immune receptor FLS2 by the ethylene-dependent transcription factors EIN3 and EIL1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107: 3–8.
- Boyd, L.A., Ridout, C., O'Sullivan, D.M., Leach, J.E., and Leung, H. (2013). Plant-pathogen interactions: Disease resistance in modern agriculture. Trends Genet. **29**: 233–240.
- Bradeen, J.M., Iorizzo, M., Mollov, D.S., Raasch, J., Kramer, L.C., Millett, B.P., Austin-Phillips, S., Jiang, J., and Carputo, D. (2009). Higher copy numbers of the potato RB transgene correspond to enhanced transcript and late blight resistance levels. Mol. Plant. Microbe. Interact. 22: 437–446.
- **Bredeson, J. V et al.** (2016). Sequencing wild and cultivated cassava and related species reveals extensive interspecific hybridization and genetic diversity. Nat. Biotechnol. **34**: 562–570.
- Broglie, K.E., Butler, K.H., da Silva Conceição, A., Frey, T.J., Hawk, J.A., Multani, D.S., and Wolters, P.J.C.C. (2009). Polynucleotides and methods for making plants resistant to fungal pathogens.
- Brunner, S., Stirnweis, D., Diaz Quijano, C., Buesing, G., Herren, G., Parlange, F., Barret, P., Tassy, C., Sautter,
 C., Winzeler, M., and Keller, B. (2012). Transgenic Pm3 multilines of wheat show increased powdery mildew resistance in the field. Plant Biotechnol. J. 10: 398–409.
- Bull, S.E., Owiti, J. a, Niklaus, M., Beeching, J.R., Gruissem, W., and Vanderschuren, H. (2009). Agrobacteriummediated transformation of friable embryogenic calli and regeneration of transgenic cassava. Nat. Protoc. 4: 1845–1854.
- Burch-Smith, T.M., Schiff, M., Caplan, J.L., Tsao, J., Czymmek, K., and Dinesh-Kumar, S.P. (2007). A Novel Role for the TIR Domain in Association with Pathogen-Derived Elicitors. PLoS Biol. 5: e68.

- **Buscaill, P. and Rivas, S.** (2014). Transcriptional control of plant defence responses. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. **20**: 35–46.
- Calvert, L. and Thresh, J.M. (2002). The Viruses and Virus Diseases of Cassava. In Cassava: Biology, Production and Utilization, R.J. Hillocks, J.M. Thresh, and A. Bellotti, eds (CABI Publishing: New York), pp. 237–260.
- **Canton, J. and Grinstein, S.** (2014). Priming and activation of NADPH oxidases in plants and animals. Trends Immunol. **35**: 405–407.
- Cao, Y., Ding, X., Cai, M., Zhao, J., Lin, Y., Li, X., Xu, C., and Wang, S. (2007). The expression pattern of a rice disease resistance gene Xa3/Xa26 is differentially regulated by the genetic backgrounds and developmental stages that influence its function. Genetics 177: 523–533.
- **Castiblanco, L.F. et al.** (2013). TALE1 from Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. Manihotis acts as a transcriptional activator in plant cells and is important for pathogenicity in cassava plants. Mol. Plant Pathol. **14**: 84–95.
- Catanzariti, A.-M., Dodds, P.N., Ve, T., Kobe, B., Ellis, J.G., and Staskawicz, B.J. (2010). The AvrM effector from flax rust has a structured C-terminal domain and interacts directly with the M resistance protein. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 23: 49–57.
- Ceballos, H., Hershey, C., and Becerra-López-Lavalle, L.A. (2012). New Approaches to Cassava Breeding. Plant Breed. Rev. **36**: 427–504.
- Ceballos, H., Kawuki, R.S., Gracen, V.E., Yencho, G.C., and Hershey, C.H. (2015). Conventional breeding, marker-assisted selection, genomic selection and inbreeding in clonally propagated crops: a case study for cassava. Theor. Appl. Genet. 128: 1647–1667.
- **Ceballos, H., Okogbenin, E., Pérez, J.C., López-Valle, L.A.B., and Debouck, D.** (2010). Cassava. In Root and Tuber Crops, J. Bradshaw, ed (Springer Science Business Media), pp. 53–96.
- **Cesari, S., Bernoux, M., Moncuquet, P., Kroj, T., and Dodds, P.N.** (2014). A novel conserved mechanism for plant NLR protein pairs : the " integrated decoy " hypothesis. Front. Plant Sci. **5**: 1–10.
- **Chan, S.L., Mukasa, T., Santelli, E., Low, L.Y., and Pascual, J.** (2010). The crystal structure of a TIR domain from Arabidopsis thaliana reveals a conserved helical region unique to plants. Protein Sci. **19**: 155–161.
- Chang, C., Yu, D., Jiao, J., Jing, S., Schulze-lefert, P., and Shen, Q. (2013). Barley MLA Immune Receptors Directly Interfere with Antagonistically Acting Transcription Factors to Initiate Disease Resistance Signaling. Plant Cell 25: 1158–1173.

- Chen, L. (2014). SWEET sugar transporters for phloem transport and pathogen nutrition. New Phytol. 201: 1150– 1155.
- **Chen, L.-Q. et al.** (2010a). Sugar transporters for intercellular exchange and nutrition of pathogens. Nature **468**: 527–32.
- Chen, Q., Han, Z., Jiang, H., Tian, D., and Yang, S. (2010b). Strong positive selection drives rapid diversification of R-Genes in arabidopsis relatives. J. Mol. Evol. 70: 137–148.
- Chen, X., Chern, M., Canlas, P.E., Ruan, D., Jiang, C., and Ronald, P.C. (2010c). An ATPase promotes autophosphorylation of the pattern recognition receptor XA21 and inhibits XA21-mediated immunity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 107: 8029–8034.
- Chen, X., Zuo, S., Schwessinger, B., Chern, M., Canlas, P.E., Ruan, D., Zhou, X., Wang, J., Daudi, A., Petzold, C.J., Heazlewood, J.L., and Ronald, P.C. (2014). An XA21-associated kinase (OsSERK2) regulates immunity mediated by the XA21 and XA3 immune receptors. Mol. Plant 7: 874–892.
- Cheng, Y.T. and Li, X. (2012). Ubiquitination in NB-LRR-mediated immunity. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 15: 392–399.
- Chinchilla, D., Bauer, Z., Regenass, M., Boller, T., and Felix, G. (2006). The Arabidopsis Receptor Kinase FLS2 Binds flg22 and Determines the Specificity of Flagellin Perception. Plant Cell 18: 465–476.
- Chinchilla, D., Zipfel, C., Robatzek, S., Kemmerling, B., Nürnberger, T., Jones, J.D.G., Felix, G., and Boller, T. (2007). A flagellin-induced complex of the receptor FLS2 and BAK1 initiates plant defence. Nature **448**: 497–500.
- **Chisholm, S.T., Coaker, G., Day, B., and Staskawicz, B.J.** (2006). Host-Microbe Interactions: Shaping the Evolution of the Plant Immune Response. Cell **124**: 803–814.
- Christie, N., Tobias, P.A., Naidoo, S., and Külheim, C. (2016). The Eucalyptus grandis NBS-LRR Gene Family: Physical Clustering and Expression Hotspots. Front. Plant Sci. 6: 1238.
- Christopoulou, M., Mchale, L.K., Kozik, A., Wo, S.R., Wroblewski, T., and Michelmore, R.W. (2015). Dissection of Two Complex Clusters of Resistance Genes in Lettuce (Lactuce sativa). MPMI 28: 751–765.
- Chu, Z., Yuan, M., Yao, J., Ge, X., Yuan, B., Xu, C., Li, X., Fu, B., Li, Z., Bennetzen, L., Zhang, Q., and Wang, S. (2006). Promoter mutations of an essential gene for pollen development result in disease resistance in rice service. Genes Dev. 20: 1250–1255.

Chung, E.-H., da Cunha, L., Wu, A.-J., Gao, Z., Cherkis, K., Afzal, A.J., Mackey, D., and Dangl, J.L. (2011). Specific

threonine phosphorylation of a host target by two unrelated type III effectors activates a host innate immune receptor in plants. Cell Host Microbe **9**: 125–136.

- Clark, R.M. et al. (2007). Common Sequence Polymorphisms Shaping Genetic Diversity in Arabidopsis thaliana. Science (80-.). 317: 338–342.
- Cock, J.H. (1982). Cassava : A Basic Energy Source in the Tropics. Science (80-.). 218: 755–762.
- Cohn, M., Bart, R., Shybut, M., Dahlbeck, D., Gomez, M., Morbitzer, R., Hou, B.-H., Frommer, W., Lahaye, T., and Staskawicz, B. (2014). Xanthomonas axonopodis virulence is promoted by a transcription activator like (TAL) effector mediated induction of a SWEET sugar transporter in cassava. Mol. Plant. Microbe. Interact. 27: 1186–1198.
- **Cohn, M., Morbitzer, R., Lahaye, T., and Staskawicz, B.J.** (2016). Comparison of gene activation by two TAL effectors from Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis reveals candidate host susceptibility genes in cassava. Mol. Plant Pathol. **7**: 875–889.
- Coll, N.S., Epple, P., and Dangl, J.L. (2011). Programmed cell death in the plant immune system. Cell Death Differ.18: 1247–1256.
- **Coll, N.S., Vercammen, D., Smidler, A., Clover, C., Van Breusegem, F., Dangl, J.L., and Epple, P.** (2010). Arabidopsis type I metacaspases control cell death. Science **330**: 1393–1397.
- **Contreras, E. and López, C.E.** (2008). Expresión de dos genes candidatos a resistencia contra la bacteriosis vascular en yuca. Acta Biológica Colomb. **13**: 175–188.
- **Cosio, E.G., Pöpperl, H., Schmidt, W.E., and Ebel, J.** (1988). High-affinity binding of fungal beta-glucan fragments to soybean (Glycine max L.) microsomal fractions and protoplasts. Eur. J. Biochem. **175**: 309–15.
- Cui, H., Tsuda, K., and Parker, J.E. (2015). Effector-Triggered Immunity: From Pathogen Perception to Robust Defense. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 66: 487–511.
- Dangl, J.L., Horvath, D.M., and Staskawicz, B.J. (2013). Pivoting the Plant Immune System from Dissection to Deployment. Science (80-.). 341: 746–751.
- **Dangl, J.L. and Jones, J.D.G.** (2001). Plant pathogens and integrated defence responses to infection. Nature **411**: 826–833.
- **Dardick, C., Schwessinger, B., and Ronald, P.** (2012). Non-arginine-aspartate (non-RD) kinases are associated with innate immune receptors that recognize conserved microbial signatures. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. **15**:

358-366.

- Debieu, M., Huard-chauveau, C., Genissel, A., Roux, F., and Roby, D. (2016). Quantitative disease resistance to the bacterial pathogen Xanthomonas campestris involves an Arabidopsis immune receptor pair and a gene of unknown function. Mol. Plant Pathol. 17: 510–520.
- **Dellaporta, S.L., Wood, J., and Hicks, J.** (1983). A plant DNA minipreparation: version II. Plant Mol Biol Rep 1: 19–21.
- Deng, D., Yan, C., Pan, X., Mahfouz, M., Wang, J., Zhu, J.-K., Shi, Y., and Yan, N. (2012). Structural basis for sequence-specific recognition of DNA by TAL effectors. Science 335: 720–3.
- Deslandes, L., Olivier, J., Peeters, N., Feng, D.X., Khounlotham, M., Boucher, C., Somssich, I., Genin, S., and Marco, Y. (2003). Physical interaction between RRS1-R, a protein conferring resistance to bacterial wilt, and PopP2, a type III effector targeted to the plant nucleus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100: 8024–8029.
- **Deslandes, L. and Rivas, S.** (2012). Catch me if you can: bacterial effectors and plant targets. Trends Plant Sci. **17**: 644–655.
- **Develey-Rivière, M.P. and Galiana, E.** (2007). Resistance to pathogens and host developmental stage: A multifaceted relationship within the plant kingdom. New Phytol. **175**: 405–416.
- Dodds, P.N., Lawrence, G.J., Catanzariti, A.-M., Teh, T., Wang, C.-I. a, Ayliffe, M. a, Kobe, B., and Ellis, J.G. (2006). Direct protein interaction underlies gene-for-gene specificity and coevolution of the flax resistance genes and flax rust avirulence genes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103: 8888–8893.
- **Duxbury, Z., Ma, Y., Furzer, O.J., Huh, S.U., Cevik, V., Jones, J.D.G., and Sarris, P.F.** (2016). Pathogen perception by NLRs in plants and animals: Parallel worlds. Bioessays **38**.
- Edwards, G.E., Sheta, E., Moore, B.D., Dai, Z., Franceschi, V.R., Cheng, S.H., Lin, C.H., and Ku, M.S.B. (1990). Photosynthetic characteristics of cassava (Manihot esculenta Crantz), a C 3 species with chlorenchymatous bundle sheath cells. Plant Cell Physiol. **31**: 1199–1206.

El-Sharkawy, M. a (2004). Cassava biology and physiology. Plant Mol. Biol. 56: 481–501.

- **El-Sharkawy, M. a.** (2006). International research on cassava photosynthesis, productivity, eco-physiology, and responses to environmental stresses in the tropics. Photosynthetica **44**: 481–512.
- Elmore, J.M., Lin, Z.J.D., and Coaker, G. (2011). Plant NB-LRR signaling: Upstreams and downstreams. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 14: 365–371.

- Failla, M.L., Chitchumroonchokchai, C., Siritunga, D., De Moura, F.F., Fregene, M., Manary, M.J., and Sayre,
 R.T. (2012). Retention during processing and bioaccessibility of β-carotene in high β-carotene transgenic cassava root. J. Agric. Food Chem. 60: 3861–3866.
- FAO (2015). Food Outlook- Biannual Report on global Food Markets (Rome).
- FAO (2009). Global agriculture towards 2050.
- FAO (2013a). SAVE AND GROW-Cassava: a guide to sustainable production intensification (Roma).
- **FAO** (2013b). Save and Grow: Cassava. A Guide to Sustainable Production Intensification (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: Rome).
- Farnham, G. and Baulcombe, D.C. (2006). Artificial evolution extends the spectrum of viruses that are targeted by a disease-resistance gene from potato. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103: 18828–18833.
- Felix, G., Duran, J.D., Volko, S., and Boller, T. (1999). Plants have a sensitive perception system for the most conserved domain of bacterial flagellin. Plant J. 18: 265–276.
- Feng, F., Yang, F., Rong, W., Wu, X., Zhang, J., Chen, S., He, C., and Zhou, J.-M. (2012). A Xanthomonas uridine 5'monophosphate transferase inhibits plant immune kinases. Nature 485: 114–118.
- Feuillet, C., Travella, S., Stein, N., and Albar, L. (2003). Map-based isolation of the leaf rust disease resistance gene Lr10 from the hexaploid wheat (Triticum aestivum L .) genome. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 100: 15253– 15258.
- Flor, H.H. (1971). Current status of the gene-for-gene concept. Annu Rev Phytopathol 9: 275–296.
- Foster, S.J., Park, T.-H., Pel, M., Brigneti, G., Śliwka, J., Jagger, L., van der Vossen, E., and Jones, J.D.G. (2009). Rpi-vnt1.1, a Tm-22 Homolog from Solanum venturii, Confers Resistance to Potato Late Blight. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 22: 589–600.
- Fradin, E.F., Abd-El-Haliem, A., Masini, L., van den Berg, G.C.M., Joosten, M.H.A.J., and Thomma, B.P.H.J. (2011). Interfamily Transfer of Tomato Ve1 Mediates Verticillium Resistance in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol. 156: 2255–2265.
- Fregene, M., Angel, F., Gomez, R., Rodriguez, F., Chavarriaga, P., Roca, W., Tohme, J., and Bonierbale, M. (1997). A molecular genetic map of cassava (Manihot esculenta Crantz). TAG Theor. Appl. Genet. 95: 431– 441.

- Fregene, M. and Puonti-Kaerlas, J. (2002). Cassava biotechnology. In Cassava: Biology, Production and Utilization.
- Fregene, M. and Puounti-Kaerlas, J. (2002). Cassava Biotechnology. In Cassava: biology, production and utilization, R.J. Hillocks, J.M. Thresh, and A. Bellotti, eds (CABI Publishing: New York), pp. 179–207.
- French, E., Kim, B., and Iyer-pascuzzi, A.S. (2016). Mechanisms of quantitative disease resistance in plants. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 56: 201–208.
- Fu, D., Uauy, C., Distelfeld, A., Blechl, A., Epstein, L., Chen, X., Sela, H., Fahima, T., and Dubcovsky, J. (2009). A Kinase-START Gene Confers Temperature-Dependent Resistance to Wheat Stripe Rust. Science (80-.). 323: 1357–1360.
- Fukuoka, S. et al. (2014). Multiple functional polymorphisms in a single disease resistance gene in rice enhance durable resistance to blast. Sci. Rep. 4: 1–7.
- Fukuoka, S., Saka, N., Mizukami, Y., Koga, H., Yamanouchi, U., Yoshioka, Y., Hayashi, N., Ebana, K., Mizobuchi, R., and Yano, M. (2015). Gene pyramiding enhances durable blast disease resistance in rice. Sci. Rep. 5: 1–7.
- Gabriëls, S.H.E.J., Vossen, J.H., Ekengren, S.K., Ooijen, G. Van, Abd-El-Haliem, A.M., Berg, G.C.M. Van Den, Rainey, D.Y., Martin, G.B., Takken, F.L.W., Wit, P.J.G.M. De, and Joosten, M.H. a J. (2007). An NB-LRR protein required for HR signalling mediated by both extra- and intracellular resistance proteins. Plant J. 50: 14–28.
- Gao, Z., Chung, E.-H., Eitas, T.K., and Dangl, J.L. (2011). Plant intracellular innate immune receptor Resistance to Pseudomonas syringae pv. maculicola 1 (RPM1) is activated at, and functions on, the plasma membrane. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 108: 7619–7624.
- **Gassmann, W.** (2005). Natural variation in the Arabidopsis response to the avirulence gene hopPsyA uncouples the hypersensitive response from disease resistance. Mol. Plant. Microbe. Interact. **18**: 1054–1060.
- Gedil, M., Kumar, M., and Igwe, D. (2012). Isolation and characterization of resistant gene analogs in cassava , wild Manihot species , and castor bean (Ricinus communis). African J. Biotechnol. 11: 15111–15123.
- Gibbons, A. (1990). New View of Early Amazonia. Science (80-.). 248: 1488-1490.
- Gloggnitzer, J., Akimcheva, S., Srinivasan, A., Kusenda, B., Riehs, N., Stampfl, H., Bautor, J., Dekrout, B., Jonak, C., Jiménez-Gómez, J.M., Parker, J.E., and Riha, K. (2014). Nonsense-mediated mRNA decay modulates immune receptor levels to regulate plant antibacterial defense. Cell Host Microbe 16: 376–390.

- Godfray, H.C.J., Beddington, J.R., Crute, I.R., Haddad, L., Lawrence, D., Muir, J.F., Pretty, J., Robinson, S., Thomas, S.M., and Toulmin, C. (2010). Food security: The Challenge of Feeding 9 Billion People. Science (80-.). 327: 812–817.
- Godfrey, D. and Rathjen, J. (2012). Recognition and Response in Plant PAMP-Triggered Immunity. eLS: 1-8.
- Goggin, F.L., Jia, L., Shah, G., Hebert, S., Williamson, V.M., and Ullman, D.E. (2006). Heterologous expression of the Mi-1.2 gene from tomato confers resistance against nematodes but not aphids in eggplant. Mol. Plant. Microbe. Interact. 19: 383–388.
- **Gómez-Gómez, L. and Boller, T.** (2000). FLS2: an LRR receptor-like kinase involved in the perception of the bacterial elicitor flagellin in Arabidopsis. Mol. Cell **5**: 1003–1011.
- **Griebel, T., Maekawa, T., and Parker, J.E.** (2014). NOD-like receptor cooperativity in effector-triggered immunity. Trends Immunol. **35**: 562–570.
- Gu, K., Yang, B., Tian, D., Wu, L., Wang, D., Sreekala, C., Yang, F., Chu, Z., Wang, G.-L., White, F.F., and Yin, Z. (2005). R gene expression induced by a type-III effector triggers disease resistance in rice. Nature 435: 1122–1125.
- Guo, Y.-L., Fitz, J., Schneeberger, K., Ossowski, S., Cao, J., and Weigel, D. (2011). Genome-Wide Comparison of Nucleotide-Binding Site-Leucine-Rich Repeat-Encoding Genes in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol. 157: 757–769.
- **Gupta, S.K., Rai, A.K., Kanwar, S.S., Chand, D., Singh, N.K., and Sharma, T.R.** (2012). The single functional blast resistance gene Pi54 activates a complex defence mechanism in rice. J. Exp. Bot. **63**: 757–772.
- Hahn, M.G., Darvill, A., and Albersheim, P. (1981). Host-pathogen interactions: XIX. The endogenous elicitor, a fragment of a plant cell wall polysaccharide that elicits phytoalexin accumulation in soybeans. Plant Physiol. 68: 1161–1169.
- Hahn, S.K., Bai, K. V, and Asiedu, R. (1990). Tetraploids, triploids, and 2n pollen from diploid interspecific crosses with cassava. Theor. Appl. Genet. 79: 433–439.
- Hahn, S.K., Howland, A.K., and Terry, E.R. (1980). Correlated resistance of cassava to mosaic and bacterial blight diseases. Euphytica **29**: 305–311.
- Hahn, S.K., Terry, E.R., Leuschner, K., Akobundu, I.O., Okali, C., and Lal, R. (1979). Cassava improvement in Africa. F. Crop. Res. 2: 193–226.
- Hajri, A., Brin, C., Hunault, G., Lardeux, F., Lemaire, C., Manceau, C., Boureau, T., and Poussier, S. (2009). A

- Halterman, D. a (2003). Powdery Mildew-Induced Mla mRNAs Are Alternatively Spliced and Contain Multiple Upstream Open Reading Frames. Plant Physiol. 131: 558–567.
- Heath, M.C. (2000). Hypersensitive response-related death. Plant Mol. Biol. 44: 321–334.
- Heidrich, K., Wirthmueller, L., Tasset, C., Pouzet, C., Deslandes, L., and Parker, J.E. (2011). Arabidopsis EDS1 Connects Pathogen Effector Recognition to Cell Compartment-Specific Immune Responses. Science (80-.). 334: 1401–1404.
- Henry, G. and Hershey, C. (2002). Cassava in South America and the Caribbean. In Cassava: Biology, Production and Utilization, R.J. Hillocks, J.M. Thresh, and A.C. Bellotti, eds (CABI: New York), pp. 17–40.
- Hillocks, R.J. and Wydra, K. (2002). Bacterial, Fungal and Nematode Diseases. In Cassava: Biology, Production and Utilization, R.J. Hillocks, J.M. Thresh, and A. Bellotti, eds (CABI Publishing: New York), pp. 261–280.
- Holton, N., Nekrasov, V., Ronald, P.C., and Zipfel, C. (2015). The Phylogenetically-Related Pattern Recognition Receptors EFR and XA21 Recruit Similar Immune Signaling Components in Monocots and Dicots. PLOS Pathog. 11: e1004602.
- van der Hoorn, R.A.L. and Kamoun, S. (2008). From Guard to Decoy: A New Model for Perception of Plant Pathogen Effectors. Plant Cell Online 20: 2009–2017.
- Horvath, D.M., Stall, R.E., Jones, J.B., Pauly, M.H., Vallad, G.E., Dahlbeck, D., Staskawicz, B.J., and Scott, J.W. (2012). Transgenic resistance confers effective field level control of bacterial spot disease in tomato. PLoS One 7: e42036.
- Horvath, D.P., Santana, M.A., and Anderson, J. V. (2013). Microarray Analysis of the Semicompatible, Pathogenic Response and Recovery of Leafy Spurge (Euphorbia esula) Inoculated with the Cassava Bacterial Blight Pathogen Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis. Weed Sci. 61: 428–436.
- Howeler, R. (2002). Cassava Mineral Nutrition and Fertilization. In Cassava: Biology, Production and Utilization, R.J. Hillocks, J.M. Thresh, and A. Bellotti, eds (CABI Publishing: New York).
- Howles, P., Lawrence, G., Finnegan, J., Mcfadden, H., Ayliffe, M., and Dodds, P. (2005). Autoactive Alleles of the Flax L6 Rust Resistance Gene Induce Non-Race-Specific Rust Resistance Associated with the Hypersensitive Response. MPMI 18: 570–582.

- Hu, Y., Zhang, J., Jia, H., Sosso, D., Li, T., Frommer, W.B., Yang, B., White, F.F., Wang, N., and Jones, J.B. (2014). Lateral organ boundaries 1 is a disease susceptibility gene for citrus bacterial canker disease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 111: E521–9.
- Hu, Z. et al. (2013). Crystal Structure of NLRC4 Reveals Its Autoinhibition Mechanism. Science (80-.). 341: 172– 175.
- Huard-Chauveau, C., Perchepied, L., Debieu, M., Rivas, S., Kroj, T., Kars, I., Bergelson, J., Roux, F., and Roby,
 D. (2013). An Atypical Kinase under Balancing Selection Confers Broad-Spectrum Disease Resistance in Arabidopsis. PLoS Genet. 9.
- Hummel, A.W., Doyle, E.L., and Bogdanove, A.J. (2012a). Addition of transcription activator-like effector binding sites to a pathogen strain-specific rice bacterial blight resistance gene makes it effective against additional strains and against bacterial leaf streak. New Phytol. **195**: 883–893.
- Hummel, A.W., Doyle, E.L., and Bogdanove, A.J. (2012b). Addition of transcription activator-like effector binding sites to a pathogen strain-specific rice bacterial blight resistance gene makes it effective against additional strains and against bacterial leaf streak. New Phytol. **195**: 883–893.
- Hurni, S., Scheuermann, D., Krattinger, S.G., Kessel, B., Wicker, T., Herren, G., Fitze, M.N., Breen, J., Presterl, T., Ouzunova, M., and Keller, B. (2015). The maize disease resistance gene Htn1 against northern corn leaf blight encodes a wall-associated receptor-like kinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112: 8780–8785.
- Hutin, M., Pérez-Quintero, A.L., Lopez, C., and Szurek, B. (2015a). MorTAL Kombat: the story of defense against TAL effectors through loss-of-susceptibility. Front. Plant Sci. 6.
- Hutin, M., Sabot, F., Ghesquière, A., Koebnik, R., and Szurek, B. (2015b). A knowledge-based molecular screen uncovers a broad spectrum *OsSWEET14* resistance allele to bacterial blight from wild rice. Plant J.: n/a–n/a.
- Jacob, F., Vernaldi, S., and Maekawa, T. (2013). Evolution and Conservation of Plant NLR Functions. Front. Immunol. 4: 297.
- Janeway, C.A. (1989). Approaching the asymptote? Evolution and revolution in immunology. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. **54**: 1–13.
- Jarvis, A., Ramirez-Villegas, J., Campo, B.V.H., and Navarro-Racines, C. (2012). Is Cassava the Answer to African Climate Change Adaptation? Trop. Plant Biol. 5: 9–29.
- Jennings, D. and Iglesias, C. (2002). Breeding for crop improvement. In Cassava: Biology, Production and Utilization, R.J. Hillocks, J.M. Thresh, and A. Bellotti, eds (CABI Publishing: New York).

- Jia, Y., McAdams, S.A., Bryan, G.T., Hershey, H.P., and Valent, B. (2000). Direct interaction of resistance gene and avirulence gene products confers rice blast resistance. EMBO J. **19**: 4004–4014.
- Jones, J.D.G. and Dangl, J.L. (2006). The plant immune system. Nature 444: 323-329.
- Jorge, V., Fregene, M. a., Duque, M.C., Bonierbale, M.W., Tohme, J., and Verdier, V. (2000). Genetic mapping of resistance to bacterial blight disease in cassava (Manihot esculenta Crantz). TAG Theor. Appl. Genet. **101**: 865–872.
- Jorge, V., Fregene, M., Velez, C.M., Duque, M.C., Tohme, J., and Verdier, V. (2001). QTL analysis of field resistance to Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis in cassava. Theor. Appl. Genet. **102**: 564–571.
- Juillerat, A., Bertonati, C., Dubois, G., Guyot, V., Thomas, S., Valton, J., Beurdeley, M., Silva, G.H., Daboussi, F., and Duchateau, P. (2014). BurrH: a new modular DNA binding protein for genome engineering. Sci. Rep. 4: 3831.
- Kadota, Y., Sklenar, J., Derbyshire, P., Stransfeld, L., Asai, S., Ntoukakis, V., Jones, J.D., Shirasu, K., Menke, F., Jones, A., and Zipfel, C. (2014). Direct Regulation of the NADPH Oxidase RBOHD by the PRR-Associated Kinase BIK1 during Plant Immunity. Mol. Cell 54: 43–55.
- Kaku, H., Nishizawa, Y., Ishii-Minami, N., Akimoto-Tomiyama, C., Dohmae, N., Takio, K., Minami, E., and Shibuya, N. (2006). Plant cells recognize chitin fragments for defense signaling through a plasma membrane receptor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103: 11086–11091.
- Kamoun, S. (2006). A Catalogue of the Effector Secretome of Plant Pathogenic Oomycetes. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 44: 41–60.
- Kanzaki, H., Yoshida, K., Saitoh, H., Fujisaki, K., Hirabuchi, A., Alaux, L., Fournier, E., Tharreau, D., and Terauchi, R. (2012). Arms race co-evolution of *Magnaporthe oryzae AVR-Pik* and rice *Pik* genes driven by their physical interactions. Plant J.: n/a-n/a.
- Karasov, T.L., Horton, M.W., and Bergelson, J. (2014). Genomic variability as a driver of plant-pathogen coevolution? Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 18: 24–30.
- Kawano, Y. and Shimamoto, K. (2013). Early signaling network in rice PRR-mediated and R-mediated immunity. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 16: 496–504.
- Kay, S., Boch, J., and Bonas, U. (2005). Characterization of AvrBs3-Like Effectors from a a Brassicaceae Pathogen Reveals Virulence and Avirulence Activities and a Protein with a Novel Repeat Architecture. MPMI 18: 838– 848.

- **Kearney, B. and Staskawicz, B.J.** (1990). Widespread distribution and fitness contribution of Xanthomonas campestris avirulence gene avrBs2. Nature **346**: 385–386.
- Keen, N.T. (1975). Specific Elicitors of Plant Phytoalexin Production: Determinants of Race Specificity in Pathogens? Science (80-.). 187: 74–75.
- Khan, M., Subramaniam, R., and Desveaux, D. (2016). Of guards, decoys, baits and traps: Pathogen perception in plants by type III effector sensors. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 29: 49–55.
- Kim, M.G., da Cunha, L., McFall, A.J., Belkhadir, Y., DebRoy, S., Dangl, J.L., and Mackey, D. (2005). Two Pseudomonas syringae Type III Effectors Inhibit RIN4-Regulated Basal Defense in Arabidopsis. Cell 121: 749–759.
- Kobe, B. (2001). The leucine-rich repeat as a protein recognition motif. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 11: 725–732.
- Kou, Y. and Wang, S. (2010). Broad-spectrum and durability: understanding of quantitative disease resistance. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 13: 181–185.
- Kpemoua, K., Boher, B., Nicole, M., Calatayud, P., and Geiger, J. (1996). Cytochemistry of defense responses in cassava infected. Can. J. Microbiol. 1143: 1131–1143.
- Kramer, L.C., Choudoir, M.J., Wielgus, S.M., Bhaskar, P.B., and Jiang, J. (2009). Correlation between transcript abundance of the RB gene and the level of the RB-mediated late blight resistance in potato. Mol. Plant. Microbe. Interact. 22: 447–455.
- De La Fuente Van Bentem, S., Vossen, J.H., De Vries, K.J., Van Wees, S., Tameling, W.I.L., Dekker, H.L., De Koster, C.G., Haring, M. a., Takken, F.L.W., and Cornelissen, B.J.C. (2005). Heat shock protein 90 and its co-chaperone protein phosphatase 5 interact with distinct regions of the tomato I-2 disease resistance protein. Plant J. 43: 284–298.
- Lacombe, S., Rougon-Cardoso, A., Sherwood, E., Peeters, N., Dahlbeck, D., van Esse, H.P., Smoker, M., Rallapalli, G., Thomma, B.P.H.J., Staskawicz, B., Jones, J.D.G., and Zipfel, C. (2010). Interfamily transfer of a plant pattern-recognition receptor confers broad-spectrum bacterial resistance. Nat. Biotechnol. 28: 365–369.
- **de Lange, O., Binder, A., and Lahaye, T.** (2014). From dead leaf, to new life: TAL effectors as tools for synthetic biology. Plant J. **78**: 753–771.
- de Lange, O., Schreiber, T., Schandry, N., Radeck, J., Braun, K.H., Koszinowski, J., Heuer, H., Strauß, A., and Lahaye, T. (2013). Breaking the DNA-binding code of Ralstonia solanacearum TAL effectors provides new

possibilities to generate plant resistance genes against bacterial wilt disease. New Phytol. 199: 773-786.

- Lawrence, G.J., Finnegan, E.J., Ayliffe, M.A., and Ellis, J.G. (1995). The L6 gene for flax rust resistance is related to the Arabidopsis bacterial resistance gene RPS2 and the tobacco viral resistance gene N. Plant Cell 7: 1195–1206.
- Leal, L.G., Perez, Á., Quintero, A., Bayona, Á., Ortiz, J.F., Gangadharan, A., Mackey, D., López, C., and López-Kleine, L. (2013). Identification of Immunity-related Genes in Arabidopsis and Cassava Using Genomic Data. Genomics, Proteomics Bioinforma. 11: 345–353.
- Lee, A.H.Y., Middleton, M.A., Guttman, D.S., and Desveaux, D. (2013). Phytopathogen type III effectors as probes of biological systems. Microb. Biotechnol. 6: 230–240.
- Leipe, D.D., Koonin, E. V, and Aravind, L. (2004). STAND, a class of P-loop NTPases including animal and plant regulators of programmed cell death: multiple, complex domain architectures, unusual phyletic patterns, and evolution by horizontal gene transfer. J. Mol. Biol. 343: 1–28.
- Levy, M., Edelbaum, O., and Sela, I. (2004). Tobacco Mosaic Virus Regulates the Expression of Its Own Resistance Gene N 1. Plant Physiol. 135: 2392–2397.
- Li, B., Meng, X., Shan, L., and He, P. (2016). Transcriptional Regulation of Pattern-Triggered Immunity in Plants. Cell Host Microbe 19: 641–650.
- Li, F., Pignatta, D., Bendix, C., Brunkard, J.O., Cohn, M.M., Tung, J., and Sun, H. (2012a). MicroRNA regulation of plant innate immune receptors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 109: 1790–1795.
- Li, H.Q., Sautter, C., Potrykus, I., and Puonti-Kaerlas, J. (1996). Genetic transformation of cassava (Manihot esculenta Crantz). Nat. Biotechnol. 14: 303–308.
- Li, L., Li, M., Yu, L., Zhou, Z., Liang, X., Liu, Z., Cai, G., Gao, L., Zhang, X., Wang, Y., Chen, S., and Zhou, J.-M. (2014). The FLS2-Associated Kinase BIK1 Directly Phosphorylates the NADPH Oxidase RbohD to Control Plant Immunity. Cell Host Microbe 15: 329–338.
- Li, S., Wang, Y., Wang, S., Fang, A., Wang, J., Liu, L., Zhang, K., Mao, Y., and Sun, W. (2015). The Type III Effector AvrBs2 in Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzicola Suppresses Rice Immunity and Promotes Disease Development. MPMI 28: 869–880.
- Li, T., Liu, B., Spalding, M.H., Weeks, D.P., and Yang, B. (2012b). High-efficiency TALEN-based gene editing produces disease-resistant rice. Nat. Biotechnol. 30: 390–392.

- Liebrand, T.W.H. et al. (2013). Receptor-like kinase SOBIR1/EVR interacts with receptor-like proteins in plant immunity against fungal infection. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **110**: 10010–5.
- Lindeberg, M., Cunnac, S., and Collmer, A. (2012). Pseudomonas syringae type III effector repertoires: last words in endless arguments. Trends Microbiol. 20: 199–208.
- Liu, B. et al. (2012a). Lysin Motif-Containing Proteins LYP4 and LYP6 Play Dual Roles in Peptidoglycan and Chitin Perception in Rice Innate Immunity. Plant Cell **24**: 3406–3419.
- Liu, J., Elmore, J.M., Fuglsang, A.T., Palmgren, M.G., Staskawicz, B.J., and Coaker, G. (2009). RIN4 Functions with Plasma Membrane H+-ATPases to Regulate Stomatal Apertures during Pathogen Attack. PLoS Biol. 7: e1000139.
- Liu, Q., Yuan, M., Zhou, Y.A.N., Li, X., Xiao, J., and Wang, S. (2011). A paralog of the MtN3 / saliva family recessively confers race-specific resistance to Xanthomonas oryzae in rice. Plant, Cell Environ. 34: 1958– 1969.
- Liu, T., Liu, Z., Song, C., Hu, Y., Han, Z., She, J., Fan, F., Wang, J., Jin, C., Chang, J., Zhou, J.-M., and Chai, J. (2012b). Chitin-Induced Dimerization Activates a Plant Immune Receptor. Science (80-.). **336**: 1160–1164.
- Livak, K.J. and Schmittgen, T.D. (2001). Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. Methods 25: 402–8.
- Loon, L.C. Van, Rep, M., and Pieterse, C.M.J. (2006). Significance of Inducible Defense-related Proteins in Infected Plants. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 44: 135–162.
- Lopez, C., Soto, M., Restrepo, S., Piégu, B., Cooke, R., Delseny, M., Tohme, J., and Verdier, V. (2005). Gene expression profile in response to Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis infection in cassava using a cDNA microarray. Plant Mol. Biol. 57: 393–410.
- Lopez, C.E., Acosta, I.F., Jara, C., Pedraza, F., Gaitán-Solís, E., Gallego, G., Beebe, S., and Tohme, J. (2003). Identifying resistance gene analogs associated with resistances to different pathogens in common bean. Phytopathology 93: 88–95.
- López, C.E. and Bernal, A.J. (2012). Cassava Bacterial Blight: Using Genomics for the Elucidation and Management of an Old Problem. Trop. Plant Biol. 5: 117–126.
- López, C.E., Quesada-Ocampo, L.M., Bohórquez, A., Duque, M.C., Vargas, J., Tohme, J., and Verdier, V. (2007). Mapping EST-derived SSRs and ESTs involved in resistance to bacterial blight in Manihot esculenta. Genome 50: 1078–1088.

López, C.E., Zuluaga, a P., Cooke, R., Delseny, M., Tohme, J., and Verdier, V. (2003). Isolation of Resistance Gene Candidates (RGCs) and characterization of an RGC cluster in cassava. Mol. Genet. Genomics 269: 658– 71.

Lozano, J. (1986). Cassava Bacterial Blight: a Manageable Disease. Plant Dis. 70: 1089–1093.

Lozano, J. and Sequeira, L. (1974). Bacterial blight of cassava in Colombia: Etiology. Phytopathology 64: 74-82.

Lozano, J.C. (1975). Bacterial Blight of Cassava. Trop. Pest Manag. 21: 37-41.

- Lozano, R., Hamblin, M.T., Prochnik, S., and Jannink, J.-L. (2015). Identification and distribution of the NBS-LRR gene family in the Cassava genome. BMC Genomics 16: 360.
- Lukasik-Shreepaathy, E., Vossen, J.H., Tameling, W.I.L., De Vroomen, M.J., Cornelissen, B.J.C., and Takken, F.L.W. (2012). Protein-protein interactions as a proxy to monitor conformational changes and activation states of the tomato resistance protein I-2. J. Exp. Bot. 63: 3047–3060.
- Lukasik, E. and Takken, F.L. (2009). STANDing strong, resistance proteins instigators of plant defence. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. **12**: 427–436.
- Macho, A.P. and Zipfel, C. (2014). Plant PRRs and the Activation of Innate Immune Signaling. Mol Cell 54: 263–272.
- Mackey, D., Belkhadir, Y., Alonso, J.M., Ecker, J.R., and Dangl, J.L. (2003). Arabidopsis RIN4 Is a Target of the Type III Virulence Effector AvrRpt2 and Modulates RPS2-Mediated Resistance. Cell **112**: 379–389.
- Maekawa, T. et al. (2011a). Coiled-Coil Domain-Dependent Homodimerization of Intracellular Barley Immune Receptors Defines a Minimal Functional Module for Triggering Cell Death. Cell Host Microbe 9: 187–199.
- Maekawa, T., Kracher, B., Vernaldi, S., Ver Loren van Themaat, E., and Schulze-Lefert, P. (2012). Conservation of NLR-triggered immunity across plant lineages. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **109**: 20119–23.
- Maekawa, T., Kufer, T.A., and Schulze-Lefert, P. (2011b). NLR functions in plant and animal immune systems: so far and yet so close. Nat. Immunol. 12: 817–826.
- Magoon, M.. L., Krishnan, R., and Bai, K. V. (1969). Morphology of the Pachytene Chromosomes Meiosis in Manihot esculenta Crantz. Cytologia (Tokyo). 34: 612–626.
- Mak, A.N.-S., Bradley, P., Bogdanove, A.J., and Stoddard, B.L. (2013). TAL effectors: function, structure, engineering and applications. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 23: 93–99.

- Mak, A.N.-S., Bradley, P., Cernadas, R.A., Bogdanove, A.J., and Stoddard, B.L. (2012). The Crystal Structure of TAL Effector PthXo1 Bound to Its DNA Target. Science (80-.). **335**: 716–719.
- **Mansfield, J. et al.** (2012). Top 10 plant pathogenic bacteria in molecular plant pathology. Mol. Plant Pathol. **13**: 614–629.
- Maraite, H. and Meyer, J.A. (1975). Xanthomonas manihotis (Arthaud-Berthet) Starr, causal agent of bacterial wilt, blight and leaf spots of cassava in Zaire. PANS **21**: 27–36.
- Marone, D., Russo, M., Laidò, G., De Leonardis, A., and Mastrangelo, A. (2013). Plant Nucleotide Binding Site– Leucine-Rich Repeat (NBS-LRR) Genes: Active Guardians in Host Defense Responses. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 14: 7302–7326.
- Martin, G., Brommonschenkel, S.H., Chunwongse, J., Frary, A., Ganal, M.W., Spivey, R., Wu, T., Earle, E.D., and Tanksley, S.D. (1993). Map-based cloning of a protein kinase gene conferring disease resistance in tomato. Science (80-.). 262: 1432–1436.
- Mazzucotelli, E., Belloni, S., Marone, D., Leonardis, A.M. De, Guerra, D., Fonzo, N. Di, Cattivelli, L., and Mastrangelo, A.M. (2006). The E3 Ubiquitin Ligase Gene Family in Plants: Regulation by Degradation. Curr. Genomics 7: 509–522.
- Medzhitov, R. and Janeway, C.A.J. (1997). Innate immunity: Minireview the virtues of a nonclonal system of recognition. Cell **91**: 295–298.
- Meier, I. and Somers, D.E. (2011). Regulation of nucleocytoplasmic trafficking in plants. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 14: 538–546.
- Mendes, B.M.J., Cardoso, S.C., Boscariol-Camargo, R.L., Cruz, R.B., Mourão Filho, F. a a, and Bergamin Filho,
 a. (2010). Reduction in susceptibility to Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. citri in transgenic Citrus sinensis expressing the rice Xa21 gene. Plant Pathol. 59: 68–75.
- Meng, X. and Zhang, S. (2013). MAPK Cascades in Plant Disease Resistance Signaling. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol 51: 245–266.
- **Mestre, P.** (2006). Elicitor-Mediated Oligomerization of the Tobacco N Disease Resistance Protein. Plant Cell Online **18**: 491–501.
- Meyers, B.C., Dickerman, A.W., Michelmore, R.W., Sivaramakrishnan, S., Sobral, B.W., and Young, N.D. (1999). Plant disease resistance genes encode members of an ancient and diverse protein family within the nucleotide-binding superfamily. Plant J. 20: 317–332.

- Meyers, B.C., Kaushik, S., and Nandety, R.S. (2005). Evolving disease resistance genes. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 8: 129–134.
- Meyers, B.C., Kozik, A., Griego, A., Kuang, H., and Michelmore, R.W. (2003). Genome-Wide Analysis of NBS-LRR – Encoding Genes in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell 15: 809–834.
- Michelmore, R.W., Christopoulou, M., and Caldwell, K.S. (2013). Impacts of Resistance Gene Genetics, Function, and Evolution on a Durable Future. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 51: 291–319.
- Miya, A., Albert, P., Shinya, T., Desaki, Y., Ichimura, K., Shirasu, K., Narusaka, Y., Kawakami, N., Kaku, H., and Shibuya, N. (2007). CERK1, a LysM receptor kinase, is essential for chitin elicitor signaling in Arabidopsis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104: 19613–8.
- Mohr, T.J., Mammarella, N.D., Hoff, T., Woffenden, B.J., Jelesko, J.G., and McDowell, J.M. (2010). The Arabidopsis downy mildew resistance gene RPP8 is induced by pathogens and salicylic acid and is regulated by W box cis elements. Mol. Plant. Microbe. Interact. 23: 1303–15.
- Moreno, I., Gruissem, W., and Vanderschuren, H. (2011). Reference genes for reliable potyvirus quantitation in cassava and analysis of Cassava brown streak virus load in host varieties. J. Virol. Methods 177: 49–54.
- Moscou, M.J. and Bogdanove, A.J. (2009). A Simple Cipher Governs DNA Recognition by TAL Effectors. Science (80-.). 326: 1501–1501.
- Mueller, K., Bittel, P., Chinchilla, D., Jehle, a. K., Albert, M., Boller, T., and Felix, G. (2012). Chimeric FLS2 Receptors Reveal the Basis for Differential Flagellin Perception in Arabidopsis and Tomato. Plant Cell 24: 2213–2224.
- **Mukhtar, M.S.** (2013). Engineering NLR immune receptors for broad-spectrum disease resistance. Trends Plant Sci. **18**: 469–472.
- Mukhtar, M.S. et al. (2011). Independently Evolved Virulence Effectors Converge onto Hubs in a Plant Immune System Network. Science (80-.). **333**: 596–601.
- Muñoz-Bodnar, A., Perez-Quintero, A.L., Gomez-Cano, F., Gil, J., Michelmore, R., Bernal, A., Szurek, B., and Lopez, C. (2014). RNAseq analysis of cassava reveals similar plant responses upon infection with pathogenic and non-pathogenic strains of Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis. Plant Cell Rep. 33: 1901–1912.
- Narusaka, M., Hatakeyama, K., Shirasu, K., and Narusaka, Y. (2014). Arabidopsis dual resistance proteins, both RPS4 and RRS1, are required for resistance to bacterial wilt in transgenic Brassica crops. Plant Signal.

Behav. 9: e29130.

- Narusaka, M., Kubo, Y., Hatakeyama, K., Imamura, J., Ezura, H., Nanasato, Y., Tabei, Y., Takano, Y., Shirasu,
 K., and Narusaka, Y. (2013). Interfamily Transfer of Dual NB-LRR Genes Confers Resistance to Multiple
 Pathogens. PLoS One 8: 6–13.
- Narusaka, M., Shirasu, K., Noutoshi, Y., Kubo, Y., Shiraishi, T., Iwabuchi, M., and Narusaka, Y. (2009). RRS1 and RPS4 provide a dual Resistance-gene system against fungal and bacterial pathogens. Plant J. **60**: 218– 226.
- Nassar, N. and Ortiz, R. (2008). Cassava Genetic Resources : Manipulation for Crop Improvement. In Plant Breeding Reviews, Jules Janick, ed (John Wiley & Sons, Inc), pp. 247–275.
- Newman, M.-A., Sundelin, T., Nielsen, J.T., and Erbs, G. (2013). MAMP (microbe-associated molecular pattern) triggered immunity in plants. Front. Plant Sci. 4: 139.
- Nguyen, T.T.T., Koizumi, S., La, T.N., Zenbayashi, K.S., Ashizawa, T., Yasuda, N., Imazaki, I., and Miyasaka, A. (2006). Pi35(t), a new gene conferring partial resistance to leaf blast in the rice cultivar Hokkai 188. Theor. Appl. Genet. **113**: 697–704.
- Niks, R.E., Qi, X., and Marcel, T.C. (2015). Quantitative Resistance to Biotrophic Filamentous Plant Pathogens: Concepts, Misconceptions, and Mechanisms. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 53: 150605182533006.
- Nürnberger, T. and Brunner, F. (2002). Innate immunity in plants and animals: Emerging parallels between the recognition of general elicitors and pathogen-associated molecular patterns. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 5: 318–324.
- **Oldroyd, G.E.D. and Staskawicz, B.J.** (1998). Genetically engineered broad-spectrum disease resistance. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **95**: 10300–10305.
- **Olsen, K.M. and Schaal, B. a** (1999). Evidence on the origin of cassava: phylogeography of Manihot esculenta. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **96**: 5586–5591.
- Van Ooijen, G., Lukasik, E., Van Den Burg, H.A., Vossen, J.H., Cornelissen, B.J.C., and Takken, F.L.W. (2010). The small heat shock protein 20 RSI2 interacts with and is required for stability and function of tomato resistance protein I-2. Plant J. 63: 563–572.
- van Ooijen, G., Mayr, G., Kasiem, M.M.A., Albrecht, M., Cornelissen, B.J.C., and Takken, F.L.W. (2008a). Structure-function analysis of the NB-ARC domain of plant disease resistance proteins. J Exp Bot 59: 1383– 1397.

- van Ooijen, G., Mayr, G., Kasiem, M.M.A., Albrecht, M., Cornelissen, B.J.C., and Takken, F.L.W. (2008b). Structure-function analysis of the NB-ARC domain of plant disease resistance proteins. J Exp Bot 59: 1383– 1397.
- Petutschnig, E.K., Jones, A.M.E., Serazetdinova, L., Lipka, U., and Lipka, V. (2010). The Lysin Motif Receptorlike Kinase (LysM-RLK) CERK1 Is a Major Chitin-binding Protein in Arabidopsis thaliana and Subject to Chitin-induced Phosphorylation. J. Biol. Chem. 285: 28902–28911.
- Poland, J.A., Balint-Kurti, P.J., Wisser, R.J., Pratt, R.C., and Nelson, R.J. (2009). Shades of gray: the world of quantitative disease resistance. Trends Plant Sci. 14: 21–29.
- Porter, B.W., Paidi, M., Ming, R., Alam, M., Nishijima, W.T., and Zhu, Y.J. (2009). Genome-wide analysis of Carica papaya reveals a small NBS resistance gene family. Mol. Genet. Genomics 281: 609–626.
- Pruitt, R.N. et al. (2015). The rice immune receptor XA21 recognizes a tyrosine-sulfated protein from a Gramnegative bacterium. Sci. Adv. 1: e1500245.
- Qi, D., DeYoung, B.J., and Innes, R.W. (2012). Structure-function analysis of the coiled-coil and leucine-rich repeat domains of the RPS5 disease resistance protein. Plant Physiol. 158: 1819–32.
- Qi, D. and Innes, R.W. (2013). Recent Advances in Plant NLR Structure, Function, Localization, and Signaling. Front. Immunol. 4: 1–10.
- Rabbi, I.Y., Kulembeka, H.P., Masumba, E., Marri, P.R., and Ferguson, M. (2012). An EST-derived SNP and SSR genetic linkage map of cassava (Manihot esculenta Crantz). Theor. Appl. Genet. 125: 329–42.
- Rairdan, G.J., Collier, S.M., Sacco, M. a, Baldwin, T.T., Boettrich, T., and Moffett, P. (2008). The coiled-coil and nucleotide binding domains of the Potato Rx disease resistance protein function in pathogen recognition and signaling. Plant Cell 20: 739–751.
- Rairdan, G.J. and Moffett, P. (2006). Distinct Domains in the ARC Region of the Potato Resistance Protein Rx Mediate LRR Binding and Inhibition of Activation. 18: 2082–2093.
- Ranf, S., Gisch, N., Schäffer, M., Illig, T., Westphal, L., Knirel, Y.A., Sánchez-Carballo, P.M., Zähringer, U., Hückelhoven, R., Lee, J., and Scheel, D. (2015). A lectin S-domain receptor kinase mediates lipopolysaccharide sensing in Arabidopsis thaliana. Nat. Immunol. 16: 426–433.
- Ravensdale, M., Bernoux, M., Ve, T., Kobe, B., Thrall, P.H., Ellis, J.G., and Dodds, P.N. (2012). Intramolecular Interaction Influences Binding of the Flax L5 and L6 Resistance Proteins to their AvrL567 Ligands. PLoS Pathog. 8: e1003004.

- Rentel, M.C., Leonelli, L., Dahlbeck, D., Zhao, B., and Staskawicz, B.J. (2008). Recognition of the Hyaloperonospora parasitica effector ATR13 triggers resistance against oomycete, bacterial, and viral pathogens. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105: 1091–1096.
- **Restrepo, S., Duque, M.C., and Verdier, V.** (2000a). Characterization of pathotypes among isolates of Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis in Colombia. Plant Pathol. **49**: 680–687.
- **Restrepo, S., Vélez, C.M., and Verdier, V.** (2000b). Measuring the Genetic Diversity of Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis Within Different Fields in Colombia. Phytopathology **90**: 683–90.
- **Restrepo, S. and Verdier, V.** (1997). Geographical differentiation of the population of Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis in Colombia. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **63**: 4427–4434.
- **Roberts, M., Tang, S., Stallmann, A., Dangl, J.L., and Bonardi, V.** (2013). Genetic requirements for signaling from an autoactive plant NB-LRR intracellular innate immune receptor. PLoS Genet. **9**: e1003465.
- Rogers, D.J.D. and Appan, S. (1973). Manihot and Manihotoides (Euphorbiaceae). Flora Neot: Flora Neotropica, Monograph No. 13. New York: Hafn.
- Román, V., Bossa-Castro, A.M., Vásquez, A., Bernal, V., Schuster, M., Bernal, N., and López, C. (2014). Construction of a cassava PR protein-interacting network during *Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. *manihotis* infection. Plant Pathol. **63**: 792–802.
- Römer, P., Hahn, S., Jordan, T., Strauss, T., Bonas, U., and Lahaye, T. (2007). Plant pathogen recognition mediated by promoter activation of the pepper Bs3 resistance gene. Science 318: 645–648.
- Römer, P., Recht, S., and Lahaye, T. (2009). A single plant resistance gene promoter engineered to recognize multiple TAL effectors from disparate pathogens. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106: 20526–20531.
- **Rosenthal, D.M. and Ort, D.R.** (2012). Examining Cassava's Potential to Enhance Food Security Under Climate Change. Trop. Plant Biol. **5**: 30–38.
- Rosenthal, D.M., Slattery, R.A., Miller, R.E., Grennan, A.K., Cavagnaro, T.R., Fauquet, C.M., Gleadow, R.M., and Ort, D.R. (2012). Cassava about-FACE: Greater than expected yield stimulation of cassava (Manihot esculenta) by future CO 2 levels. Glob. Chang. Biol. 18: 2661–2675.
- Roux, B. et al. (2015). Genomics and transcriptomics of Xanthomonas campestris species challenge the concept of core type III effectome. BMC Genomics 16: 975.

Roux, F., Voisin, D., Badet, T., Balagu??, C., Barlet, X., Huard-Chauveau, C., Roby, D., and Raffaele, S. (2014).

- Roux, M., Schwessinger, B., Albrecht, C., Chinchilla, D., Jones, A., Holton, N., Malinovsky, F.G., Tör, M., de Vries, S., and Zipfel, C. (2011). The arabidopsis leucine-rich repeat receptor-like kinases BAK1/SERK3 and BKK1/SERK4 are required for innate immunity to Hemibiotrophic and Biotrophic pathogens. Plant Cell 23: 2440–2455.
- Sandino, T., López-Kleine, L., López, C., and Marquínez, X. (2015). Caracterización de la respuesta morfológica de variedades susceptibles y resistentes de yuca (Manihot esculenta Crantz) a la bacteriosis vascular causada por Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis. Summa Phytopathol. 41: 94–100.
- Sayre, R. et al. (2011). The BioCassava Plus Program: Biofortification of Cassava for Sub-Saharan Africa. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 62: 251–272.
- Schmitz, R.J., Schultz, M.D., Urich, M.A., Nery, J.R., Pelizzola, M., Libiger, O., Alix, A., McCosh, R.B., Chen, H., Schork, N.J., and Ecker, J.R. (2013). Patterns of population epigenomic diversity. Nature 495: 193–8.
- Schoonbeek, H.J., Wang, H.H., Stefanato, F.L., Craze, M., Bowden, S., Wallington, E., Zipfel, C., and Ridout, C.J. (2015). Arabidopsis EF-Tu receptor enhances bacterial disease resistance in transgenic wheat. New Phytol. 206: 606–613.
- Schornack, S., Ballvora, A., Gürlebeck, D., Peart, J., Ganal, M., Baker, B., Bonas, U., and Lahaye, T. (2004). The tomato resistance protein Bs4 is a predicted non-nuclear TIR-NB-LRR protein that mediates defense responses to severely truncated derivatives of AvrBs4 and overexpressed AvrBs3. Plant J. 37: 46–60.
- Schornack, S., Moscou, M.J., Ward, E.R., and Horvath, D.M. (2013). Engineering Plant Disease Resistance Based on TAL Effectors. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 51: 383–406.
- Schwessinger, B. and Ronald, P.C. (2012). Plant Innate Immunity: Perception of Conserved Microbial Signatures. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 63: 451–482.
- Schwessinger, B., Roux, M., Kadota, Y., Ntoukakis, V., Sklenar, J., Jones, A., and Zipfel, C. (2011). Phosphorylation-dependent differential regulation of plant growth, cell death, and innate immunity by the regulatory receptor-like kinase BAK1. PLoS Genet. 7.
- Seeholzer, S., Tsuchimatsu, T., Jordan, T., Bieri, S., Pajonk, S., Yang, W., Jahoor, A., Shimizu, K.K., Keller, B., and Schulze-Lefert, P. (2010). Diversity at the Mla powdery mildew resistance locus from cultivated barley reveals sites of positive selection. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 23: 497–509.

- Sela, H., Spiridon, L.N., Petrescu, A.J., Akerman, M., Mandel-Gutfreund, Y., Nevo, E., Loutre, C., Keller, B., Schulman, A.H., and Fahima, T. (2012). Ancient diversity of splicing motifs and protein surfaces in the wild emmer wheat (Triticum dicoccoides) LR10 coiled coil (CC) and leucine-rich repeat (LRR) domains. Mol. Plant Pathol. 13: 276–287.
- Sendín, L.N., Filippone, M.P., Orce, I.G., Rigano, L., Enrique, R., Peña, L., Vojnov, A.A., Marano, M.R., and Castagnaro, A.P. (2012). Transient expression of pepper Bs2 gene in Citrus limon as an approach to evaluate its utility for management of citrus canker disease. Plant Pathol. 61: 648–657.
- Seo, P.J., Lee, A.K., Xiang, F., and Park, C.M. (2008). Molecular and functional profiling of Arabidopsis pathogenesis-related genes: Insights into their roles in salt response of seed germination. Plant Cell Physiol. 49: 334–344.
- **El Sharkawy** (1984). Photosynthetic responses of cssava cultivars (Manihot esculenta Cratz) from different habitats to temperature. Photosynth. Res. **250**: 243–250.
- Shen, Q.-H. and Schulze-Lefert, P. (2007). Rumble in the nuclear jungle: compartmentalization, trafficking, and nuclear action of plant immune receptors. EMBO J. 26: 4293–4301.
- Shen, Q.H., Saijo, Y., Mauch, S., Biskup, C., Bieri, S., Keller, B., Seki, H., Ulker, B., Somssich, I.E., and Schulze-Lefert, P. (2007). Nuclear activity of MLA immune receptors links isolate-specific and basal diseaseresistance responses. Science (80-.). 315: 1098–1103.
- Shibuya, N., Kaku, H., Kuchitsu, K., and Maliarik, M.J. (1993). Identification of a novel high-affinity binding site for N -acetylchitooligosaccharide elicitor in the membrane fraction from suspension-cultured rice cells. FEBS Lett. 329: 75–78.
- Shimizu, T., Nakano, T., Takamizawa, D., Desaki, Y., Ishii-Minami, N., Nishizawa, Y., Minami, E., Okada, K., Yamane, H., Kaku, H., and Shibuya, N. (2010). Two LysM receptor molecules, CEBiP and OsCERK1, cooperatively regulate chitin elicitor signaling in rice. Plant J. 64: 204–214.
- Shivaprasad, P. V., Chen, H.-M., Patel, K., Bond, D.M., Santos, B.A.C.M., and Baulcombe, D.C. (2012). A MicroRNA Superfamily Regulates Nucleotide Binding Site-Leucine-Rich Repeats and Other mRNAs. Plant Cell 24: 859–874.
- da Silva, F.G., Shen, Y., Dardick, C., Burdman, S., Yadav, R.C., de Leon, A.L., and Ronald, P.C. (2004). Bacterial genes involved in type I secretion and sulfation are required to elicit the rice Xa21-mediated innate immune response. Mol. Plant. Microbe. Interact. **17**: 593–601.

Singh, R.P., Bhavani, S., Singh, D., Singh, P.K., Velu, G., Mason, R.E., Jin, Y., Njau, P., and Crossa, J. (2011). Race

non-specific resistance to rust diseases in CIMMYT spring wheats. Euphytica 179: 175-186.

- Slootweg, E. et al. (2010). Nucleocytoplasmic distribution is required for activation of resistance by the potato NB-LRR receptor Rx1 and is balanced by its functional domains. Plant Cell 22: 4195–215.
- Song, W., Wang, G., Chen, L., Kim, H., Pi, L., Holsten, T., Wang, B., Williams, C., Zhai, W., Zhu, L., Fauquet, C., and Pamela (1995). A receptor kinase-like protein encoded by the rice disease resistance gene, Xa21. Science (80-.). 270: 1804–1806.
- Soto, J.C., Ortiz, J.F., Perlaza-Jiménez, L., Vásquez, A.X., Lopez-Lavalle, L.A.B., Mathew, B., Léon, J., Bernal, A.J., Ballvora, A., and López, C.E. (2015). A genetic map of cassava (Manihot esculenta Crantz) with integrated physical mapping of immunity-related genes. BMC Genomics 16: 190.
- Spoel, S.H. and Dong, X. (2012). How do plants achieve immunity? Defence without specialized immune cells. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 12: 89–100.
- St.Clair, D.A. (2010). Quantitative Disease Resistance and Quantitative Resistance Loci in Breeding. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 48: 247–268.
- Staal, J., Kaliff, M., Bohman, S., and Dixelius, C. (2006). Transgressive segregation reveals two Arabidopsis TIR-NB-LRR resistance genes effective against Leptosphaeria maculans, causal agent of blackleg disease. Plant J. 46: 218–230.
- Staiger, D., Korneli, C., Lummer, M., and Navarro, L. (2013). Emerging role for RNA-based regulation in plant immunity. New Phytol. 197: 394–404.
- Stefan, R., Li, W., Chao, Y., Schwarzenbacher, R., and Shi, Y. (2005). Structure of the apoptotic proteaseactivating factor 1 bound to ADP. Nature 434: 926–933.
- Stirnweis, D., Milani, S.D., Jordan, T., Keller, B., and Brunner, S. (2014). Substitutions of Two Amino Acids in the Nucleotide-Binding Site Domain of a Resistance Protein Enhance the Hypersensitive Response and Enlarge the PM3F Resistance Spectrum in Wheat. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 27: 265–276.
- Stokes, T.L., Kunkel, B.N., and Richards, E.J. (2002). Epigenetic variation in Arabidopsis disease resistance. Genes Dev. 16: 171–182.
- Strauss, T. et al. (2012). RNA-seq pinpoints a Xanthomonas TAL-effector activated resistance gene in a large-crop genome. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 109: 19480–19485.
- Tai, T.H., Dahlbeck, D., Clark, E.T., Gajiwala, P., Pasion, R., Whalen, M.C., Stall, R.E., and Staskawicz, B.J.

(1999). Expression of the Bs2 pepper gene confers resistance to bacterial spot disease in tomato. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **96**: 14153–14158.

- Takken, F.L., Albrecht, M., and Tameling, W. Il (2006). Resistance proteins: molecular switches of plant defence. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 9: 383–390.
- Takken, F.L.W. and Goverse, A. (2012). How to build a pathogen detector: Structural basis of NB-LRR function. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 15: 375–384.
- Takken, F.L.W. and Tameling, W.I.L. (2009). To nibble at plant resistance proteins. Science 324: 744–746.
- Tameling, W.I.L., Elzinga, S.D.J., Darmin, P.S., Vossen, J.H., Takken, F.L.W., Haring, M.A., and Cornelissen,
 B.J.C. (2002). The tomato R gene products I-2 and MI-1 are functional ATP binding proteins with ATPase activity. Plant Cell 14: 2929–39.
- Tameling, W.I.L., Vossen, J.H., Albrecht, M., Lengauer, T., Berden, J. a, Haring, M. a, Cornelissen, B.J.C., and Takken, F.L.W. (2006). Mutations in the NB-ARC domain of I-2 that impair ATP hydrolysis cause autoactivation. Plant Physiol. 140: 1233–1245.
- Tamura, M. and Tachida, H. (2011). Evolution of the number of LRRs in plant disease resistance genes. Mol. Genet. Genomics 285: 393–402.
- Tan, X., Meyers, B.C., Kozik, A., West, M. a L., Morgante, M., St Clair, D. a, Bent, A.F., and Michelmore, R.W. (2007). Global expression analysis of nucleotide binding site-leucine rich repeat-encoding and related genes in Arabidopsis. BMC Plant Biol. 7: 56.
- Tang, X., Xie, M., Kim, Y.J., Zhou, J., Klessig, D.F., and Martin, G.B. (1999). Overexpression of Pto activates defense responses and confers broad resistance. Plant Cell 11: 15–29.
- Tao, Y., Yuan, F.H., Leister, R.T., Ausubel, F.M., and Katagiri, F. (2000). Mutational analysis of the Arabidopsis nucleotide binding site- leucine-rich repeat resistance gene RPS2. Plant Cell 12: 2541–2554.
- Taylor, N., Gaitán-Solís, E., Moll, T., Trauterman, B., Jones, T., Pranjal, A., Trembley, C., Abernathy, V., Corbin, D., and Fauquet, C.M. (2012). A High-throughput Platform for the Production and Analysis of Transgenic Cassava (Manihot esculenta) Plants. Trop. Plant Biol. 5: 127–139.
- Taylor, N.J., Edwuards, M., Kiernan, R., Davey, C., Blakesley, D., and Henshaw, G. (1996). Development of friable embryogenic callus and embryogenic suspension culture systems in cassava (Manihot esculenta Crantz). Nat. Biotechnol. 14: 303–308.
- Thilmony, R.L., Chen, Z., Bressan, R. a., and Martin, G.B. (1995). Expression of the Tomato Pto Gene in Tobacco Enhances Resistance to Pseudomonas syringae pv tabaci Expressing avrPto. Plant Cell 7: 1529–1536.
- **Thordal-Christensen, H., Zhang, Z., Wei, Y., and Collinge, D.B.** (1997). Subcellular localization of H2O2 in plants. H2O2 accumulation in papillae and hypersensitive response during the barley-powdery mildew interaction. Plant J. **11**: 1187–1194.
- Tian, D., Wang, J., Zeng, X., Gu, K., Qiu, C., Yang, X., Zhou, Z., Goh, M., Luo, Y., Murata-Hori, M., White, F.F., and Yin, Z. (2014). The Rice TAL Effector-Dependent Resistance Protein XA10 Triggers Cell Death and Calcium Depletion in the Endoplasmic Reticulum. Plant Cell 26: 497–515.
- Tilman, D., Balzer, C., Hill, J., and Befort, B.L. (2011). Global food demand and the sustainable intensification of agriculture. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. 108: 20260.
- Tripathi, J.N., Lorenzen, J., Bahar, O., Ronald, P., and Tripathi, L. (2014). Transgenic expression of the rice Xa21 pattern-recognition receptor in banana (Musa sp.) confers resistance to Xanthomonas campestris pv.musacearum. Plant Biotechnol. J. 12: 663–673.
- **Troy, A., Herschleb, J., Kraft, E., Callis, J., Stone, S.L., and Hauksdo, H.** (2005). Functional Analysis of the RING-Type Ubiquitin Ligase Family of Arabidopsis. Genome Anal. **137**: 13–30.
- Trujillo, C.A., Arias-Rojas, N., Poulin, L., Medina, C.A., Tapiero, A., Restrepo, S., Koebnik, R., and Bernal, A.J. (2014a). Population typing of the causal agent of cassava bacterial blight in the Eastern Plains of Colombia using two types of molecular markers. BMC Microbiol. 14: 161.
- Trujillo, C.A., Ochoa, J.C., Mideros, M.F., Restrepo, S., López, C., and Bernal, A. (2014b). A Complex Population Structure of the Cassava Pathogen Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis in Recent Years in the Caribbean Region of Colombia. Microb. Ecol. 68: 155–167.
- Trujillo, C.A., Ochoa, J.C., Mideros, M.F., Restrepo, S., López, C., and Bernal, A. (2014c). A Complex Population Structure of the Cassava Pathogen Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis in Recent Years in the Caribbean Region of Colombia. Microb. Ecol. 68: 155–167.
- **Tsuda, K. and Katagiri, F.** (2010). Comparing signaling mechanisms engaged in pattern-triggered and effectortriggered immunity. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. **13**: 459–465.
- Tsuda, K. and Somssich, I.E. (2015). Transcriptional networks in plant immunity. New Phytol. 206: 932-47.

- **Velasco, R. et al.** (2010). The genome of the domesticated apple (Malus × domestica Borkh.). Nat Genet **42**: 833–839.
- Verdier, V., Boher, B., Maraite, H., Verdier, V., and Geiger, J. (1994). Pathological and Molecular Characterization of Xanthomonas campestris Strains Causing Diseases of Cassava (Manihot esculenta). Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 60: 4478–4486.
- Verdier, V., Dongo, P., and Boher, B. (1993). Assessment of genetic diversity among strains of Xanthomonas campestris. J. Gen. Microbiol. 139: 2591–2601.
- Verdier, V., Restrepo, S., Mosquera, G., Duque, M.C., Gerstl, A., and Laberry, R. (1998). Genetic and pathogenic variation of Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis in Venezuela. Plant Pathol. 47: 601–608.
- Verdier, V., Restrepo, S., Mosquera, G., Jorge, V., and Lopez, C. (2004). Recent progress in the characterization of molecular determinants in the Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis-cassava interaction. Plant Mol. Biol. 56: 573–584.
- Walker, J.E., Saraste, M., Runswick, M.J., and Gay, N.J. (1982). Distantly related sequences in the alpha- and beta-subunits of ATP synthase, myosin, kinases and other ATP-requiring enzymes and a common nucleotide binding fold. Embo J 1: 945–951.
- Wan, J., Zhang, X.-C., Neece, D., Ramonell, K.M., Clough, S., Kim, S.-Y., Stacey, M.G., and Stacey, G. (2008). A LysM receptor-like kinase plays a critical role in chitin signaling and fungal resistance in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell 20: 471–481.
- Wang, B.-B. and Brendel, V. (2006). Genomewide comparative analysis of alternative splicing in plants. Pnas 103: 602039103.
- Wang, C. et al. (2015a). XA23 Is an executor r protein and confers broad-spectrum disease resistance in rice. Mol. Plant 8: 290–302.
- Wang, G., Roux, B., Zhou, J., Noe, L.D., Wang, G., Roux, B., Feng, F., Guy, E., Li, L., Li, N., Zhang, X., and Lautier,
 M. (2015b). The Decoy Substrate of a Pathogen Effector and a Pseudokinase Specify Pathogen-Induced Modified-Self Recognition and Immunity in Plants. Cell Host Microbe 18: 285–295.
- Wang, G.-F., Ji, J., Ei-Kasmi, F., Dangl, J.L., Johal, G., and Balint-Kurti, P.J. (2015c). Molecular and Functional Analyses of a Maize Autoactive NB-LRR Protein Identify Precise Structural Requirements for Activity. PLoS Pathog. 11: e1004674.

Wang, J., Yang, X., and Wang, J. (2016). Genome-Wide Analysis of NBS-LRR Genes in Sorghum Genome Revealed

Several Events Contributing to NBS-LRR Gene Evolution in Grass Species. Evol. Bioinforma.: 9.

Wang, W. et al. (2014). Cassava genome from a wild ancestor to cultivated varieties. Nat. Commun. 5: 5110.

- Wang, Y.-S., Pi, L.-Y., Chen, X., Chakrabarty, P.K., Jiang, J., De Leon, A.L., Liu, G.-Z., Li, L., Benny, U., Oard, J., Ronald, P.C., and Song, W.-Y. (2006). Rice XA21 binding protein 3 is a ubiquitin ligase required for full Xa21-mediated disease resistance. Plant Cell 18: 3635–3646.
- Webling, R. et al. (2014). Convergent targeting of a common host protein-network by pathogen effectors from three kingdoms of life. Cell Host Microbe **16**: 364–375.
- Welsch, R., Arango, J., Bär, C., Salazar, B., Al-Babili, S., Beltrán, J., Chavarriaga, P., Ceballos, H., Tohme, J., and Beyer, P. (2010). Provitamin A accumulation in cassava (Manihot esculenta) roots driven by a single nucleotide polymorphism in a phytoene synthase gene. Plant Cell 22: 3348–3356.
- Whitham, S., Dinesh-Kumar, S.P., Choi, D., Hehl, R., Corr, C., and Baker, B. (1994). The product of the tobacco mosaic virus resistance gene N: Similarity to toll and the interleukin-1 receptor. Cell 78: 1101–1115.
- Wicker, T., Yahiaoui, N., and Keller, B. (2007). Illegitimate recombination is a major evolutionary mechanism for initiating size variation in plant resistance genes. Plant J. **51**: 631–641.
- Williams, S.J., Sornaraj, P., deCourcy-Ireland, E., Menz, R.I., Kobe, B., Ellis, J.G., Dodds, P.N., and Anderson, P.
 a (2011). An autoactive mutant of the M flax rust resistance protein has a preference for binding ATP, whereas wild-type M protein binds ADP. Mol. Plant. Microbe. Interact. 24: 897–906.
- Wroblewski, T., Piskurewicz, U., Tomczak, A., Ochoa, O., and Michelmore, R.W. (2007). Silencing of the major family of NBS-LRR-encoding genes in lettuce results in the loss of multiple resistance specificities. Plant J. 51: 803–818.
- Wu, C.-H., Belhaj, K., Bozkurt, T.O., and Kamoun, S. (2016). Helper NLR proteins NRC2a/b and NRC3 but not NRC1 are required for Pto-mediated cell death in Nicotiana benthamiana. New Phytol. 209: 1344–1352.
- Wu, S., Shan, L., and He, P. (2014). Microbial signature-triggered plant defense responses and early signaling mechanisms. Plant Sci. 228: 118–126.
- Wu, Y. and Zhou, J.M. (2013). Receptor-like kinases in plant innate immunity. J. Integr. Plant Biol. 55: 1271–1286.
- Wulff, B.B., Horvath, D.M., and Ward, E.R. (2011). Improving immunity in crops: new tactics in an old game. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 14: 468–476.

- Wydra, K. and Verdier, V. (2002). Occurrence of cassava diseases in relation to environmental , agronomic and plant characteristics. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. **93**: 211–226.
- Wydra, K., Zinsou, V., Jorge, V., and Verdier, V. (2004). Identification of Pathotypes of Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis in Africa and Detection of Quantitative Trait Loci and Markers for Resistance to Bacterial Blight of Cassava. Phytopathology 94: 1084–1093.
- Xia, S., Cheng, Y.T., Huang, S., Win, J., Soards, A., Jinn, T.-L., Jones, J.D.G., Kamoun, S., Chen, S., Zhang, Y., and Li, X. (2013). Regulation of transcription of nucleotide-binding leucine-rich repeat-encoding genes SNC1 and RPP4 via H3K4 trimethylation. Plant Physiol. 162: 1694–705.
- Xiao, S., Calis, O., Patrick, E., Zhang, G., Charoenwattana, P., Muskett, P., Parker, J.E., and Turner, J.G. (2005). The atypical resistance gene, RPW8, recruits components of basal defence for powdery mildew resistance in Arabidopsis. Plant J. 42: 95–110.
- Xiao, S., Charoenwattana, P., Holcombe, L., and Turner, J.G. (2003). The Arabidopsis genes RPW8.1 and RPW8.2 confer induced resistance to powdery mildew diseases in tobacco. Mol. Plant. Microbe. Interact. 16: 289–294.
- Xiao, S., Ellwood, S., Calis, O., Patrick, E., Li, T., Coleman, M., and Turner, J.G. (2001). Broad-spectrum mildew resistance in Arabidopsis thaliana mediated by RPW8. Science 291: 118–120.
- Xu, P., Zhang, Y., Kang, L., Roossinck, M.J., and Mysore, K.S. (2006a). Computational Estimation and Experimental Verification of Off-Target Silencing during Posttranscriptional Gene Silencing in Plants. Plant Physiol. 142: 429–440.
- Xu, W.H., Wang, Y.S., Liu, G.Z., Chen, X., Tinjuangjun, P., Pi, L.Y., and Song, W.Y. (2006b). The autophosphorylated Ser686, Thr688, and Ser689 residues in the intracellular juxtamembrane domain of XA21 are implicated in stability control of rice receptor-like kinase. Plant J. 45: 740–751.
- Yang, B., Sugio, A., and White, F.F. (2006). 0s8N3 is a host disease-susceptibility gene for bacterial blight of rice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103: 10503–10508.
- Yang, B. and White, F.F. (2004). Diverse members of the AvrBs3/PthA family of type III effectors are major virulence determinants in bacterial blight disease of rice. Mol. Plant. Microbe. Interact. 17: 1192–1200.
- Yang, S., Zhang, X., Yue, J.X., Tian, D., and Chen, J.Q. (2008). Recent duplications dominate NBS-encoding gene expansion in two woody species. Mol. Genet. Genomics 280: 187–198.
- Yasuda, N., Mitsunaga, T., and Hayashi, K. (2015). Effects of Pyramiding Quantitative Resistance Genes pi21,

Pi34, and Pi35 on Rice Leaf Blast Disease. Plant Dis. 99: 904–909.

- Yoshimura, S., Yamanouchi, U., Katayose, Y., Toki, S., Wang, Z.X., Kono, I., Kurata, N., Yano, M., Iwata, N., and Sasaki, T. (1998). Expression of Xa1, a bacterial blight-resistance gene in rice, is induced by bacterial inoculation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 95: 1663–1668.
- Yue, J.X., Meyers, B.C., Chen, J.Q., Tian, D., and Yang, S. (2012). Tracing the origin and evolutionary history of plant nucleotide-binding site-leucine-rich repeat (NBS-LRR) genes. New Phytol. 193: 1049–1063.
- Zeng, X., Tian, D., Gu, K., Zhou, Z., Yang, X., Luo, Y., White, F.F., and Yin, Z. (2015). Genetic engineering of the Xa10 promoter for broad-spectrum and durable resistance to Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzae. Plant Biotechnol. J. 13: 1–9.
- Zhai, J. et al. (2011). MicroRNAs as master regulators of the plant NB-LRR defense gene family via the production of phased, trans-acting siRNAs. Genes Dev. 25: 2540–2553.
- Zhang, J., Yin, Z., and White, F. (2015). TAL effectors and the executor R genes. Front. Plant Sci. 6: 1–9.
- Zhang, Y., Dorey, S., Swiderski, M., and Jones, J.D.G. (2004). Expression of RPS4 in tobacco induces an AvrRps4independent HR that requires EDS1, SGT1 and. Plant J. 40: 213–224.
- Zhao, B., Lin, X., Poland, J., Trick, H., Leach, J., and Hulbert, S. (2005). A maize resistance gene functions against bacterial streak disease in rice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102: 15383–15388.
- Zhao, C. et al. (2015). A massive expansion of effector genes underlies gall-formation in the wheat pest mayetiola destructor. Curr. Biol. 25: 613–620.
- Zhou, T., Wang, Y., Chen, J.-Q., Araki, H., Jing, Z., Jiang, K., Shen, J., Tian, D., and Zhou, T. (2004). Genome-wide identification of NBS genes in japonica rice reveals significant expansion of divergent non-TIR NBS-LRR genes. Mol. Genet. Genomics 271: 402–415.
- Zipfel, C. (2014). Plant pattern-recognition receptors. Trends Immunol. 35: 345–51.
- Zipfel, C., Kunze, G., Chinchilla, D., Caniard, A., Jones, J.D.G., Boller, T., and Felix, G. (2006). Perception of the Bacterial PAMP EF-Tu by the Receptor EFR Restricts Agrobacterium-Mediated Transformation. Cell **125**: 749–760.

Zuo, W. et al. (2015). A maize wall-associated kinase confers quantitative resistance to head smut. Nat. Genet. 47.

7 Annex. Publications and presentations

Publications

Díaz-Tatis PA, Bernal A, López C. 2014. Transient GUS gene expression in cassava (*Manihot esculenta*, Crantz) using *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* leaf infiltration. Revista Mvz Córdoba 19, 4338-4349.

Chavarriaga-Aguirre P, Brand A, Medina A, Prías M, Escobar R, Martínez J, **Díaz P**, López C, Roca W, Tohme J. 2016. The potential of using biotechnology to improve cassava. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant. ACCEPTED.

Díaz-Tatis PA, Zárate CA, Bernal A, López C. 2016. Infección de callo embriogénico friable de yuca con Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis. Revista Colombiana de Biotecnología. SUBMITTED.

Medina C, **Díaz-Tatis PA**, López C, Bernal A. 2016. Transient expression of type three effectors from *Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. manihotis to screen for new sources of resistance in cassava.

Oral presentations in scientific events

Paula Díaz-Tatis, Mariana Herrera, Juan Ochoa, Adriana Bernal, Paul Chavarriaga, Camilo López. World Congress on Root and Tuber Crops. Nanning, Guangxi, China. January 2016. Title: Enabling resistance against cassava bacterial blight through transgenic and TAL technologies. Oral presentation.

Paula Díaz-Tatis, Mariana Herrera, Juan Ochoa, Adriana Bernal, Paul Chavarriaga, Camilo López.
V Xanthomonas genomics conference. Bogotá, D.C. Colombia. July 2015. Title: Engineering
Resistant Cassava (Manihot esculenta, Crantz) Plants Against Cassava Bacterial Blight. Oral
presentation.

Paula Díaz-Tatis, Adriana Bernal, Paul Chavarriaga, Camilo López. XXXI Congreso Colombiano de Fitopatología. Pereira, Colombia. September 2013. Title: Expresión de la proteína de resistencia Bs2 en plantas de yuca para conferir resistencia a bacteriosis vascular. Oral presentation.

Paula Díaz-Tatis, Adriana Bernal, Camilo López. GCPII: The Second Scientific Conference of the Global Cassava Partnership for the 21th Century. Kampala, Uganda. June 2012. Title: Expressing diverse versions of disease resistance proteins for protection against cassava bacterial blight. Oral presentation.